
 

 

 
 

 
 CHILDREN, EDUCATION AND FAMILIES PDS COMMITTEE 

 INFORMATION BRIEFING 
 

 

Meeting to be held on Thursday 17 November 2022 
 
 
This briefing will only be debated if a member of the Committee requests a discussion 

be held, in which case please inform the Clerk 24 hours in advance indicating the 
aspects of the information item you wish to discuss.  In addition, questions on the 
briefing should also be sent to the Clerk at least 24 hours before the meeting. 

 
 

 

QUESTIONS ON THE INFORMATION BRIEFING 

 
The Briefing comprises: 

 

1    CHILDREN'S LOOKED AFTER PLACEMENT SUFFICIENCY AND 
COMMISSIONING STRATEGY 2022-24 (Pages 3 - 28) 

 

2    EARLY HELP STRATEGY FOR CHILDREN (AGED FROM BIRTH TO 18) AND 
THEIR FAMILIES.  OUR VISION FOR 2030 (Pages 29 - 124) 

 

3    ANNUAL COMPLAINTS REPORT AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL 
CARE OMBUDSMAN LETTER 2021/22 (Pages 125 - 174) 

 

4    CONTRACTS REGISTER PART 1 (PUBLIC) REPORT (Pages 175 - 184) 

 

BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE, STOCKWELL CLOSE, BROMLEY BRI 3UH 
 
TELEPHONE: 020 8464 3333  CONTACT: Kerry Nicholls 

   kerry.nicholls@bromley.gov.uk  

    

DIRECT LINE: 020 8461 7840   

FAX: 020 8290 0608  DATE: 9 November 2022 

 
Members and Co-opted Members have been provided with advanced copies of the Part 1 (Public) 

briefing via email.  The Part 1 (Public) briefing is also available on the Council website at the 
following link: http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=559&Year=0 
 

 
Printed copies of the briefing are available to Members and Co-opted Members on request by 

contacting Kerry Nicholls on 020 8461 7840 or by e-mail at kerry.nicholls@bromley.gov.uk.  
 

http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=559&Year=0
mailto:kerry.nicholls@bromley.gov.uk


This page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No.  
CEF22074 

 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART 1 - PUBLIC 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: CHILDREN, EDUCATION AND FAMILIES POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT AND SCUTINY COMMITTEE 

Date:  17th November 2022 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 

 

Non-Executive 

 

Non-Key 

 

Title: CHILDREN’S LOOKED AFTER PLACEMENT SUFFICIENCY AND 
COMMISSIONING STRATEGY 2022-2024 

Contact Officers: 
 

Phil White, Strategic Commissioner, Long Term and Complex Commissioning 
Team 
Tel: 020 8313 4857    E-mail:  Philip.white@bromley.gov.uk   

 
Naheed Chaudhry, Assistant Director Strategy, Performance and Corporate 

Transformation 
Tel:  020 8461 7554   E-mail:  Naheed.chaudhry@bromley.gov.uk 

Chief Officer: Richard Baldwin, Director of Children’s Services 

Ward: All Wards 

1. REASON FOR REPORT 

 

1.1 This report presents the Children’s Looked After Placement Sufficiency and Commissioning 
 Strategy 2022 - 2024 (see Appendix 1). 

 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

2.1 That the Children, Education and Families PDS Committee notes the report. 

Page 3

Information Item 1

mailto:Philip.white@bromley.gov.uk
mailto:Naheed.chaudhry@bromley.gov.uk


  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

1. Summary of Impact: To ensure the London Borough of Bromley fulfils its sufficiency duty in 

supplying quality placements for our Children Looked After.  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Transformation Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Not Applicable:   

2. Making Bromley Even Better Priority:  
 (1) For children and young People to grow up, thrive and have the best life chances in families 

who flourish and are happy to call Bromley home. 
 (5) To manage our resources well, providing value for money, and efficient and effective 

services for Bromley’s residents. 

   Not Applicable: Further Details 
________________________________________________________________________________ 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: No Cost:  

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable:  
3. Budget head/performance centre: N/A 

4. Total current budget for this head: £N/A 
5. Source of funding: N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): N/A   

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A   
________________________________________________________________________________ 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement:  

2. Call-in: Not Applicable:  No Executive decision. 
________________________________________________________________________________ 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 

Property  
 

1. Summary of Property Implications: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 

Carbon Reduction and Social Value  
 

1. Summary of Carbon Reduction/Sustainability Implications: N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users or customers (current and projected): Our Children Looked After 

population. 
________________________________________________________________________________ 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 
 

 
  

Page 4



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 
 

3.1 The purpose of this report is to set out Bromley’s Sufficiency Strategy for the next two years.  
The strategy can be viewed at Appendix 1. 

3.2 The Bromley Children Looked After Placement and Fostering Sufficiency and Commissioning 

Strategy presents how the Council intends to meet its ‘Sufficiency Duty’ set out in Section 22G 
of the Children Act 1989, ‘to take steps to secure, as far as reasonably practicable sufficient 

accommodation for looked after children within their local authority area’. 

3.3 As a Corporate Parent it is our responsibility to ensure that children and young people in our 
care are safe, have positive experiences and achieve the best possible outcomes in their future 

lives. 

3.4 Through this strategy we are committing to: 

Ensuring that children only come into care where this is in their best interests.  If they do 
come into care, children should without delay achieve timely and appropriate 
reunification with their families, or alternative permanency. 

 
When children need to remain in care, providing and commissioning the right mix or 

“menu” of high-quality placements and effective wrap around support to meet identified 
needs of children looked after and care leavers as cost effectively as possible. 
 

Placements will always be sought through our In-house fostering network, as a first 
preference, prior to considering services from external providers which includes: 
residential homes, agency foster placements and supported accommodation. 

 
We will further grow our In-House Fostering capacity by delivering effective recruitment 

and retention strategies and increasing the capability of internal fostering to deliver more 
complex support. 
 

Our focus will remain on quality, ensuring interventions lead to a de-escalation of needs 
and placement stability resulting in improved outcomes for children and young people 

through strengthened: matching processes; placement planning; quality assurance 
processes; improving support available for carers and professional development 
opportunities for foster carers. 

 
We will ensure our commissioning is needs-led, with robust procurement and contracting.  

We will continue to commission through a range of mechanisms to ensure availability, 
quality and best value services.  We will continue to participate and develop more 
London (and sub regional) block contracts and provider frameworks where economies of 

scale can be evidenced and quality sustained.  We are also committed to developing our 
placement service to better utilise and negotiate our ‘menu of placement options’. 

 
We will work directly with the Children in Care Council (LinCC) and our network for Care 
Leavers when undertaking commissioning or development activity to ensure that the 

views of our children are central to decision making.  We will seek views from Social 
Workers and Independent Reviewing Officers to understand the individual needs, wishes 

and feelings of children and young people when sourcing individual placements. 
 
We will ensure that our current and forecasted position of placement needs influences 

the Councils budget setting processes, including forecasts of inflation, rates of looked 
after children and their respective placement needs. 

 

Page 5



  

4 

We will support young people in care to make a successful transition into adulthood 
through the provision of high quality leaving care services which support care leavers to 

find and maintain suitable accommodation arrangements that meet their needs and 
provide them with independent living skills. 

 

3.5 The actions at the end of the strategy will be inputted into an action plan in order to monitor the 

performance of the strategy. 

12. PROCUREMENT RULES 

12.1 There are no Corporate Procurement implications. 

13. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

13.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. However the strategy feeds 

into the Medium Term Financial Strategy and guides future financial decisions in terms of 
spending levels. 

15. LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 

15.1 Section 22G of the Children Act1989 requires local authorities to take strategic action in respect 
 of those children they look after and for whom it would be consistent with their welfare for them 

 to be provided with accommodation within their local authority area. In those circumstances, 
 section 22G requires local authorities, so far as is reasonably practicable, to ensure that there 
 is sufficient accommodation for those children that meets their needs and is within their local 

 authority area (‘the Sufficiency Duty’).  
 

15.2  A local authority has a duty, under section 10 of the Children Act (‘the 2004 Act’) to decide to 

 promote co-operation with its relevant partners with a view to improving the wellbeing of 

 children in the authority’s area. The Sufficiency Duty can be implemented through a 

 partnership between the authority and its partners under 2004 Act. 

15.3 The Secretary of State has made the  ‘Sufficiency: Statutory Guidance on securing sufficient 

 accommodation for looked after children’ in 2010 under section 7 of the Local Authority Social 

 Services Act 1970, which requires local authorities, in the exercise of their social services 

 functions, to act under the general guidance of the Secretary of State; and under section 10 

 (8) of the 2004 Act, which requires all local authorities and each of their relevant partners to 

 have regard to guidance when exercising their functions in relation to their duty to co-operate 

 to improve the wellbeing of children in the local area.  

15.4 This report is asking the Children, Education and Families Policy Development and Scrutiny 

 Committee to note Bromley’s Sufficiency Strategy for the next two years made by the Director 

 of Children, Education and Families as set out in Appendix 1. 

15.5 At Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution (Responsibility for Functions) sets out the ‘Functions to 

 be exercised by the Full Executive’ and confirms that all other Executive decisions not 

 delegated to Chief Officers under the Scheme of Delegations to Chief officers shall be taken 

 by the relevant Portfolio Holder. 

15.6 Under the Council’s Scheme of Delegation to Officers paragraph 2.9 provides that in all cases 

 where the exercise of executive functions is not specifically reserved to the Executive, those 

 functions are deemed to be delegated to the Chief Executive and the Chief Officer with 

 responsibility for the relevant function.  

Page 6



  

5 

15.7 Under paragraph 12.2  (b) and (c)  of the Council’s Scheme of Delegation to Officers : 
‘Functions delegated to the Director of Children, Education and Families’ ,the Director is 

responsible for (b) the Council’s functions as set out in the Children Act 2004, in particular, 
building and leading the arrangements for inter-agency co-operation (c) for Children Looked 
after, Children in need, child protection, adoption, fostering, education and special educational 

needs. 

  

Non-Applicable Headings: Market Considerations; Social Value; Stakeholder 

Engagement; Procurement and Project Timescales; Impact 
Assessments; Transformation/policy implications; IT and 
GDPR considerations; Strategic Property considerations;  

Personnel considerations; Ward Councillor Views 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact Officer) 

[Title of document and date] 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 7



This page is left intentionally blank



Children Looked After
Placement and Fostering 

Sufficiency and Commissioning
Strategy for 2022 to 2024

Page 9



 
 

 
Page 2 of 20 

Contents 
 

Executive Summary ............................................................................................................................. 3 

During 2021-22 ................................................................................................................................... 3 

Vision and approach ............................................................................................................................ 5 

Looked After Placement Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy Vision .................................. 6 

Demand Management Analysis – Children Looked After and Placement forecasts ................... 7 

Indigenous children long-term forecasting ......................................................................................... 8 

Achieving placement sufficiency ..................................................................................................... 12 

Use of placement types and duration, by age 2021-22 ................................................................... 12 

Specialist placements ....................................................................................................................... 17 

Care Leavers .................................................................................................................................... 18 

Actions ................................................................................................................................................ 19 
 

 

  

Page 10



 
 

 
Page 3 of 20 

Executive Summary  
 

The Bromley Children Looked After Placement Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy presents how 
the Council intends to meet its ‘Sufficiency Duty’ set out in Section 22G of the Children Act 1989, ‘to 
take steps to secure, as far as reasonably practicable sufficient accommodation for looked after 
children within their local authority area’.  
 
While the duty, literally, refers to sufficient placements within a local authority area, in practice London 
boroughs and many county authorities are unable to provide for all needs within local authority 
boundaries. The overriding consideration, therefore, is to place children looked after, wherever 
possible and appropriate, as near to their home areas as possible to enable them to retain important 
familial and social links and education provision. As at the end of March 2022 15% of our children 
were placed out of Bromley more than 20 miles from home. This is better than the national average 
and our statistical neighbors (21%). We have worked hard to bring our children closer to home, when 
it is in their best interest. 
 
The 2010 guidance on the ‘sufficiency duty’ states that local authorities should have embedded plans, 
as part of their commissioning processes and through partnership working, to meet the duty. The 
sufficiency duty must take account of the requirement, under section 22C (5) of the Children Act 1989, 
that the overriding consideration for placing a child is that the placement must be the most appropriate 
available to meet the child’s needs. 
 
In this document we have:  
 

• Set out Bromley’s Placement Sufficiency and Commissioning vision and approach to 
providing secure, safe and appropriate placements which meet the needs of our children  

• Informed our sufficiency intentions and medium-term financial strategy with demand 
management analysis and long-term forecast of placement requirements 

• We have reflected on feedback from our children, cost pressures, market challenges, gaps 
and opportunities to achieve our placement sufficiency needs 

 
Understanding demand, we know our children and understand their needs. We are continuing to invest 
in detailed ‘demand management’ analysis to inform our understanding of our pressures. We use 
these to ensure that our budgets have these pressures built in.   We also understand that our 
pressures are two-fold, the numbers and types of placements and the cost of placements.  
 
During 2021-22  
 
• we took 453 children into care,  
• we accommodated them in 637 placements,  
• we procured 15,535 weeks of placement provision. 
 
An analysis of all placement types and duration, by age (2021-22) has informed our specific 
commissioning intentions for the next two years (2022-24). We have purposefully chosen to assume 
forward our placement commissioning needs from one year of data only (2021-22), the key reasons 
for this are as follows; we know that 2020-21, the first Covid year, brought with it an unusual level of 
placement stability (7% with 3 moves or more during 2020-21). We had fewer disruptions and 
breakdowns during this period, therefore the numbers of placements required would be an 
underrepresentation of likely need moving forward, this is validated by our 2021-22 performance (3 
moves or more 10.7%). We also know through our audits and management oversight that the 

Page 11



 
 

 
Page 4 of 20 

complexity of case work we are seeing now (during 2021-22) is greater than we have seen before, it 
is therefore most likely that the presentation of placement needs, and disruptions seen in 2021-22 will 
carry forward into the next two years. 
 
Our analysis allows us to strategically commission the right mix or “menu” of high-quality 
placements and wrap around support to meet identified needs of children looked after and care 
leavers as cost effectively as possible.  
 
We have the highest ambitions for our children as corporate parents, we judge our success by a range 
of criteria including providing or commissioning services or settings which are independently judged 
good or outstanding, demonstrating that the views and ambitions of children and young people have 
informed and improved our services and strengthening our work with children and families to prevent 
an escalation of need and risk.  
 
Accommodating children and young people in the type and range of placements that are best suited 
to their current and on-going needs is vital to improving outcomes and shaping their adult lives.  
 
This document sets out our approach to securing a sufficiency of placements. It provides a framework 
for the proactive activity required to deliver our vision to obtain high quality placements and 
placement stability for our children and young people. 
 
 
  

Page 12



 
 

 
Page 5 of 20 

Vision and approach  
 

Bromley Council and partners have refreshed the boroughs corporate strategy “Making Bromley Even 
Better 2021 – 31”. Our vision is for Bromley to be:  
 

‘a fantastic place to live and work, where everyone can lead healthy, safe and 
independent lives’.   
 

Together we will deliver five ambitions, the first of which is about children and young people.  
 

‘For children and young people to grow up, thrive and have the best life chances in 
families who flourish and are happy to call Bromley home.’ 

 
In Bromley we believe in and deliver through partnerships, our ambitious Children and Young 
Peoples Plan 2021-2024 is focused on the following priorities: 
 

✓ Targeted early intervention and good universal services  
✓ Safeguarding children and adolescents  
✓ Being the best corporate parents  
✓ Challenging disproportionality  
✓ Engaging with children, young people and families  

 
As a Corporate Parent it is our responsibility to ensure that children and young people in our care are 
safe, have positive experiences and achieve the best possible outcomes in their future lives.  
 
Our ambition to be the “best corporate parents”, is being delivered through our Corporate Parenting 
Strategy monitored by our Corporate Parenting Board.  
 
Our strategies and partnership governance demonstrate a Golden Thread approach. 
 
  

Page 13



 
 

 
Page 6 of 20 

Looked After Placement Sufficiency and 
Commissioning Strategy Vision  
 
Through this strategy we are committing to (see further details in action plan): 
 
• Ensuring that children only come into care where this is in their best interests. If they do 

come into care, children should without delay achieve timely and appropriate reunification with 
their families, or alternative permanency.  

 
• When children need to remain in care, providing and commissioning the right mix or “menu” 

of high-quality placements and effective wrap around support to meet identified needs of 
children looked after and care leavers as cost effectively as possible. 

 
• Placements will always be sought through our ‘In-house fostering network, as a first 

preference, prior to considering services from external providers and includes residential homes, 
agency foster placements and supported accommodation.  

 
• We will further grow our In-House Fostering capacity. By delivering effective recruitment and 

retention strategies and increasing the capability of internal fostering to deliver more complex 
support. 

 
• Our focus will remain on quality, ensuring interventions lead to a de-escalation of needs and 

placement stability resulting in improved outcomes for children and young people through 
strengthened: matching processes; placement planning; quality assurance processes; improving 
support available for carers and professional development opportunities for foster carers.  

 
• We will ensure our commissioning is needs-led, with robust procurement and contracting. We 

will continue to commission through a range of mechanisms to ensure availability, quality and best 
value of services. We will continue to participate and develop more London (and sub regional) 
block contracts and provider frameworks where economies of scale can be evidenced and quality 
sustained. We are also committed to developing our placement service to better utilise and 
negotiate our ‘menu of placement options’.   

 
• We will work directly with the Children in Care Council (LinCC) and our network for Care Leavers 

when undertaking commissioning or development activity to ensure that the views of our 
children are central to decision making. We will seek views from Social Workers and 
Independent Reviewing Officers to understand the individual needs, wishes and feelings of 
children and young people when sourcing individual placements. 

 
• We will ensure that our current and forecasted position of placement needs influences the 

Councils budget setting processes, including forecasts of inflation, rates of looked after children 
and their respective placement needs.  

 
• We will support young people in care to make a successful transition into adulthood through 

the provision of high-quality leaving care services which support care leavers to find and maintain 
suitable accommodation arrangements that meet their needs and provide them with independent 
living skills. 

Page 14



 
 

 
Page 7 of 20 

Demand Management Analysis – Children Looked 
After and Placement forecasts  
 
We are delivering on our vision, Children only come into care where this is in their best interests.  
 
Bromley’s rate per 10,000 (43, 2021-22) of looked after children remains below the England (67) and 
London (47) averages 2020-21. We place in the middle quartile of all London Boroughs and are in line 
with the Outer London averages (43). 

 
 
In absolute terms, our numbers of looked after 
children have increased as we have improved our 
practice since 2017 (Ofsted).  
 
Our ‘new normal’ number of children looked after 
on any given day is between c.330 and c.340 
(This includes indigenous and USAC children). 
These actuals correspond well to a good rate per 
10,000 as benchmarked above. Our audits over 
the last four years have reassured us that our 
thresholds are correct. On the 31st of March 2022, 
Bromley was corporate parent to 328 children. 
 
Our robust early years early help offer continues 
to keep younger children out of the care system, 
we can evidence a 41% reduction in children 
aged 5 entering care over the last 5-years.  
 
Adolescents. Over the last four years we have seen an increase in the numbers of adolescents 
coming into care. This growth pressure is in line with London and National trends. We can attribute 
some of the increase to experiences of the pandemic, we also know that within our indigenous 
population we are seeking higher numbers of children in need living within more complex families and 
growing levels of risk to exploitation and extra-familiar harm.  
 
In the last two years we can evidence some reduction of 13- to 15-year-olds coming to care, we 
are attributing this to our Adolescents Strategy and prevention work including the Staying Together 
Service (targeted interventions for edge of care) and targeted Adolescent Parenting Courses. Our 

Page 15



 
 

 
Page 8 of 20 

commissioning intentions are informed by our understanding of the particular pressures facing 
adolescents.  
 
In the future, we are anticipating that the current cost of living crisis may put additional pressures on 
families, which could lead to an increase in the number of children who need to come into care. 
Increased Mental Health issues across both adults and children combined with longer wait times to 
access services could also see an increase in the number of children who need to come into our care.  
A major contributor to the increase in mental health issues is the pandemic and health colleagues are 
putting in additional resources in response to these pressures.   
 
We also know that Asylum Seeking applications were dampened during COVID due to international 
travel restrictions and may returning to pre-covid levels. It’s worth noting that although we are 
anticipating that unaccompanied children from Ukraine will impact our Private Fostering figures, we 
are hoping that those children will not experience family breakdowns and come into care. Our 
substantial ‘Bromley Ukraine programme’ is working hard to support those children and families along 
with the Private Fostering Service.  
 
Indigenous children long-term forecasting  
 
Our annual demand management programme forecasts the likely numbers of ‘Indigenous children’ 
into the care system over a five-year period and informs budget considerations. We know that with 
effective prevention and edge of care work we are able to influence the numbers of indigenous children 
coming into care. We also know that with effective social work we can de-escalate and return children 
home.  
 
The graph below demonstrates that forecasts prepared in March 2019 informed by data from 2015 up 
to and including March 2019 (see yellow line on graph), indigenous children looked after forecast 
based on averages of month end.  The forecast applied variation in children by age group, population 
growth and growth factors in children looked after over a five-year period.   
 
The forecast has been updated with actuals from April 2019 to March 2022, see blue line on graph. 
Despite the significant increased demand pressures during the pandemic (April 2020 to March 2021), 
the graph shows that indigenous LAC figures have returned to previously forecast figures.  
 
In March 2019 we accurately forecast numbers if indigenous looked after children as of March 2022, 
within an accuracy margin of two children. This is despite considerable a-typical activity during Covid. 
This is why our sufficiency strategy is able to influence our Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
planning and budgeting. 
 

Page 16



 
 

 
Page 9 of 20 

 
 
In addition to our indigenous cohort, we know that we should anticipate the placement needs for 10-
15 UASC in any given year.  
 
Given the volatility of the last 2 years a revised forecast has been developed and is the preferred 
model to inform the MTFS 2023/24. Forecasts apply variation in children by age group, population 
growth and growth factors in children looked after over a three-year period.  Linear projection 
calculated averages of 2019 to 2022, this means the forecast tasks into account Covid demand 
pressures.   
 
This preferred demand model, anticipates 324 indigenous children in care as at March 2023 with a 
higher forecast of 340 indigenous children in care.  
 

 

 

 

In terms of Ethnicity 54% of our children are White, 9% Black African, 8% Black Caribbean and 3% 
are Black other, 20% are from mixed heritage, 3% Asian and 2% other. This means in pure terms we 

Page 17



 
 

 
Page 10 of 20 

have an under representation of white children, and an over representation of BAME children in the 
care system. This is being examined across services and within the safeguarding partnership.  
 
Our first preference is to match based on cultural and religious preference where possible. We are 
working with the BAME community increase our in-house foster carers.   
 
When we do take children in to care, our first preference is to ensure a timely and appropriate 
reunification with their families, during 2020-21 37% returned home to live with a parent or relative or 
family friend/connected person. 
 
Our next preference is permanency, Bromley 
was the first London borough to be awarded the 
‘Working towards Quality Mark’ in Early 
Permanence. Delays in the court during the 
pandemic and in regulations on placing children in 
SGOs have somewhat slowed our otherwise 
excellence performance.  
 
We believe that we are securing placement 
stability through strengthened: matching 
processes; placement planning; quality assurance 
processes; improving support available for carers 
and professional development opportunities for 
foster carers.  
 
Our children continue to experience placement stability with on average few moves (2021-22, 10.7% 
with 3 moves or more compared to 9% national) and good long-term placement stability 71% (70% 
national).  
 
While the sufficiency duty, literally, refers to sufficient placements within a local authority area, in 
practice London boroughs and many county authorities are unable to provide for all needs within local 
authority boundaries. As at the end of March 2022 15% were placed out of Borough more than 20 
miles from home. This is better than the national average and our statistical neighbors (21%). We 
have worked hard to bring our children closer to home, when it is in their best interest.    The overriding 
consideration is to place children wherever possible and appropriate, as near to their home areas as 
possible to enable them to retain important familial and social links and education provision.  
 
The Virtual School are involved in placement planning for children and young people.  The Virtual 
School strives to keep children in their current school wherever possible, particularly those at Key 
Stage 4, and work with foster carers to try to ensure that children are able to travel to their current 
school even when they have to move to a new placement. 
 
For those that will need a new education provision the Virtual School will work with local Virtual 
Schools, use the local knowledge of foster carers as well as looking at OFSTED reports to identify 
suitable schools.  The young person would then be encouraged to look at websites and visit suitable 
schools to have an input into choice, where there is a choice.  A transition plan will then be developed 
with the Virtual School, current school, new school, social worker, young person and foster carer to 
ensure a successful and smooth transition.  All children will have their PEP reviewed each term and 
we ensure at least one of those is face to face, irrespective of distance placed.  More face-to-face 
visits from the Virtual School may take place if there are concerns around a young person’s education. 
 
Our placements be they in or out of borough are considered and understood as appropriate.  
 

Page 18



 
 

 
Page 11 of 20 

  
 
We are supporting our young people in care to make successful transitions into adulthood. 89% 
of those we are in touch with were living in suitable accommodation. Care leavers have access to a 
range of suitable accommodation, with timely consideration of options. We value young people moving 
at a time that is right for them.  Tenancy breakdowns are rare because we build their confidence and 
skills in supported housing arrangements first. The 18+ panel monitors care leavers’ progression. 
  

Page 19



 
 

 
Page 12 of 20 

Achieving placement sufficiency  
 
Use of placement types and duration, by age 2021-22   
 
We have reflected on cost pressures, market challenges, gaps and opportunities to achieve our 
placement sufficiency needs. Our current and forecasted position of placement needs has influenced 
budget setting, including forecasts of inflation, rates of looked after children and their respective 
placement needs.  
 
During 2021-22 
  
• we took 453 children into care,  
• we accommodated them in 637 placements,  
• we procured 15,535 weeks of placement provision.  
 
An analysis of all placement types and duration, by age (2021-22) has informed our commissioning 
intentions for the next two years (2022-24).  
 
We have purposefully chosen to assume forward our placement commissioning needs from one 
year of data only (2021-22), the key reasons for this are as follow: 

• We know that 2020-21, the first Covid year, brought with it an unusual level of placement stability 
(7% with 3 moves or more during 2020-21). We had fewer disruptions and breakdowns during 
this period, therefore the numbers of placements required would be an underrepresentation of 
likely need moving forward, this is validated by our 2021-22 performance (3 moves or more 
10.7%).  

• We also we know through our audits and management oversight that the complexity of case work 
we are seeking now (during 2021-22) is greater than we have seen before, it is therefore most 
likely that the presentation of placement needs, and disruptions seen in 2021-22 will carry forward 
into the next two years. 

 
Our analysis allows us to commission the right mix or “menu” of high-quality placements and 
wrap around support to meet identified needs of children looked after and care leavers as cost 
effectively as possible. All placements are procured to give due regard to safety, health, education, 
emotional, network and contact needs. 
 
Engagement and influence. We recognise that providers and our children and young people have 
an integral role in sufficiency planning. As such they are given opportunities to influence our 
commissioning intentions. Our commission intentions reflect our understanding of the experiences of 
our children and care leavers and their input has contributed to and informed service developments 
and delivery.  
  

Page 20



 
 

 
Page 13 of 20 

Placement Types by Age 
 
The vast majority of placements for 0- to 15-year-olds are ‘fostering arrangements’.  When it is in the 
best interest of our children, we prefer to place our children in family-based care close to the borough 
where they can retain education links and contact. 
 
Types of fostering placements are depicted in shades of green in the graph below:  

 

Page 21



 
 

 
Page 14 of 20 

Total numbers of Placement during by Type by Age (2021-22) 
 

 

Total weeks of Placement procured Types, by Age (2021-22) 
 

 
 

Children Looked After placements (all episodes throughout the year) 2021-22, by age band

0-4 years 5-9 years 10-12 years 13-15 years 16+ years Totals
Fostering 93 98 80 110 40 421
Connect person - long term 4 5 5 7 2 23
Connect person - not long term 23 13 13 8 1 58
Foster - long term: In-house 1 22 14 14 3 54
Foster - long term: Private/ Vol 2 13 17 13 5 50
Foster - not long term: In-house 32 28 10 32 19 121
Foster - not long term: Private/ Vol 31 17 21 36 10 115
Other 41 22 17 58 78 216
Adoption 14 4 0 0 0 18
Children's homes 0 5 14 36 6 61
Family centre or mother and baby unit 11 2 0 0 0 13
Independent living 0 0 0 0 1 1
Medical care 3 0 0 0 0 3
Other 0 2 0 2 0 4
Placed with own parent(s) 13 9 2 4 9 37
Resid care 0 0 0 2 1 3
Resid schools 0 0 1 4 1 6
Secure children's homes 0 0 0 2 1 3
Semi-indep 0 0 0 8 57 65
YOI or prison 0 0 0 0 2 2

Total weeks 2021-22 of Children Looked After placements (all episodes throughout the year), by age band

0-4 years 5-9 years 10-12 years 13-15 years 16+ years All Ages
Fostering 1859 2811 2740 2642 863 10916
Connect person - long term 163 215 220 142 47 787
Connect person - not long term 313 136 239 153 45 886
Foster - long term: In-house 10 971 641 602 116 2340
Foster - long term: Private/ Vol 64 663 819 571 101 2217
Foster - not long term: In-house 581 483 224 534 356 2178
Foster - not long term: Private/ Vol 728 342 597 641 198 2507
Other 646 527 406 1336 1705 4619
Adoption 268 145 0 0 0 414
Children's homes 0 211 322 867 235 1636
Family centre or mother and baby unit 141 48 0 0 0 189
Independent living 0 0 0 0 18 18
Medical care 19 0 0 0 0 19
Other 0 0 0 18 0 19
Placed with own parent(s) 217 122 32 104 191 666
Resid care 0 0 0 57 40 96
Resid schools 0 0 52 153 30 235
Secure children's homes 0 0 0 12 23 35
Semi-indep 0 0 0 125 1123 1248
YOI or prison 0 0 0 0 45 45

Total placements weeks 15535

Page 22



 
 

 
Page 15 of 20 

Fostering 
 
The majority of our children aged 0 – 15 are accommodated in fostering placements.  
 

 
 
Our THRIVE (Trust, Hope, Respect, Inspiration, Vision, Empathy) therapeutic team is co-located in 
our permanency service to provide psychological support to foster carers, special guardians and 
adopters. THRIVE also upskills social work practitioners, foster carers, special guardians and adoptive 
parents to understand and supporting some of our complex young people more effectively. Our foster 
carers receive weekly communication from our children’s services and all participate in a “buddy 
system” for additional peer support. 
 
In-House Foster Carers ‘network’ 
 
Our In-house Foster Care networks includes Family and Friends Foster Carers ‘Connected Persons’, 
Bromley Foster Carers (live in borough), Bromley Out of Borough Foster Carers (live out of borough), 
Bromley Respite Carers (very short-term placements in and out of borough). 
 
Just over half of all our long and short-term fostering arrangements are met with ‘in-house’ fostering 
capacity. We need to further grow In-House Fostering capacity. When it is in the best interest of our 
children, we prefer to place our children in family-based care arrangements close to the borough where 
they can retain education links and family contact. We need to deliver and effective recruitment and 
retention plan to increase the capability of internal fostering to deliver more complex support.  
 
We are very good at placing 0 to 9 and 13 to 15-year-olds with our ‘in-house’ long term foster carers, 
we need to recruit more ‘long term’ in house carers for our 10- to 12-year-old. We also need more 
inhouse capacity for sibling groups and carers from specific ethnic groups, we are working with different 
religious groups such as the local mosque and a number of churches to promote the need for more 
BAME carers.  
 
As at 31st March 2022, we had 101 approved in-house foster carers assessed and able to receive 
children. Our in-house capacity delivered 175 placements during 2021-22. We believe in-house 
fostering to be the best form of care for our children if they stay with us.  
 
On average our fostering assessment take no more than 6 months. During 2021-22 we invested in 
our in-house fostering service to increase our capacity and recruitment/marketing activity.  11 in-house 
foster carers were recruited in 2021/22, 9 were de-registered, allowing for a net gain of 2. We are 
mindful of our ‘aging’ fostering householders and are therefore pursing a continuous cycle of 
recruitment. Annually we set ourselves an ambitious target of recruiting 20 new foster carers. We know 
we aim high! Why wouldn’t we? 

 
We have developed our in-house capacity to manage more complex cases. During 2021 we recruited 
four new in-house specialist carers to our New Horizons project who offered a package of therapeutic 
support for young people with complex needs stepping down from residential care. We have 
stepped down 4 children through our New Horizons project.  This project adds to our broader drive to 
assist all young people to step down from residential care when safe to do so. 

 

0-4 years 5-9 years 10-12 years 13-15 years 16+ years
Fostering 69% 82% 82% 65% 34%
Other 31% 18% 18% 35% 66%

Page 23



 
 

 
Page 16 of 20 

Our Emergency Foster Placement Scheme was set up in November 2019 to respond to the needs 
of children in an emergency or crisis. To date we have placed more than 40 children through this 
scheme.  
 
Independent Fostering Agencies 
 
Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA) are only used if needs cannot be met by In House Foster 
Carers.  
 
To alleviate all agency fostering demands, we would need to recruit a net additional 30 in-house foster 
carers to provide ‘short term care’ (c.1500 weeks of care) and 40 ‘long term’ in-house foster careers 
(c.2000 weeks of care). Give that this is entirely unrealistic to achieve, we have developed access to 
the following agency capacity.  
 
Pan London Commissioning Arrangement 
 
Following a strategic review in 2019 Bromley joined the Commissioning Alliance purchasing consortium 
(February 2020).  Theoretically this improved market access to quality and timely children’s 
placements.  (We joined the Dynamic Purchasing Vehicles for Residential, Semi-Independent and 
Independent Fostering Agencies placements).   
 
In the last year we procured 102 new placements, 66% of these we via the commissioning alliance. 
We found it easier to identify IFAs via the alliance (93% of all IFA placements) but much harder to 
identify residential placements (only 19%, 5 of 26 residential placements): 
 
• 102 total new placements (of which 43 IFA, 26 residential, 33 16+)  
• 68 via the Alliance (40 IFA, 5 residential, 23 16+)  
• 34 were placed outside of the Alliance (3 IFA, 21 residential, 10 16+)  
 
A full review is underway in 2022 to critically consider our use of consortium placements, gaps and 
opportunities. 
 
We are committed to participating in and developing more London (and sub regional provision) block 
contracts and provider frameworks where economies of scale can be achieved and quality sustained. 
We are also committed to developing our placement service to better utilise our menu of placement 
options.   
 
Spot Purchasing  
 
Spot purchasing allows us a mechanism to access and secure sufficient choices of placements for 
our young people who have complex needs including those at risk of offending, those experiencing or 
at risk of exploitation including CSE. Given the challenges of extra familial harm and contexualised 
safeguarding we need to ensure that spot purchasing allows us the freedom to be creative with 
placement selection and location. 
 
External Residential Children’s Homes 
 
We place our children in Residential Homes only when all other types of provision options have been 
exhausted. During 2021-22 we required 61 children’s home placements, 9% of all placements.  
 

Page 24



 
 

 
Page 17 of 20 

We are mindful that reforms to unregulated provisions and the ever-growing complexity of placements 
needed may lead to further demand for residential placements. Like a lot of other boroughs, the most 
challenging cohort to place are aged 12+ with complex needs.   
 
A provider led residential market and a continued increased demand for residential placements with 
significant numbers of voids may lead to further increases in the cost of residential placements. 
According to a study commissioned by London ADCS there has already been a 64% increase in the 
unit cost of residential settings since 2015. The current inflation rate of 7%, with forecasts of increase 
to 9% in the last quarter of 2022 is likely to impact the cost of providers, we are ensuring that inflation 
rates have been built into future budgets.  
 
We have joined the Pan London Alliance Complex Adolescents Project to consider the feasibility of 
large-scale block contracts and building new provision.  The project has evidenced that as a region 
London and the South-east has a lack of residential provision, but that the provision we have is also 
not utilised by London Local Authorities.   
 
Semi Independent 
 
Forty eight percent of our 16+ cohort were placed in semi-independent provision last year, (34% 
remained in fostering arrangements). We have wrap around arrangements in place to assist our young 
people to prepare for independence whilst in semi-independent provision.  
 
We benefit from the Commissioning Alliance accreditation scheme for the unregulated semi-
independent provision for 16+ year old. In addition, our own placement service has a Quality 
Assurance Framework for monitoring semi-independent placements.   
 
Specialist placements  
 
Mother and Baby Foster Placements 
 
Independent Fostering Agencies are only be used if the mother and baby’s needs cannot be met by 
In House Foster Carers network. These specialist placements are spot purchased only, during 2021-
22 we required 13 such placements (family centre or mother and baby unit). 
 
Residential Parenting Assessment Centres 
 
Placements to these units are made when it is necessary to carry out an assessment on parenting 
capacity. These facilities are spot purchased only.  
 
Secure Placements 
 
These placements will only be used if the child or young person is able to meet very specific eligibility 
criteria and in exceptional circumstances. Placements are intended to be short term; reviewed through 
the secure accommodation review process and step down suitable alternative sourced. Three secure 
placements were utilised during 2021-22.   
 
The national shortage of capacity in the secure estate and waiting times mean that we have had to 
find alternative means to manage higher levels of risk in the community.  As is the case for all 
authorities we are continuing to find it a challenge to identify provision in a market which has limited 
provision for managing DOLS in the community and the risk of exploitation through use of external 
restrictions. 

Page 25



 
 

 
Page 18 of 20 

 
Remand Placements, the council is responsible for deciding the most appropriate level of 
accommodation (if not specified by the court). Where possible we use Remand foster care placements 
with a small number of foster carers being identified to provide support to young people involved in 
offending and a robust service offer is made available. 
 
Care Leavers  
 
Our first preference is that our Care Leavers are able to “Stay Put” within a fostering setting, once they 
turn 18. In the last two years we have on average retained 5 young people in staying put arrangements 
– we recognise the need to improve this take up. 
 
We have a dedicated placement officer in the Leaving Care team to quality assure semi/independent 
placements for over 18s.  We run a Young Inspectors Scheme to enable our young people to 
undertake site visits and influence our post 18 provision. 
 
As at the end of March 2022, 97% of Care Leavers were in ‘suitable accommodation’ (national 96%).  
 
  

Page 26



 
 

 
Page 19 of 20 

Actions 
 
There are a number of key strands of activity required to deliver our placement sufficiency strategy.  
 
We are committed to: 
 
✓ Ensuring that children only come into care where this is in their best interests. If they do come 

into care, children should without delay achieve timely and appropriate reunification with their 
families, or alternative permanency.  

• Continue to invest in prevention work including the Staying Together Service (targeted 
interventions for edge of care) 

 
✓ When children need to remain in care, placements will always be sought through our ‘ In-house 

fostering network, as a first preference, prior to considering services from external providers 
and includes residential homes, foster placements and supported accommodation.  

• Recruit 20 new foster careers per year 
• Target recruitment towards more ‘long term’ in house carers for our 10- to 12-year-olds. 
• We also need more inhouse capacity for sibling groups and carers from specific ethnic 

groups and children with disabilities. 
• Improve Care Leavers take up of “Stay Put” within a fostering setting 

 
✓ We will further grow our In-House Fostering capacity. By delivering effective recruitment and 

retention strategies and increasing the capability of internal fostering to deliver more complex 
support. 

• Build on the four new in-house specialist carers to our New Horizons project who offered 
a package of therapeutic support for young people with complex needs stepping down 
from residential care.  

• Build on the Emergency Foster Placement Scheme set up in November 2019 to 
respond to the needs of children in an emergency or crisis 

 
✓ Our focus will remain on quality and ensuring intervention leads to a de-escalation of needs 

and placement stability. We will continually review the effectiveness and impact of our wrap 
around support.  

• Continue to commission wrap around arrangements to assist our young people to 
prepare for independence whilst in semi-independent provision 

• Continue to commission the THRIVE therapeutic team co -located in our permanency 
service to provide psychological support to foster carers, special guardians and adopters. 

• Continue through THRIVE to upskill social work practitioners, foster carers, special 
guardians and adoptive parents to understand and supporting some of our complex young 
people more effectively.  

 
✓ We will ensure our commissioning is needs-led, with robust procurement and contracting.  

• We will continue to work with colleagues in other local authorities to explore ways in which 
joint approaches can expand the range of available placement options, particularly for 
more specialist needs  

• We will continue to participate and develop more London (and sub regional) block 
contracts and provider frameworks where economies of scale can be evidenced and 
quality sustained.  

• Test the feasibility of the Pan London Alliance Complex Adolescents Project to 
consider the large-scale block contracts and building new provision.   

Page 27



 
 

 
Page 20 of 20 

• We are also committed to developing our placement service to better utilise our ‘menu 
of placement options’.   

• We are committed to upskilling our placement officers ‘negotiation skills’ and are 
putting in place appropriate training.  

• We will further develop commissioning skills in the organisation to enable strong and 
robust relationships with providers, improved procurement of individual placements and 
a more strategic approach to placement sufficiency.  

 
✓ We will work directly with the Children in Care Council (LinCC) and our network for Care Leavers 

when undertaking commissioning or development activity to ensure their views are central to 
decision making. We will seek views from Social Workers and Independent Reviewing Officers 
and to understand the individual needs, wishes and feelings of children and young people when 
sourcing individual placements. 

• Crucial to our sufficiency strategy, high quality social work practice will ensure 
alternatives to care will always be considered and actively pursued if appropriate; the 
assessment of needs for children requiring placements will be accurate and will actively 
inform placement finding; and that social work support for placements will promote 
resilience and stability.       

 
✓ We will ensure that our current and forecasted position of placement needs influence the 

Councils budget setting, including forecasts of inflation, rates of looked after children and their 
respective placement needs.  

• Continue to deliver an annual demand management program which informs budget 
setting and the Medium-Term Financial Strategy  

• We will retain our focus on value for money in our contracting relationships with 
providers and use our understanding of costs to inform commissioning activity. 

Page 28



  

1 

Report No. 
CEF 22066 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 

 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: CHILDREN, EDUCATION AND FAMILIES POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT AND SCUTINY COMMITTEE 

Date:  17th November 2022 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: EARLY HELP STRATEGY FOR CHILDREN (AGED FROM 
BIRTH TO 18) AND THEIR FAMILIES.  OUR VISION FOR 2030 
 

Contact Officer: Rachel Dunley,  
Head of Service Early Intervention and Family Support Services (CSC) 

Tel:       020 8461 7261    E-mail:  Rachel.dunley@bromley.gov.uk  
 

Chief Officer: Richard Baldwin, Director; Children Education and Families 

Ward: All Wards 

1. Reason for report 

1.1 This report is an information briefing on development and distribution of Bromley’s Early Help 

Strategy for Children (aged from birth to 18) and their families.  Our Vision for 2030” 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1 The Children Education and Families PDS Committee is invited to note the content of the report. 

 

Page 29

Information Item 2

mailto:Rachel.dunley@bromley.gov.uk


  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

1. Summary of Impact: Positive  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Not Applicable 
 

2. BBB Priority: Children and Young People Excellent Council Safe Bromley Healthy Bromley 
Regeneration:  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: N/A 
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable: within existing Budget 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: N/A 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £ N/A 
 

5. Source of funding: N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): N/A   
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A    
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: N/A  
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable: No Executive decision. 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  

 

Page 30



  

3 

3. BACKGROUND 

 

3.1 The partners of the Children’s Executive Board are committed to improving the life chances for 
all children and young people in Bromley through the joint planning, commissioning, and 
delivery of services. As a partnership we are passionate about and remain jointly accountable 

for, improving outcomes and challenging the barriers children and young people face. 
 

3.2 The “Early Help Strategy for Children (aged from birth to 18) and their families; Our Vision for 
2030”, (‘Early Help Strategy’) has been developed over the past 12 months, working closely in 
with colleagues across the Council and our key partners, and is designed to link into existing 

and developing strategies and plans.  The foremost of which being the Children and Young 
People Plan 2021-24. 

 
3.3 Our refreshed Children and Young People Plan (CYPP) 2021-24 has five key priority areas and 

an action plan to monitor our progress.  

 Priority 1: Targeted early intervention and good universal services 
 Priority 2: Safeguarding children and adolescents 

 Priority 3: Being the best corporate parents 
 Priority 4: Challenging disproportionality 
 Priority 5: Engaging with children, young people and families 

 
3.1 At each Children Executive Board thematic priority reports are presented on key areas of 

delivery, enabling our CYPP to be robustly monitored. 

 
4. COMMENTARY 

 
4.1 This report provides an update against the theme of Priority 1: Targeted early intervention and 

good universal services within the CYPP. 

 

4.2 The Early Help Strategy (Appendix 1 to this report) the provides our vision for 2030. It has been 

produced by the Council to: 

a) Illustrate the current position of early help across the borough 
b) Set out a vision for the medium-term for the early help ecosystem across our borough  

c) Clarify to our families and professionals what is expected from early help and how it will 
support them  

 

4.3 We have written this strategy at a time when the country is emerging from a global pandemic 

that has significantly impacted on the childhood of our young residents. Like all local authorities, 
we continue to manage the ongoing change and challenges on us as we transition from 

pandemic to endemic and we begin to live, work, and learn with the virus in our community. The 
actions set out in this strategy will help us do that. 
 

4.4 By early help we mean the total support that improves a family’s resilience and outcomes or 
reduces the chance of a problem getting worse. Our early help services are focused on 

providing the right help when our families need it, whatever the age of the child. Bromley has 
well-established and mature early help arrangements in place which make a difference to 
children and families. At the heart of this is our Early Intervention and Family Support (EIFS) 

Service. 
 

4.5 When we talk about early help, it is easy to think that it simply relates to the early years of the 
child; however, this is far from the actual situation. Early help goes from pre-birth all the way 
through the life of the child, at all life phases. 

Page 31



  

4 

4.6 Our early help approach is shaped around our commitment of shifting the balance of power, so 
our work is increasingly family-led and not led by practitioners. An element of this involves 

families being supported to come together to utilise their own resources and strengths to 
overcome their challenges. 
  

4.7 Quality work with families already takes place across Bromley, day in and day out, by schools, 
health services, children and family centres, early years’ settings, community services and 

support, and a range of other agencies and services. 
 

5. OUR VISION FOR 2030 

 
5.1 This strategy is rightly ambitious for us and for our children. The targets we have set out 

describing what our early help offer will look in 2030 will challenge us; however, by working 
together with our partners, our families, and our children, we are confident that they can all be 
achieved. 

 
5.2 Every day we are collectively working to make Bromley an excellent place for children to grow 

up, thrive and have the best life chances in families who flourish and are happy to call Bromley 
home. We have a clear dream which will help us to achieve this:  
 

“Our early help ecosystem makes sure that every child in Bromley has a bright, safe and 
optimistic future” 
 

5.3 During the lifetime of this strategy, we will be working to achieve four interlocking ambitions. 
Each ambition is focused on one of the four quadrants that make up our early help model - our 

children, our families, our practitioners and our resources: 
 

5.4 Our four ambitions are: 

 
a. Our children experience loving and safe homes with consistent and positive parenting 

which nurtures them and helps them flourish 
 

b. Our families are informed about the range of services and support available to them, 

and how to use them when they need it, so they can be in control of their own lives 
 

c. Our practitioners work within a culture that embraces relational and compassionate 
practice where the strengths of our families are understood and built upon 

 

d. Our resources are focused on providing responsive, dynamic, and holistic integrated 
services across health, education and social care which identify need and provide 

support at the earliest opportunity to meet needs and prevent escalation of concern 
 

6. NEXT STEPS 

 
6.1 Following the feedback from Members we will update the Early Help Strategy to reflect the 

amendments and alterations proposed. 
 

6.2 The strategy will then be endorsed by the Council’s Portfolio Holder for Children, Education and 
Families, after which we will undertake a communication programme to raise awareness across 
the workforce within the Council, key Partners, the wider community workforce, and our 

residents. 
 

 
7. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  

Page 32



  

5 

 

7.1 The Early Help Strategy impacts on all families including our most vulnerable families and their 

children.  Families’ lives are not static and the needs of families change as they grow, evolve 
and become exposed to new and challenging life experiences.  Some families will require more 
support than others, across a range of needs and over a variety of timescales. 

 
7.2 If we have a robust early help model, and families are able to build resilience and develop the 

knowledge, skills and confidence to face challenges, learn from them, and have the self-efficacy 
to try to resolve and find workable solutions, we will reduced the potential additional burden on 
other services in the future.  There will always be a need for support, information, guidance and 

intervention, but intervening early is more effective, cheaper and over time has the power to 
alter the future, and reduce the reliance by our current children and young people when they 

become adults and parents themselves. 
 

7.3 There is always more that we can do, and early help cannot stand still.  The need to evolve and 

develop, to look for and exploit available opportunities to expand the reach and range of support 
that can be offered is essential.  Partnership working, across the Council, key partners and the 

wider workforce is required.  A focus on being family-led and ‘needs-led’ where we are driven by 
what our families are telling us they need is essential to ensure our resources are best placed 
and not wasted. 

 
   
  

Non-Applicable Sections: FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact Officer) 

NONE 

 

Page 33



This page is left intentionally blank



bromley.gov.uk/earlyhelp

EARLY HELP
strategy for children (aged from birth to 18)
and their families 

Our vision for

2030
Page 35



We want Bromley to be
an excellent place for
children to grow up, thrive
and have the best life
chances in families who
flourish and are happy to
call Bromley home.

Please note:
Some percentages will add up to more than 100% due to rounding.
All photos of children and families are stock imagery.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 2 Page 36



Contents

4
Executive summary

12
Welcome

16
What is early help?

24
Early help in Bromley

32
Our borough

34
Our borough in

numbers

46
Our borough,

the village

48
Our vision for 2030

54
Ambition 1:
Our children

62
Ambition 2:
Our families

68
Ambition 3:

Our practitioners

74
Ambition 4:

Our resources

80
Governance and

structure

86
Acronyms

88
Contact details

and map

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 20303 Page 37



Simply put, by early help we mean the total support that improves a family’s resilience
and outcomes, or reduces the chance of a problem getting worse. Our early help services
are focused on providing the right help when our families need it, whatever the age of the
child. 

Executive summary

What is early help?

Welcome to Bromley’s first Early Help
Strategy for Children and Families
which provides our vision for 2030. 

We have published this strategy at a time when the
country is emerging from a global pandemic that has
significantly impacted on the childhood of our young
residents. Like all local authorities, we continue to manage
the ongoing change and challenges on us as we transition
from pandemic to endemic and we begin to live, work and
learn with the virus in our community. The actions set out
in this strategy will help us do that.

When we talk about early help, it is easy to think that it
simply relates to the early years of the child; however,
this is far from the actual situation. Early help goes
from pre-birth all the way through the life of the child,
at all life phases. 

Early help has many benefits – both to the child and to
their family directly, as well as to society as a whole. It
focuses on supporting four key aspects of a child’s
development as these have the potential to make the
biggest difference and provide benefits throughout
their life:

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 4 Page 38



Physical development 

gross and fine motor skills, healthy
bodies and healthy lifestyles

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Cognitive development

confidence in own abilities,
communication and language skills

Behavioural development

self-regulation, impulsivity, respect,
and safe life choices and decision
making

Emotional development 

social connections, emotional
wellbeing, self-esteem and mental
health

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 20305 Page 39



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Building on these, early help often targets four additional ‘threats’ to a child’s development.
These threats are strongly associated with adverse outcomes during adolescence and
adulthood: 

Child maltreatment 

neglect, physical, sexual and
emotional abuse, and fabricated or
induced illness 

Substance misuse 

the direct and indirect effects of
alcohol and other drugs on children

Risky sexualised behaviour

unhealthy relationships can encourage
or develop into risky sexual behaviour

Contextual safeguarding 

the negative influence of a whole
range of environments and people
outside of their family or home
environment, such as in their school or
college, in their local community, in
their peer groups or online

In addition, early help is proven to have financial benefits for
society. The costs of ‘late intervention’ in Bromley has been
estimated as £83 million per year – or £256 per person. 

This is the acute, statutory and essential benefits and
services that are required when children experience
significant difficulties in life, many of which might have been
prevented through earlier intervention. 

£83
million

£256
per person

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 6 Page 40



Early help in Bromley
Bromley has well-established and mature early help arrangements in place which make a
difference to children and families. At the heart of this are our Early Intervention and
Family Support (EIFS) and universal health visiting services.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Our early help approach is shaped around our commitment of shifting the balance of
power, so our work is increasingly family-led and not led by practitioners. An element of
this involves families being supported to come together to utilise their own resources and
strengths to overcome their challenges. 

Quality work with families already takes place across Bromley, day in and day out, by
schools, health services, children and family centres, early years’ settings, community
services and support, and a range of other agencies and services.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 20307 Page 41



Our borough 

People living in our borough

There are approximately 330,000 people living in
our borough in an estimated 135,036 households.
Approximately 73,400 of these are children aged
18 and under. 31% of our resident children are
estimated to be as being from a Black, Asian or
other ethnic heritage.

We are expecting that the number of residents will
grow by 4% between 2021 and 2041 (341,000) with
the number of children expected to decrease to
62,500 by 2041.

Living healthy and well

Although Bromley is the 4th least deprived of the 33 London Boroughs with average earnings for
full time workers of £787 per week, 13% of children live in low-income families. 8.3% of
households in Bromley do not have an adult in paid employment.

3% of our school pupils have social, emotional and mental health needs and around 3,800
referrals were made to the Bromley Y ‘front door’ service in 2021/22. More than 20% of pregnant
women in Bromley reported a history of mental ill health at booking for pregnancy care and GP
data shows that recorded depression in adults is the third highest in London and the rate is
increasing. The rate of teenage conceptions in our borough was 9.8 per 1,000 in 2020 for those
aged under 18. The proportion of infant deaths in our borough was 2.9 per 1,000 in 2018-20.

During 2019/20 there were 4,776 domestic abuse incidents (where a crime has not been
committed but is recorded for intelligence purposes, such as a verbal argument).

KENT

CROYDON

SURREY

LAMBETH

BEXLEY

BROMLEY

TO CENTRAL
LONDON

TO KENT
COUNTRYSIDE

SOUTHWARK

LEWISHAM

GREENWICH

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Family support 

More than 97,000 people used our Children and Family Centres in 2019/20 (the last full year
prior to the COVID-19 pandemic). 972 families were supported by the Bromley Children's Project
during 2020/21 which incorporated over 1,700 children. 493 family support assessments were
completed during 2020/21 and 588 Common Assessment Frameworks (CAF) were completed
during 2021/22.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 8 Page 42



Education and learning 

97% of our primary and secondary schools are ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ and 99% of our Early
Years settings graded ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’. 

The Average Attainment 8 score for all pupils in the borough was 50.8 and 51% of pupils in
Bromley achieved Grade 5 or above in the 2017 reformed English and maths GCSEs. 75% of
pupils in primary school met the expected standard in 2019. The educational attainment of
children who are eligible for Free School Meals is below that of the average population which is
also reflected in our early years’ cohort.

314 children were electively home educated in 2019/20 and the Education Welfare Service
(EWS) received 530 Child Missing Education referrals and 1,980 ‘Intention to Delete from School
Roll’ notifications.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Our vision for 2030 
This strategy is rightly ambitious for us and for our children. The targets we have set out
describing what our early help offer will look in 2030 will challenge us; however, by
working together with our partners, our families and our children, we are confident that
they can all be achieved.

Every day we are collectively working to make Bromley an excellent place for children to
grow up, thrive and have the best life chances in families who flourish and are happy to
call Bromley home. We have a clear dream which will help us to achieve this: 

Our early help ecosystem makes sure that every child in Bromley
has a bright, safe and optimistic future

During the lifetime of this strategy, we will be working to achieve four interlocking
ambitions. Each ambition is focused on one of the four quadrants that make up our early
help model - our children, our families, our practitioners and our resources:

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 20309 Page 43



Ambition 1: Our children experience loving and safe homes with
consistent and positive parenting which nurtures them and helps
them flourish

We believe that although our children are all different, they all have the same needs –
they need loving, secure and stable homes which provide consistent and high-quality
trusted relationships.

Most of our families can provide this environment with minimal input and support from
services outside of their family and friends, and the borough’s offer of universal
services. There are some families though that require additional help and support from
specialist and targeted services for short-term periods to help them through a period of
trouble and problems.

In addition, there are other families who require more intense support due to their
complex and enduring needs. Where our early help provision cannot solve these issues
directly, the professionals supporting the family will help them to transition into the
borough’s targeted and specialist services.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Ambition 2: Our families are informed about the range of services
and support available to them, and how to use them when they
need it, so they can be in control of their own lives

We believe that our families want to be in control of their own lives and be as self-
sufficient as possible. That’s why we will provide a range of accessible information to
help them to make informed choices about their lives.

Most of our families will need to be able to find and use the borough’s universal offer.
However, there are some families that will need to be made aware of the specialist and
targeted services that are available across the borough which is why we will have
several sources of specialist information.

We understand that some families and some individual family members will go through
periods of feeling isolated and alone, especially at points when they are experiencing
difficulties or life changes. We will help all our residents to feel part of their community
and to be able to find the right help for them, so they feel more connected.

Our professionals will understand the range of services available and will be able to
refer families swiftly and successfully to the appropriate targeted and specialist
services when required.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 10 Page 44



Ambition 3: Our practitioners work within a culture that embraces
relational and compassionate practice where the strengths of our
families are understood and built upon

We believe that our families must be in control on their lives and their support. We will
make sure that the wishes and feelings of every child and their family is consistently
sought, heard and considered.

We will engage in purposeful, open and compassionate work with the whole family
system. Our children and their families will benefit from consistent relationships with
practitioners who understand what must change and who strive for inclusive
involvement.

We will use reflective, critical thinking and analysis to evaluate and integrate multiple
sources of knowledge and support options. We will gather evidence to create and co-
produce meaningful assessments and plans with families. We will build self-efficacy in
families. We will promote significant and sustained change in families that is
proportionate to the risks of harm identified.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Ambition 4: Our resources are focused on providing responsive,
dynamic and holistic integrated services across health, education
and social care which identify need and provide support at the
earliest opportunity to meet needs and prevent escalation of
concern 

We believe that we can have a bigger and more effective impact by investing in
supporting our families to be self-sufficient and providing the right targeted help at the
points when they need it. In Bromley we have a successful and highly achieving range of
universal services that are available for all our families. These are well resourced and
have proven impact for most of our families. This support will be co-ordinated across
health, education and social care agencies.

We are using our organisational intelligence and the views of our families to provide a
range of targeted services for those who have additional needs.

Where required, we are providing a sufficient and effective range of specialist services
that can step in at the right time to have the biggest impact. These services will then
seek to support our families and help them to move back through the levels of support.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203011 Page 45



This strategy is written at a time when the country is emerging from a global pandemic that has
significantly impacted on the childhood of our young residents. 

The impact of this pandemic will continue to be felt for a considerable time to come. Our
children have faced many challenges including remote education, isolation, anxiety, and digital
and physical poverty. Our families have shared the challenges of balancing work and home
schooling, meeting the educational, emotional and physical needs of their children, and many
have been living on reduced income as a result of businesses closing or furloughing their staff.

For those children who have additional needs, such as special educational needs and
disabilities, emotional mental health or behaviours that challenge, the lack of access to the
normal specialist help and care has led their parents to stress and burn out. And for those with
emerging needs, access to help and support from early help services have been impacted. 

For those children at risk of harm, the removal of the line of sight from schools, youth clubs and
children’s centres has potentially hidden issues.

Like all local authorities, we continue to manage the ongoing change and challenges on us as
we transition from pandemic to endemic and we begin to live, work and learn with the virus in
our community. The actions set out in this strategy will help us do that. 

We are ambitious for all our children in our borough, and we have high aspirations for them and
their families. Every day we are collectively working to make Bromley:

Welcome to Bromley’s first Early Help Strategy for Children and
Families – our vision for 2030. 

Welcome

An excellent place for children to grow
up, thrive and have the best life
chances in families who flourish and
are happy to call Bromley home

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 12 Page 46



During 2021 we worked with our partners to develop
and publish our latest Children and Young People’s Plan
(CYPP) covering the three-year period to 2024. 

Our CYPP sets out a clear priority to develop high
quality and effective targeted early intervention and
universal services. We know that providing timely,
tailored and holistic support is vital in supporting our
children and their families. 

We believe that investing to meet the needs of children
and their families earlier is more effective. It helps to
prevent issues building up as well as helping to identify
problems as early as possible. 

WELCOME

You can read the CYPP by visiting:

bromley.gov.uk/cypplan

This strategy will help us do that by setting out what we are doing to strengthen and enhance
our early help offer for children and our families across the borough. Through this strategy we
are setting out what our families can expect from us over the next five years – in essence, how
we will make sure that every child and family that needs our help gets the right help in the right
way at the right time.

Our approach has been shaped around our simple dream for our children and families:

Our early help ecosystem makes sure that every child in Bromley
has a bright, safe and optimistic future

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203013 Page 47



OUR
RESOURCES

Our resources are focused on providing
responsive, dynamic and holistic
services targeted at the true needs of
our families

OUR 
PRACTITIONERS

Our practitioners work within a culture
that embraces relational practice where
the strengths of our families are
understood and built upon

OUR
CHILDREN

Our children experience loving and safe
homes with consistent and positive
parenting which nurtures them and
helps them flourish

OUR
FAMILIES

Our families are informed about the
range of services and support available
to them, and how to use them when
they need it, so they can be in control of
their own lives

This strategy is rightly ambitious for us and for our children. The targets we have set out
describing what our early help offer will look in 2030 will challenge us; however, by working
together with our partners, our families and our children, we are confident that they can all be
achieved. 

Richard Baldwin
Director of Children, Education and Families

During the lifetime of this strategy we will be working to achieve four interlocking ambitions.
Each ambition is focused on one of the four quadrants that make up our early help model - our
children, our families, our practitioners and our resources.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 14

WELCOME

Page 48



Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203015 Page 49



Early help is a collaborative approach not a provision. It relies on our local partners working
together effectively with our families to identify who needs help and then to meet their varied
needs. Our Early Intervention and Family Support Service (EIFS) and universal health visiting
service take a leading and proactive role in this provision. 

Simply put, by early help we mean the total support that improves a family’s resilience and
outcomes, or reduces the chance of a problem getting worse. Our early help services are focused
on providing the right help when our families need it, whatever the age of the child. Early help
goes from pre-birth all the way through the life of the child, at all life phases. 

We are focused on providing services:

Early in the
life of a problem 

Early to respond
if problems
re-emerge

Early to avoid the
need for statutory

intervention

Early help is how we describe our approach on a whole range of
individual social, health and educational issues when providing
support to our children and their families as soon as problems
emerge or re-emerge.

What is early help?

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 16 Page 50



The benefits of early help 

Early help has many benefits – both
to the child and to their family directly,
as well as to society as a whole.

Early help approaches often focus on supporting four key
aspects of a child’s development as these have the
potential to make the biggest difference and provide
benefits throughout their life:

Life outcome benefits 

Physical development 

Children develop their physical skills and abilities from birth and throughout their
childhood. Physical development provides the basis for positive development in all other
areas. Gross and fine motor experiences develop incrementally throughout early
childhood, starting with sensory explorations and the development of their strength, co-
ordination and positional awareness. The skills provide the foundation for developing
healthy bodies and healthy lifestyle choices.

Gross and fine motor skills, healthy bodies and healthy lifestyles 

Cognitive development 

The development of cognitive skills is essential for the life outcomes of each and every
child. From birth, children start to acquire speech and language skills which help them to
engage with the world around them. An ability to read and write, numeracy capabilities
and understanding of logical problem-solving are essential underpinning skills for a
successful and happy life. Positive cognitive development is strongly associated with a
child’s success in school and entry into the workforce. 

Confidence in own abilities, communication and language skills,
attainment in education and entry into the workforce 

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203017

WHAT IS EARLY HELP?

Page 51



Emotional development 

Children develop their emotional skills from births by watching and learning from the
adults around them. Secure, stable and loving homes offer children the best possible
start in their lives. Social and emotional development involves children’s awareness of
their own emotional needs and the emotional needs of others. It also encompasses the
development of their self-esteem and their ability to manage negative feelings. What's
more, it is strongly associated with a child’s ability to form positive relationships with
others and a reduced risk of depression and other mental health outcomes.

Social connections, emotional wellbeing, self-esteem and mental health

Behavioural development 

Behavioural development involves a child’s ability to monitor and regulate their own
behaviour, attention and impulses. Self-regulatory skills are highly associated with an
ability to form positive relationships with others, as well as success in school and later
life. Difficulties in behavioural self-regulation during childhood are highly predictive of
children’s involvement in criminal activity during the teenage years and adulthood. As
children develop their skills, they learn how to manage impulsive behaviours and
thoughts, and develop respect for themselves and others around them. These factors
ensure that they can make a positive impact on their local community. 

Self-regulation, impulsivity, respect, and safe life choices and decision
making

WHAT IS EARLY HELP?

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 18 Page 52



Child maltreatment

Child maltreatment includes neglect, physical, sexual and emotional abuse, and
fabricated or induced illness. All aspects of the child's health, development and wellbeing
can be affected. The effects of child maltreatment can last throughout adulthood and
include anxiety, depression, substance misuse, and self-destructive, oppositional or
antisocial behaviours. In adulthood, there may be difficulties in forming or sustaining
close relationships, sustaining employment and parenting capacity. Physical abuse may
result in lifelong disability or physical scarring and harmful psychological consequences
and may even be fatal. 

Substance misuse 

Children who are using and misusing substances will often continue this into adulthood.
Health inequalities relating to substance misuse are evident, with vulnerable groups
(such as those excluded from school, young offenders and care leavers) far more likely to
experience substance misuse problems. Factors that contribute to the emergence of
substance abuse in children include behavioural, emotional, and environmental factors.
The direct and indirect effects of alcohol and other drugs on children lead to many
adverse health and safety risks for the child, their family and community. The younger a
child initiates alcohol and other drug use, the higher the risk for serious health
consequences and adult substance abuse.

Building on these, early help often targets four additional ‘threats’ to a child’s development.
These threats are strongly associated with adverse outcomes during adolescence and
adulthood: 

Things to be aware of

WHAT IS EARLY HELP?

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203019 Page 53



Risky sexualised behaviour

Children form bonds with others at all stages of their development. Forming healthy,
positive relationships help children feel safe and supported as they grow up. But being in
an unhealthy relationship negatively affects a young person’s wellbeing. Unhealthy
relationships can encourage or develop into risky sexual behaviour. This puts people at
risk of Sexually Transmitted Infections (STIs), unplanned pregnancy, and being in a
sexual relationship before being mature enough to know what makes a healthy
relationship. Teens and young adults are at higher risk of this than adults.

Contextual safeguarding

As children grow and develop, they are influenced by a whole range of environments and
people outside of their family or home environment, such as in their school or college, in
their local community, in their peer groups or online. Children may encounter risk in any
of these environments. Sometimes the different contexts are inter-related and can mean
that children may encounter multiple risks. This sometimes found within coercive
relationships (where one partner exerts power and influence over the other partner as a
way of trying to control their behaviour), or within young people involved criminal
exploitation. 

Contextual safeguarding is focused on understanding these risks, engaging with the child
and helping to keep them safe. It's an approach that's often been used to apply to
adolescents, though the lessons can equally be applied to younger children, especially in
today's changing world.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 20

WHAT IS EARLY HELP?

Page 54



£412
million

Kent

£270
per person 

£130
million

Croydon

£342
per person 

£103
million

Greenwich

£374
per person 

£68
million

Bexley

£281
per person 

£99
million

Lewisham

£331
per person 

£97
million

Lambeth

£299
per person 

£17
billion

£83
million

£287
per person 

£256
per person

The Early Intervention Foundation (EIF) undertook
research in 2016 to understand and quantify the costs
of ‘late intervention’ [1]. This is the acute, statutory and
essential benefits and services that are required when
children experience significant difficulties in life, many
of which might have been prevented through earlier
intervention. 

Nearly £17 billion per year – equivalent to £287 per
person – is spent in England and Wales by the state on
the cost of late intervention. 

Financial benefits 

In Bromley, this figure was calculated as £83 million per
year – or £256 per person. 

This is significantly lower than many of our neighbouring
authorities:

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203021

WHAT IS EARLY HELP?

Source: The cost of late intervention: EIF analysis, Early
Intervention Foundation, 2016 (eif.org.uk/report/the-cost-
of-late-intervention-eif-analysis-2016)

Page 55

https://www.eif.org.uk/report/the-cost-of-late-intervention-eif-analysis-2016


When we talk about early help, it is easy to think that it simply
relates to the early years of the child; however, this is far from
the actual situation. 

Early help, at every age

We have provided a child's life map to illustrate examples of what early help services can be
useful at different ages. This is in addition to the universal services available across the
borough, such as schools and GPs. This is not a comprehensive list and is only for illustrative
purposes. You should check eligibility requirements (including ages) with the services directly.

Before birth and
first few days of life

Ante-natal and
newborn screening

Midwifery

Health visiting
and Family Nurse

Partnership 

Perinatal mental
health support

Pre-birth and birth

Well baby clinics

Baby

First 2 years 

Childcare 

Nursery settings 

Parent and toddler
groups

Children and Family
Centres

Bromley Brighter
Beginnings

Community
paediatrician

2 to 5 years 

Toddler

Pre-schools and
early years settings

Funded early
education and

childcare

Early Years
Pupil Premium

Disability Access
Fund

Bromley Children
Project

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 22

WHAT IS EARLY HELP?

Page 56



Common
Assessment
Framework

School nursing

Pupil Premium

Speech and
Language Therapy

Bromley Y

Teens

Sexual health service

Youth support
programme

Youth justice service

Preparing for
adulthood

Senco support

Primary

5 to 11 years 11 to 18 years

Adulthood

WHAT IS EARLY HELP?

bromley.gov.uk
bromleyparentinghub.org.uk
bromley.gov.uk/localoffer
bromleyiass.org.uk
bromley0to19.co.uk
bromleytherapyhub.org.uk
bromley.simplyconnect.uk

To find local services, visit:

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203023 Page 57

http://www.bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/
http://www.bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/
http://www.bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/
http://www.bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/
http://www.bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/
http://www.bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/
http://www.bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/


Bromley has well-established and mature early help
arrangements in place which make a difference to children and
families.

Our EIFS offers a range of support through a single team shaped around five elements:

Early Intervention and Family Support 

Early help in Bromley

At the heart of this are our Early Intervention and Family Support (EIFS) and universal health
visiting services. We believe that our continued investment in our early help services is critical to
successfully diverting children away from statutory intervention. This gives us strong
foundations which we can build on over the lifetime of this strategy. 

Bromley Children
Project 

Children and
Family Centres 

Common
Assessment
Framework (CAF)

Early Intervention and 
Family Support 

Children’s
Contact Centres 

Information, Advice
and Support Service
(IASS)

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 24 Page 58



Children’s Contact Centres 

Safe, neutral, welcoming spaces for children to spend time with parents, or other
people important to them, such as grandparents

Information, Advice and Support Service (IASS)

Advice and support for children who have disabilities and special educational
needs and their families 

Bromley Children Project 

Family support, parenting courses and seminars, and a parenting hotline, along
with quality targeted parenting and one to one family support

Children and Family Centres 

A wide range of services, activities and support for all families with services
targeted at children aged under 18 and expectant parents

Common Assessment Framework (CAF)

A whole family assessment tool for all professionals supporting families so the
family only have to “say it once”

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203025

EARLY HELP IN BROMLEY

Page 59



Our health visiting service is part of the Bromley 0 to 19
Public Health Service provided by Bromley Healthcare. It
supports parents and carers to give their babies, children
and young people the best possible start in life. 

The service provides:

Health visiting service

a series of ten
health checks,

starting with an
antenatal contact

advice and support about a
child’s development, growth,

healthy eating, physical
activity, emotional wellbeing

and immunisations

an antenatal visit before
the baby is due and

appointments and support
during the first few years

of a child’s life 

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 26

EARLY HELP IN BROMLEY

Page 60



A collaborative approach
Our early help approach is shaped around our commitment of shifting the balance of power, so
our work is increasingly family-led and not led by practitioners. An element of this involves
families being supported to come together to utilise their own resources and strengths to
overcome their challenges.

Quality work with families already takes place across Bromley, day in and day out, by schools,
health services, children and family centres, early years’ settings, community services and
support, and a range of other agencies and services.

The following image illustrates the early help ecosystem across our borough. Split into four
layers, it can help you to visualise the collective nature of early help which, by working together,
helps create nurturing homes and thriving childhoods:

Black - The child and the family at the centre 

Green - Support by their relatives, friends and local community that help keep them
resilient and build on their own strengths

Magenta - Universal services such as schools, GPs, employment and social support are
shown in across four life areas – health, community, learning and money

Wine - The more specialist services that dip into early help and which families can use
when they have more complex needs

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203027

EARLY HELP IN BROMLEY

Page 61



Children and families at the heart

Charities
and support

groups
Family

and friends
Local

businesses
The local

community
The local

neighbour-
hood

Online
help and
support

Faith
groups

hospitals
2

maternity
service

1

well baby clinics
8

GP surgeries
44

pharmacies
60

dentists
50+

school nursing
service

1

opticians
50+

children and
family centres

6

youth centres
6

libraries
15

leisure centres
6

open spaces
and parks

129

country parks
3

railway stations
26

bus routes
20+

Emotional and
mental health

Therapists

Speech and
language 

Housing
care

Community
paediatrics

Ambulance

A&E

Social
housing

Probation

Housing
advice

Domestic
abuse

Social care

Drug and 
alcohol misuse 

Fire and
rescue

Youth justice
system

Police

THE BROMLEY EARLY HELP ECOSYSTEM
UN

IV
ER

SA
L 

SE
RV

IC
ES

AD
DI

TI
O

N
AL

 S
UP

PO
RT

 S
ER

VI
CE

S
UN

IVERSAL SERVICES
ADDITIO

N
AL SUPPO

RT SERVICES

Family Nurse
Partnership

Sexual
health

Page 62



childminders
470

nurseries
88

pre-schools
101

Youth support
programme

Home
tuition

Elective home
education

Special
schools

Alternative
educational

provision

voluntary
organisations

500+

business
15,000+

industry
groups

17

average weekly
earnings

£787

local learning
shops

2
adults in

employment

78%

Benefits and
income support

Jobcentre
Plus

Supported
internships 

Bromley Housing
Portal

Traineeships and
apprenticeships

Funded early
education 

Children and families at the heart

Charities
and support

groups
Family

and friends
Local

businesses
The local

community
The local

neighbour-
hood

Online
help and
support

Faith
groups

primary
schools

78
secondary

schools

19
independent

schools

16

sixth form
centres

28
further education

college

1
adult education 

college

1

Special educational
needs 

Specialist
colleges

THE BROMLEY EARLY HELP ECOSYSTEM
UN

IV
ER

SA
L 

SE
RV

IC
ES

AD
DI

TI
O

N
AL

 S
UP

PO
RT

 S
ER

VI
CE

S
UN

IVERSAL SERVICES
ADDITIO

N
AL SUPPO

RT SERVICES

Page 63



Children with no
additional needs
whose health and
developmental needs
can be met by
universal services

Children with
additional needs that
can be met through
the provision of ‘early
help’ - a referral to
children’s social care
is NOT required

Children with
complex multiple
needs who need
statutory and
specialist services - 
a referral to
children’s social care
is required

Children in acute
need - require
immediate referral to
children’s social care
and/or the police

Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 Tier 4

FACTORS TO CONSIDER

including the child’s health,
family and social
relationships, including
primary attachment, and
emotional and behavioural
development

Development of the baby,
child or young person 

including access to and use
of community resources;
living conditions; housing;
employment status; legal
status

Environmental
factors

including basic care,
emotional warmth,
stimulation, guidance and
boundaries, stability and
parenting styles and
attitudes, and whether these
meet the child’s physical,
educational, emotional and
social needs

Parental and family
factors 

Children and families at the heart

Understanding levels of need
Our early help approach in line with the Bromley
Safeguarding Children Partnership’s (BSCP) Thresholds
of Needs.

Early help in Bromley includes proactive and planned
support for those children who are ‘stepping down’ from
statutory social work interventions or specialist care. 

The approach will also support those children and
families who need to ‘step up’ into statutory children’s
social care.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 30

EARLY HELP IN BROMLEY

Page 64



A relational approach
Our early help practice is driven by the Bromley
Relationship Model (BRM), a tool developed by our
Children’s Social Care services. 

The BRM sets out how our behaviours, standards and
systems help our practitioners to support our families
with consistent, purposeful and engaging work.

VISION

Children and families at the centre

PURPOSE

Protected
Secure
Well
Safe

VALUES

Respect
Ambition
Empower
Learn 
Compassion

AIMS

Purposeful, open and compassionate work
Reflective, critical thinking and analysis 
Assessing and planning with families 
Opportunity for change and reflection 
Timescales and challenge 
Wishes and feelings

CORPORATE BEHAVIOURS

Accountability and responsibility
Building relationships
Communication
Continuous improvement

SOCIAL WORK BEHAVIOURS

Questioning
Equality 
Neutrality 
Clarity of role

Communication
Child centred
Curiosity

ENABLERS

Professional relationships
Practice methods

Practice tools
Reflective supervision

Learning
Joint working

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203031

EARLY HELP IN BROMLEY

Page 65



Our borough

22%

KENT

CROYDON

SURREY

LAMBETH

BEXLEY

BROMLEY

TO CENTRAL
LONDON

TO KENT
COUNTRYSIDE

SOUTHWARK

LEWISHAM

GREENWICH

330,000
people live in Bromley

73,400

of the whole population

are aged 18 and under
26%

Aged 0 to 4

(19,100)

27%
Aged 5 to 9

(19,500)

27%
Aged 10 to 14

(19,800)

20%
Aged 15 to 18

(14,800)

Female

49%

(35,600)

Male
(37,700)

We do not currently have data
on children who have any other gender identities 

51%

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 32

Source: Phase one of Census 2021 results - First results, Official for National Statistics,
2022 (https://census.gov.uk/census-2021-results/phase-one-first-results)

Page 66

https://census.gov.uk/census-2021-results/phase-one-first-results


69%

79%

of our children aged 18
and under are from

White heritage 

of our whole population
are from White heritage 

135,036
households

6,500
pupils require support for

Special Educational Needs

2,900
pupils have an

Educational, Health and
Care (EHC) plan 

13%
of children live
in low-income

families

4th
least deprived

London borough

Largest
London borough

by area

51%
designated as
green belt land

129
open spaces

and parks

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203033

OUR BOROUGH

Source: Various sources accessed throughout 2021 and 2022

Page 67



310,000
2011

330,000
2021

339,000
2031

Our borough in numbers 

Bromley is a place where families
want to live and want to raise their
children. Over the past 20 years we
have seen the number of households
increase by 5% (from 128,717 to
135,036). It is expected that the
number of households will continue
to increase by 3% over the next 20
years (to 139,684).

Number of households in our borough

128,717 
2001

135,036
2021

139,684
2041

9% increase
between 2001 and 2041

10% increase
between 2011 and 2041

Since 2011 we have also seen the number of residents increase by 6% (from 310,000 in
2011 to 330,000 in 2021). We are expecting that the number of residents will continue to
grow by a further 3% between 2021 and 2031 (339,000) with a smaller increase of under
1% between 2031 and 2041 (341,000). This means that in 30 years the number of people
living in our borough will have increased by 10% which equates to over 30,000 additional
people. 

Number of people living in our borough

341,000
2041

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 34

Source: London Population Projections Explorer, Greater London Authority (GLA) City Intelligence,
2022 (https://apps.london.gov.uk/population-projections) 

Source: Housing Strategy 2019 -2029, London Borough of Bromley

Page 68



Number of children aged 18 and under
living in our borough

72,800
2011

73,200
2021

66,800
2031

1% increase
between 2011 and 2021

We have seen the number of children aged 18 and under living in our borough increase by 1%
(from 72,800 in 2011 to 73,200 in 2021). We are expecting that the number of children will
decrease by 9% in 2031 (66,800) and then a further 6% by 2041 (62,500). Overall, we are
expecting the number of children aged 18 and under living in our borough to decrease by 15%
(10,700) between 2021 and 2041. 

Between 2011 and 2021, the proportion of residents living in the borough who are aged 18 and
under decreased by 1% from 23% to 22%. We are expecting this decrease to continue with a 2%
reduction in 2031 (20%) and a further 2% reduction in 2041 (18%). 

62,500
2041

9% decrease
between 2021 and 2031

6% decrease
between 2031 and 2041

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203035

OUR BOROUGH IN NUMBERS 

Source: London Population Projections Explorer, Greater London Authority (GLA) City Intelligence,
2022 (https://apps.london.gov.uk/population-projections) 

Page 69



16%
2011

21%
2021

26%
2041

10% increase
between 2011 and 2041

 

Our borough is becoming increasingly
more diverse. In 2011, 16% of people
living in Bromley identified as being from
a Black, Asian or other ethnic heritage.
By 2021 this proportion had increased by
5% to 21%. It is expected to increase
further by 2041 to 26% (a 5% increase). 

Over the same time period, we have seen
the number of children living in Bromley
identifying as being from Black, Asian or
other ethnic heritage increase by 8%
from 23% in 2011 to 31% in 2021. This
proportion is expected to continue to
increase by a further 7% by 2041 (to
38%). 

Ethnic breakdown of the people living and
learning in our borough

Our school population differs from our resident population as there is a significant migration of
pupils from Bromley into other local authority schools and from other local authorities into our
schools. In 2019, just over 4,500 children living in Bromley attended a school outside of the
borough and almost 5,900 children living outside of Bromley attended a school in our borough.

This affects the proportion of children attending our schools who are identifying as being from
different heritages. For example, the number of children identifying as White heritage in our
schools in 2019 was 67% compared to our resident children proportion which was 70%. 

Percentage of people living in Bromley
from a Black, Asian or other ethnic heritage

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 36

OUR BOROUGH IN NUMBERS 

Source: London Population Projections Explorer, Greater London Authority (GLA) City Intelligence, 2022 (https://apps.london.gov.uk/population-
projections/); School Atlas, Greater London Authority (GLA) City Intelligence, 2020 (https://apps.london.gov.uk/schools)

Page 70



The rate of teenage conceptions in our
borough decreased from 19.5 (per 1,000) in
2013 to 13.7 in 2018 for those aged under
18. During this timeframe, we also saw a
decrease in the rate of under 16 becoming
pregnant, from 5.5 to 2.0. Between 2015/16
and 2019/20, the rate of births by teenage
mothers stayed consistent at 0.3. 

The proportion of babies born underweight
is below that of both the London and
England averages. Additionally, the
proportion of babies born prematurely (less
than 37 weeks gestation) is below that of
both the London and England averages. 

Pregnancy and birth 

19.5
2013

13.7
2018

 5.8 decrease
between 2013 and 2018

Rate of teenage conceptions
for those aged under 18

 Proportion of infant deaths

3.0
2015/17

2.4
2017/19

0.6 decrease

We have seen a reduction in the proportion
of infant deaths in our borough between
2015-17 (3.0 per 1,000) and 2017-19 (2.4).
The borough’s stillbirth rate and neonatal
mortality rate are below that of both the
London and England averages. 

Whilst the proportion of mothers smoking in
their early pregnancy is significantly lower
than the England average, the proportion of
mothers smoking and identifying as White
heritage is above the England average. 

The Family Nurse Partnership has been
established in the borough for seven years
and works with young parents, delivering an
evidence-based programme from early
pregnancy through to toddlerhood.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203037

OUR BOROUGH IN NUMBERS 

Source: Child and Maternal Health: Public Health dataset, Public Health England Fingertips, 
Public Health England, 2022 (https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles/data)

Page 71

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles/data


17% 13%

In general, Bromley is an affluent borough. We are
the 4th least deprived of the 33 London Boroughs.
Our average earnings for full time workers in
Bromley is £787 per week which is above both the
London (£728) and national (£613) averages.

However, we know that this wealth is not equally
distributed across the borough and there are
proportions of our families who are not as
financially secure. 

8.3% of households in Bromley do not have an
adult in paid employment. Whilst this number
compares favourably with both the London (12%)
and national (13.9%) averages, this still equates to
8,700 households.

Deprivation in our borough

2011 2016

4% decrease
between 2011 and 2016

Percentage of children
in low-income families

In the five years from 2011 to 2016, the percentage of children in low-income families has
decreased by 3.7% from 16.7% to 13%. We want to continue this trend over the next decade.

Our six Children and Family Centres are located in the most deprived areas in our borough. This
ensures that the services are within easy reach of the parts of our borough with the greatest
concentration of deprivation. 

Our Economic Development Plan and Regeneration strategy are aimed at creating the right
environment for reducing deprivation and increasing employment options for our residents. 

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 38

OUR BOROUGH IN NUMBERS 

Source: NOMIS, 2021 (www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157264/report.aspx); Trust for London, 2022
(www.trustforlondon.org.uk/data/boroughs/bromley-poverty-and-inequality-indicators)

Page 72

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/


460 493

872

More than 97,000 people used our Children and Family
Centres in 2019/20, which was the last full year
reporting year prior to the impact of central and local
Government measures taken to combat the
unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic.

972 families were supported by the Bromley Children's
Project during 2020/21 which has increased by 12%
since 2017/18. These families incorporated over 1,700
children – an increase of 24% since 2017/18.

Parenting support 

2017/18

Families supported by
the Bromley Children Project 

972
2020/21

2018/17

Family support assessments
completed

2020/21

During 2020/21, 493 family support assessments
were completed – up from 459 in 2018/19. The
Bromley Children Project also supported 169
families who were stepped down from statutory
social care support during 2019/20. At the same
time, 46 families were stepped up from early help
into statutory social care support.

In 2021/22, 588 CAFs were undertaken which is a decrease of 21% on 2018/19 (709). 121 CAFs
were stepped down from statutory social care support during 2019/20. At the same time, 215
families were stepped up from early help into statutory social care support.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203039

OUR BOROUGH IN NUMBERS 

Source: Performance Reporting – Children’s Scrutiny Dataset,
London Borough of Bromley, 2021 and 2022 

Page 73



50.8
Bromley

Average Attainment 8 score

44.7
England

Children who attend educational settings in Bromley tend to gain high levels of qualifications.
Due to the changes in how the Government published attainment data during to the COVID-19
pandemic, the latest data we have is from 2019. 

Educational attainment in our borough

39.7%
2015/16

Average Attainment 8 score:
children eligible for free school meals

38.8%
2019/20

In 2019 the Average Attainment 8 score for all pupils in
the borough was 50.8 which compares favourably to the
England average of 44.7. 51% of pupils in Bromley
achieved Grade 5 or above in the 2017 reformed English
and maths GCSEs which compares to 40% across
England. 

This is further reflected in the performance of our pupils
at primary school where 75% of pupils met the expected
standard in 2019 compared to 65% nationally.

What’s more, 97% of our primary and secondary schools
are ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ and 99% of our Early Years
settings graded ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’.

However, we know that the educational attainment of
children who are eligible for Free School Meals (an income
related benefit) is below that of the average population.
The Average Attainment 8 score for children who are
known to be eligible for free school meals decreased from
39.7% in 2015-16 to 38.8% in 2019-20. At the same time,
the Average Attainment 8 score of all other pupils
increased from 55% in 2015-16 to 56.4% in 2019-20.

21%
2013

Achieving expected standard in all early
learning goals: gap between children eligible

for free school meals and all pupils

20%
2019

This is also reflected in our early years’ cohort. In
2013, 39% of children who are eligible for Free School
Meals achieved at least the expected standard in all
early learning goals (ELG) compared to 60% of all
pupils (a difference of 21%). In 2019, 57% of those
eligible for Free Schools Meals achieved this
compared to 77% of all pupils (a difference of 20%).

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 40

OUR BOROUGH IN NUMBERS 

Source: Performance Reporting – Children’s Scrutiny Dataset, London Borough of Bromley, 
2021 and 2022 

Page 74



12%
2013

233
2011/12

This difference, albeit smaller, is also evidenced
for those children who identify as being from
Black heritage. 

In 2013 48% of children identifying as Black
heritage achieved all the ELG (a difference of
12%) which increased to 67% in 2019 (a
difference of 10% on all pupils).

Achieving expected standard in all early
learning goals: gap between children

identifying as Black heritage and all pupils

10%
2019

Children electively home educated

314
2019/20

In 2019/20, 314 children were electively home educated
which is a significant increase from 233 in 2011/12.
When children are educated at home, they can often be
‘unseen’ by statutory services. This reduced oversight
can lead to concerns being identified later or not at all.
Those children and their families are offered holistic
support based on their identified needs.

The Education Welfare Service (EWS)
helps identify, monitor and track children
missing or not receiving a suitable
education. From April 2019 to March
2020, the EWS received 530 Child Missing
Education referrals in total. The EWS
received 1,980 ‘Intention to Delete from
School Roll’ notifications during the same
timeframe. All notifications are tracked
and verified before deletion is confirmed
with the school and records updated.

Our Education, Training and Employment
strategy is focused on helping create
opportunities for our children to stay in
education, training or employment as
required by the law. This additionally
focused on those who have additional
needs and require additional support. 

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203041

OUR BOROUGH IN NUMBERS 

Page 75



3,833

Referrals made to the
Bromley Y ‘front door’ 

2021/22

Mental health problems have important implications for every aspect of a child’s life, including
their ability to engage with education, make and keep friends, have constructive family
relationships and make their own way in the world.

Parents are screened at each health visiting contact to identify mental health needs and offered
further assessment and intervention or referral, where indicated. There is a Specialist Perinatal
and Infant Mental Health Health Visitor and Champions who lead on Health and Wellbeing
interventions. The Bromley Multiagency Early Years Consortium meet to coordinate a strategy to
support infant mental health.

particular concern are the hundreds of children and young 
people presenting with self-harm, suicidal thoughts, or even a history of suicide attempts. The
number of children and young people presenting in mental health crisis at A&E continues to rise
and referrals to Eating Disorder services are high compared to other London boroughs. Bromley
has a high proportion of drug users with a co-occurring mental health condition. The number of
young people admitted to a Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) inpatient
unit is falling; however, the rate of child inpatient admissions for mental health conditions at
33.3 per 100,000 is better than the national average. 

More than 20% of pregnant women in Bromley reported a history of mental ill health at booking
for pregnancy care and GP data shows that recorded depression in adults is the third highest in
London and the rate is increasing. Parental mental health has a significant impact on the
emotional wellbeing of their children.

Through our Health and Wellbeing Strategy we have set out how we will be working across the
whole system to reduce health inequalities. This work is strengthened through our Child and
Adolescent Mental Health Services Transformation Plan.

2,600

Emotional and mental health and wellbeing

Around 2,600 referrals are made to the Bromley Y ‘front
door’ service in a full year. Based on referral numbers in
2021/22, this is expected to rise by 47% to 3,833 referrals.

3% of our school pupils have social, emotional and mental
health needs which is higher than the London (2.5%) and
national (2.7%) averages. Demand for early intervention
services are increasing each year, the majority because of
relationship, school or family issues. Anxiety and mood
problems are mentioned in more than half of the cases. Of

average

47% increase

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 42

OUR BOROUGH IN NUMBERS 

Source: Performance Reporting – Children’s Scrutiny Dataset, London Borough of Bromley, 2021 and 2022; Bromley Community Wellbeing
Report Report CEF22007, London Borough of Bromley, 2022; and Child and Maternal Health: Public Health dataset, Public Health England
Fingertips, Public Health England, 2022 (https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles/data) 

Page 76

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles/data


125

The proportion of families reporting as homelessness is below both the London and England
averages. Families account for the majority of accepted homeless households with 61% of
accepted homeless households in temporary accommodation being lone parents. 

Over the past 4 years the proportion of homelessness acceptances from ethnic groups has
increased. Since 2012/13 the number of people from Black, Asian or other ethnic heritage
communities accepted as homeless increased by 38%, compared to the 7% of people who
identify as white.

Families experiencing homelessness and
needing housing support

125 young people were supported in the youth justice system in 2018/19. 

Of these, 23% had witnessed domestic violence or abuse in their household. 36%
experienced fixed-term exclusions and 14% had been permanently excluded. 91% were
male which compares to the borough’s population of male children which is 51%. 56%
identified as White heritage which is below the borough average of 69%. 

Young people who are part of the youth justice system are supported by a coordinated
package of support, such as youth workers, education welfare and specialist nurses.

The work to develop and strengthen our youth justice service is set out in our Youth
Justice strategy. Through the Safer Bromley Partnership strategy we are additionally
focused on reducing youth crime across the borough. 

Children entering the youth justice system 

young people aged 16-24
accepted as homeless

2016/17
197

Young people are one of the groups most vulnerable
to homelessness. In 2016/17 125 young people aged
16-24 were accepted as homeless which represents a
reduction from 197 during the previous year.

Through our Homelessness and Housing strategies
we have set out how we will support those who have
additional housing needs or are at risk of
homelessness.

2015/15

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203043

OUR BOROUGH IN NUMBERS 

Source: Homelessness Strategy, 2019 to 2029, and Homelessness Strategy 2018 to 2023, 
London Borough of Bromley

Source: Youth Justice Strategy 2020 to 2023, London Borough of Bromley

Page 77



One of the difficulties in capturing data around domestic abuse is that many incidents are not
reported. Most of the data we have is linked to police reporting so it can be quite difficult to
gauge an accurate picture of how prevalent the issue is in our communities. 

During the 12 months between June 2019 and May 2020, there were:

Families experiencing domestic abuse

4,776
domestic abuse
incidents

3,037
domestic abuse
offences

506
sexual
offences

There were 22,362 reported cases of domestic abuse between 2014 and 2019.

In 2021 we published our first Intergenerational Domestic Abuse strategy which sets out how
we work develop and improve our services over the next few years. Through the Safer Bromley
Partnership strategy we are additionally focused on reducing violence against women and girls
across the borough. 

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 44

OUR BOROUGH IN NUMBERS 

Source: An Intergenerational Domestic Abuse Strategy for 2021 to 2024, London Borough of Bromley

Page 78



Enquiries dealt with by our
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)

A key aspect of early help is to tackle issues as early as possible to stop them multiplying or
becoming more impactful on the child and their family. Through our early parental help and
support systems, such as the Bromley Children Project and the CAF, we are working to keep
children out of the statutory care system wherever possible.

Children entering the care system 

8,912
2019/20

7,721
2018/19

47% increase

During 2019/20 we saw an increase in the
number enquiries made about children with
our children’s social care service. Our Multi
Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) dealt with
8,912 enquiries compared to 7,721 the year
before. 

This increase was reflected in the number of
referrals made to our children’s social care
service with 4,032 referrals being made in
2021/22 compared to 3,422 in 2018/19. 

Between 2018/19 and 2019/20, we also saw an increase in the percentage of referrals that
were received within 12 months of a previous referral – from 14% to 20%. 

The number of children in need in the borough has fluctuated during the previous 2 years
between just over 800 and just under 950 at any one time. 411 children had an Initial Child
Protection Conference that resulted in a Child Protection Plan, up from 340 in 2018/19. At any
one time, we have somewhere between 250-300 children on a Child Protection Plan. 

We have continued to have under 350 children in our care. What’s more, we have approximately
200 care experienced young people who we support as care leavers. 

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203045

OUR BOROUGH IN NUMBERS 

Source: Performance Reporting – Children’s Scrutiny Dataset, London Borough of Bromley,
2021 and 2022 

Page 79



Our borough, the village

One of the easiest ways of picturing the make-up of the borough is
picturing it as a village of 100 children. If our borough was a village,
this is how we would look:

Female (49)

We do not currently have
data on children who have
any other gender identities 

Male (51)

Aged 0 to 4 (22)

Aged 5 to 9 (27)

Aged 10 to 14 (27)

Aged 15 to 18 (20)

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 46

Source: London Population Projections Explorer, Greater London Authority (GLA) City Intelligence,
2022 (https://apps.london.gov.uk/population-projections) 

Page 80



would be White British (62)

would be Black African (8)

would be White other (7)

would be White & Black Caribbean (4)

would be White & Asian (3)

would be Mixed other (3)

would be Black Caribbean (3)

would be Indian (2)

would be Black other (2)

would be Asian other (2)

would be White & Black African (1)

would be another ethnic group (1)

would be Chinese (1)

would be Bangladeshi (1)

would live in low-income families (13)

would be eligible for Free School Meals (11)

would require support for Special Educational
Needs (11)

would live in a home without an adult in paid
employment (8)

would receive specialist support for their
emotional and mental health needs (3)

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203047

OUR BOROUGH, THE VILLAGE

Page 81



These values will help us achieve our four ambitions which link together to provide a holistic
package for all our children and families. Each ambition is focused on one of the four
quadrants that make up our early help offer: our children, our families, our practitioners and our
resources. By bringing all four elements together, we know that we can achieve our vision.

In Bromley we have a clear and consistent vision that is
reflected across our borough plan, our CYPP and this strategy,
all of which are underpinned by a clear set of values.

Our vision for 2030

Our dream
Our early help ecosystem makes sure that every child in Bromley

has a bright, safe and optimistic future.

Our ambitions
Our children. Our families. Our professionals. Our resources.

Our values
Respect. Ambition. Empower. Learn. Compassion.

Our corporate behaviours
Accountability & responsibility. Building relationships. Communication. Continuous improvement.

Our BRM behaviours
Curiosity. Questioning. Equality. Neutrality. Clarity of role. Communication. Child centred.

Our vision 
We want Bromley to be an excellent place for children to grow up, thrive and have the

best life chances in families who flourish and are happy to call Bromley home.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 48 Page 82



OUR
CHILDREN

Our children experience loving and safe
homes with consistent and positive
parenting which nurtures them and
helps them flourish

OUR
FAMILIES

Our families are informed about the
range of services and support available
to them, and how to use them when
they need it, so they can be in control of
their own lives

OUR
RESOURCES

Our resources are focused on providing
responsive, dynamic and holistic
integrated services across health,
education and social care which identify
need and provide support at the earliest
opportunity to meet needs and prevent
escalation of concern

OUR
PRACTITIONERS

Our practitioners work within a culture
that embraces relational and
compassionate practice where the
strengths of our families are
understood and built upon

Our ambitions 

Our early help ecosystem makes sure that every child in
Bromley has a bright, safe and optimistic future

Our dream

To make Bromley an excellent place for children to grow
up, thrive and have the best life chances in families who
flourish and are happy to call Bromley home

Our vision 

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203049

OUR VISION FOR 2030

Page 83



Underpinning the achievement of our vision and our ambitions, and everything else that we do,
are our corporate values of Respect, Ambition, Empower and Learn (REAL):

Our values

This means we must have respect for
ourselves, the people we work with and
the people that we deal with when
providing our services

Respect 

This means we must empower
ourselves, other agencies and the
community to deliver services that meet
the needs of our residents in the most
appropriate and efficient manner

Empower

This means we must have ambition for
ourselves and our community which
drives our efforts to improve services
and find new ways of working – we
should never accept second best for
our residents

Ambition

This means we must learn from others
and our own experiences to improve
and extend our own performance and
that of the organisation

Learn

In addition to our REAL values that have been
embedded across the Council, we have a fifth
value of compassion that covers our services
for our children and their families:

This means we must offer care and
support through relationships based on
empathy, respect and dignity by leading
with kindness and warmth 

Compassion

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 50

OUR VISION FOR 2030

Page 84



Behaviours are at the heart of everything we do. From engaging with challenging work to
conducting meetings with colleagues, they influence how we interact and work every day. We
have four key behaviours that form the core of our competency framework for our managers
and employees:

Our behaviours

Willingly owning and understanding the
consequences of one’s own actions and
behaviour at an individual, job and
organisational level

Accountability & responsibility 

Consciously striving to promote mutual
understanding and respect to achieve
individual, service and organisational
goals

Building relationships 

An open and honest approach involving
listening and responding in a manner
appropriate to the other person, group
or audience

Communication

Genuinely wanting to do things better
and striving to be more effective and
efficient at an individual, job and
organisational level

Continuous improvement 

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203051

OUR VISION FOR 2030

Page 85



On top of those corporate behaviours, our practice when working with our children and their
families is driven by the seven behaviours from our BRM:

Curiosity - Our practitioners understand the perspectives and feelings of
individual family members and clearly communicate this with them.

Questioning - Our practitioners convey an understanding that motivation for
change, and the ability to move toward that change, resides mostly within the
family and therefore they focus on efforts to elicit and expand it.

Equality - Our practitioners behave as if their work with families is occurring
between two equal partners, both of whom have knowledge that might be useful
in solving the problem under consideration.

Neutrality - Our practitioners actively foster the perception of choice by our
families, as opposed to attempting to control their behaviour or choices.

Clarity of role - Our practitioners set out and maintain a focus for their work
whilst demonstrating flexibility in response to the agenda of our families.

Communication - Our practitioners are clear about the reasons for professional
involvement and can communicate clearly and honestly with the family.

Child centred - Our practitioners ensure that the child is meaningfully integrated
into discussions to enhance the understanding of the child’s needs within their
family.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 52

OUR VISION FOR 2030

Page 86



Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203053

OUR VISION FOR 2030

Page 87



We believe that although our children are all different, they all have the same
needs – they need loving, secure and stable homes which provide consistent and
high-quality trusted relationships.

Most of our families can provide this environment with minimal input and support
from services outside of their family and friends, and the borough’s offer of
universal services.

There are some families though that require additional help and support from
specialist and targeted services for short-term periods to help them through a
period of trouble and problems.

In addition, there are other families who require more intense support due to their
complex and enduring needs. Where our early help provision cannot solve these
issues directly, the professionals supporting the family will help them to transition
into the borough’s targeted and specialist services.

Our children experience loving and safe homes with consistent and
positive parenting which nurtures them and helps them flourish.

Ambition 1 

What this means

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 54 Page 88



Maternity services provided by King's College Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust

UN
IV

ER
SA

L 
SE

RV
IC

E 
O

FF
ER

Health Visiting through the Bromley 0 to 19 Public Health Service provided
by Bromley Healthcare

Primary care provided through 44 GP surgeries, 60 community pharmacists
and 53 dental practices 

Well baby clinics at eight locations across the borough provided by
Bromley Healthcare

School nursing through the Bromley 0 to 19 Public Health Service provided
by Bromley Healthcare

Early years settings through more than 150 settings 

Primary and secondary education through more than 100 state funded
schools

Post-16 education through 28 sixth form provisions 

Further education through one further education college across two
campuses 

Independent education through 16 school settings

What does early help look like in 2022?
We have a wide range of services located across the borough that provide a range of support
and services to our children. These include: 

Healthy living and care

Education, learning and qualifications

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203055

AMBITION 1: OUR CHILDREN

Page 89



A range of volunteering opportunities through an active voluntary sector of
more than 500 organisations 

The Duke of Edinburgh (DoE) award which is available across the whole
borough 

An engaging apprenticeship scheme overseen by the Bromley Education
Business Partnership

Over 15,000 businesses and enterprises covering 17 different industry
groups operate across our borough which gives our children opportunities
for employment

Six Children and Family Centres located across the borough provided by
the Council 

Youth centres based in four locations across the borough provided by the
Council

Library services provided through 15 library buildings 

Leisure activities through 129 open spaces and parks, six leisure centres,
athletic facilities, numerous golf courses, and other sport provision 

Money, income and employment

CO
N

T'
D 

UN
IV

ER
SA

L 
SE

RV
IC

E 
O

FF
ER

Community, care and safety 

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 56

AMBITION 1: OUR CHILDREN

Page 90



For new parents who are having difficulties with their mental or emotional
health there are perinatal and community-based support services, such as
Bromley, Lewisham and Greenwich Mind, who work to help create a
positive and nurturing home for the family

For children who have emerging or diagnosed health needs, Bromley 0 to 19
Public Health Service provided by Bromley Healthcare offer Health Visiting,
Family Nurse Partnership and a School Nursing offer that is universal in
reach and personalised in response

For children with special educational needs (SEN), our SEN support offers
quality early intervention to help them with their educational attainment and
individual needs through the provision of holistic services that meet the
child’s needs

For children who have complex or additional special educational needs and
disabilities (SEND), our EHC needs assessment process makes sure that
they receive the full range of support that they need 

For children who have SEND, our IASS provide tailored and impartial
information and advice 

For children who have behaviour or Social, Emotional and Mental Health
(SEMH) needs, we have a robust range of local alternative provision across
both primary and secondary phases

For children who are experiencing difficulties in attending school or who
are at risk of exclusion, our Education Welfare Officers (EWO) provide help
and advice to improve their attendance 

For children who are educated at home, our Education Advisors make sure
that they are receiving an appropriate education and that they are safe 

Healthy living and care
EN

H
AN

CE
D 

AN
D 

TA
RG

ET
ED

 S
ER

VI
CE

 O
FF

ER

Education, learning and qualifications

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203057

AMBITION 1: OUR CHILDREN

Page 91



For children whose parents need support with their parenting style,
behaviour or communication, the Bromley Children Project’s Family Support
and Parenting Practitioner Team provide intensive and positive support

Community, care and safety
CO

N
T'

D 
EN

H
AN

CE
D 

AN
D 

TA
RG

ET
ED

 S
ER

VI
CE

 O
FF

ER

For children who experience a home life with conflict and difficulties, the
RPC Programme helps children live in healthy homes

For children who have multiple organisations helping them, the CAF make
sure they receive the right support at an early stage

For children who need to find something to do or need extra help, the Youth
Support Programme offers a range of targeted support 

For children who experience homelessness or housing difficulties, our
housing service provides specialist support 

For children who live in homes that experience domestic abuse, our
Children Overcoming Domestic Abuse (CODA) programme help the children
heal after witnessing or being exposed to violence in the home 

For children who live in families with multiple and complex problems, our
Supporting Families programme empowers the families to build their
resilience and connections to their communities over time

For children who live in homes with a low income, our funded early
education creates opportunities for them to experience childcare

Money, income and employment

For children who have a disability, the Personal Independence Payment
(PIP) can help with some of the extra costs of living with a long term
physical or mental health condition or disability

For children who have SEND, supported internships provide structured
study programmes provide opportunities for them to achieve paid
employment

For children who have SEND, the Disabled Students’ Allowance (DSA) helps
to cover the study-related costs when attending university 

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 58

AMBITION 1: OUR CHILDREN

Page 92



Early help will continue to be used for every child to make sure that they receive
the right help at the right time from the right service.

What will early help look like in 2030?

Our Early Intervention and Family Support (EIFS) service will continue to provide
a proactive role in our early help ecosystem.

Our families will continue to be proactively supported by our health visiting
service providing a great start to life for every child.

Our Children and Family Centres will continue to operate as a ‘community hub’
for local universal and enhanced services so our children can have access to
services near their home.

We will continue to develop and support the local childcare and early education
market to maintain high standards and choice for parents, promoting inclusion
and school readiness.

We will promote the healthy living for all children through, and including, the
uptake of immunisations, reducing obesity and tackling substance misuse.

Our mainstream educational settings will provide high quality early intervention
that reduces the number of children who require specialist help from statutory
services.

Our Common Assessment Framework (CAF) will be widely used across all
universal services to create a healthy, safe and secure homes for our children.

When working with children directly, our Bromley Relationship Model (BRM)
approach will make sure that our workforce builds on the strengths of the child
and their families.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203059

AMBITION 1: OUR CHILDREN

Page 93

https://www.bromleysafeguarding.org/news.php?id=554


Our children and their families are able to access responsive and effective
emotional and mental health support through a ‘no wrong door’ approach.

Our services will maximise the benefits of digital technology, so our services are
available when our children need them.

Work collaboratively to improve the identification of, and support to, children
who are young carers.

Parenting courses and strategies that support parents to address issues which
impact on family life will be continually developed to respond to changing social
concerns and local needs of our families.

The Thresholds of Need guidance will help our children to understand who they
can talk to when they need extra support.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 60

AMBITION 1: OUR CHILDREN

Page 94



Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203061

AMBITION 1: OUR CHILDREN

Page 95



We believe that our families want to be in control of their own lives and be as 
self-sufficient as possible. That’s why we will provide a range of accessible
information to help them to make informed choices about their lives.

Most of our families will need to be able to find and use the borough’s universal
offer. However, there are some families that will need to be made aware of the
specialist and targeted services that are available across the borough which is
why we will have several sources of specialist information.

We understand that some families and some individual family members will go
through periods of feeling isolated and alone, especially at points when they are
experiencing difficulties or life changes. We will help all our residents to feel part
of their community and to be able to find the right help for them, so they feel more
connected.

Our professionals will understand the range of services available and will be able
to refer families swiftly and successfully to the appropriate targeted and specialist
services when required.

Our families are informed about the range of services and support
available to them when they need it.

Ambition 2 

What this means

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 62 Page 96



Support and advice on keeping children healthy through:
- our comprehensive Bromley 0 to 19 Public Health Service
- local and national NHS lifestyle programmes, such as Better Health

Information and advice for children who could benefit from informal
therapy input through the Bromley Therapy Hub

Advice on healthy relationships and sexual behaviour through Sexual
Health Bromley provided by Bromley Healthcare

Help for parents to find the right early years setting for their family through
the early years directory provided by the Council

Information, advice and support about special educational needs and
disabilities (SEND) services in the borough through IASS

Information about local services, support and activities available to
families through the borough’s SEND local offer

UN
IV

ER
SA

L 
SE

RV
IC

E 
O

FF
ER

What does early help look like in 2022?
We have a wide range of services located across the borough that provide a range of support
and services to our families. These include: 

Healthy living and care

Education, learning and qualifications

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203063

AMBITION 2: OUR FAMILIES

Signposting advice and personal experiences of health services through
Healthwatch Bromley

Page 97



A place where parents can see what help is available to them through the
Council’s Bromley Parenting Hub

Help for parents to stay emotionally and physically well, and to remain
independent, through the Bromley Well service

A place where parents whose children have SEND can meet other parents
and seek peer support through Bromley Parent Voice

For parents who want help with managing their money, savings and living
on their income, the Money Helper website provides a range of advice and
tips

Information, advice and guidance for adults to help make decisions on
learning, training and work through the National Careers Service

Free and confidential tool for parents to find out what benefits they are
entitled to claim through the Turn2Us Benefits Calculator

Community, care and safety 

Money, income and employmentCO
N

T'
D 

UN
IV

ER
SA

L 
SE

RV
IC

E 
O

FF
ER

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 64

AMBITION 2: OUR FAMILIES

Page 98



For mothers aged 19 and under, and mothers aged under 24 years with
additional vulnerabilities, the Family Nurse Partnership provided by Bromley
Healthcare offers an evidence based intensive parenting programme

For families who have a child with emerging or diagnosed health needs,
Bromley 0 to 19 Public Health Service provided by Bromley Healthcare offer
Health Visiting, Family Nurse Partnership and a School Nursing offer that is
universal in reach and personalised in response

For families where the child is sexually active, Sexual Health Bromley
provides a range of advice, support and direct services

For children who are educated at home, our Education Advisors provide
specialist advice to make sure that parents are able to offer an appropriate
education

For children who have complex SEND needs, the SEND Local Offer provides
information about specialist services and support, including the Senco Hub
Resource

For families with low household income, the Pupil Premium provides
additional financial help and support in education

For adults who are anxious, stressed, have low mood or suffer from
depression, Talk Together Bromley is a free NHS evidence-based talking
therapy service provided by Bromley Healthcare 

For parents whose children are having difficulties with their mental or
emotional health, Bromley Y offers advice and direct support through The
Signpost and face-to-face 

Healthy living and care
EN

H
AN

CE
D 

AN
D 

TA
RG

ET
ED

 S
ER

VI
CE

 O
FF

ER

Education, learning and qualifications

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203065

AMBITION 2: OUR FAMILIES

Page 99



For parents who to need time to stop and learn about the health of their
relationship, and identify what help is available to them to help provide a
more stable and healthy family environment, the Council’s Bromley
Parenting Hub in line with the borough’s Intimate Relationship Spectrum

Community, care and safety
CO

N
T'

D 
EN

H
AN

CE
D 

AN
D 

TA
RG

ET
ED

 S
ER

VI
CE

 O
FF

ER

For families who need additional parenting help, the Bromley Children
Project’s Family Support and Parenting Practitioner Team provide
personalised help and support 

For families which are experiencing conflict, the RPC programme provides
self-help guides, advice and tools 

When a family’s needs suggest they could benefit from early help services
input from a range of services, the CAF can be used to consider the child’s
needs holistically

For families who have children with additional needs, the Threshold of
Need sets out what support is available and how to access it in line with
the borough’s Continuum of Need 

For adults who are looking after somebody else's child, the Bromley Private
Fostering app provides advice and support 

For families where working age adults have a disability, the British
Association for Supported Employment provide a directory of organisations
providing supported employment services

Money, income and employment

For families where a child has SEND, the Disability Living Allowance (DLA)
can help with some of the extra costs of living with a long term physical or
mental health condition or disability

For families on low income, Universal Credit provides a single household
payment of different benefits and allowances, including Child Tax Credit,
Housing Benefit and Income Support

For families who need help to find a suitable and secure home, the Bromley
Housing Portal provided by the Council provides a single place for Housing
Register Applications, advice and support, social housing allocation and
home bidding 

For parents who need help to keep their child safe online, the Bromley Safer
Schools App provides access to advice and guidance

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 66

AMBITION 2: OUR FAMILIES

Page 100



What will early help look like in 2030?

Early help will continue to be used by our families to make sure that they receive
the right help at the right time from the right service.

Our families will be able to find relevant information, advice and guidance at the
right time using online spaces and directories that can be personalised and
tailored to their needs.

Our continuum of need is used across the multi-agency children’s workforce to
further improve the identification of additional needs in children, to improve
assessment of need and risk, and to improve access to targeted and specialist
services.

Families will develop the skills they need to thrive and flourish through the work
of the Bromley Children Project and the Supporting Families programme.

Our Bromley Parenting Hub will be well used by families to provide tailored 
self-help advice and support and signposting to relevant services.

Our mainstream educational settings will provide high quality early intervention
that reduces the number of children who require specialist help from statutory
services.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203067

AMBITION 2: OUR FAMILIES

Page 101



We believe that our families must be in control on their lives and their support. We
will make sure that the wishes and feelings of every child and their family is
consistently sought, heard and considered.

We will engage in purposeful, open and compassionate work with the whole
family system. Our children and their families will benefit from consistent
relationships with practitioners who understand what must change and who strive
for inclusive involvement.

We will use reflective, critical thinking and analysis to evaluate and integrate
multiple sources of knowledge and support options.

We will gather evidence to create and co-produce meaningful assessments and
plans with families. We will build self-efficacy in families. We will promote
significant and sustained change in families that is proportionate to the risks of
harm identified.

Our practitioners work within a culture that embraces relational and
compassionate practice where the strengths of our families are
understood and built upon

Ambition 3 

What this means

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 68 Page 102



Our strategic engagement framework, Curiosity and Influence, which helps us to
truly put the voice of our residents at the heart of our decisions

Our SEND engagement framework, Better Together, helps us to ask for, collect
and use feedback from children who have SEND and their families

Our Child’s Voice Hub creates a single place for engagement with children and
their families 

Our 'You Said, We Did' reports set out in clear terms what we have learnt and
what we have done with that learning

Our professionals utilise reflective practice to improve their own direct work with
children and their families

Our services proactively engage with serious case reviews so that our
professionals and organisations can continuously improve their practice and
processes 

What does early help look like in 2022?

How we are continuously learning 

We have various systems and processes in place which provide a framework for how we
learn from the people who use our services, including:

We evidence the impact of our engagement framework through:

We have a learning organisation which seeks to take every opportunity to reflect and
improve what we do, including:

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203069

AMBITION 3: OUR PRACTITIONERS

Page 103



How we work with our children and their families 

We have holistic frameworks in place which set out how we will work with families, both
directly and indirectly:

Our Bromley Relationship Model (BRM) underpins all our direct work with our
children and their families

Our Threshold of Need provides a single guide to making sure that children and
their families receive the appropriate type of intervention in a timely manner

Our services have pathways which set out who will receive support from relevant
services

How we make sure our services meet the required standards

Our practice standards set out in one place how we expect our workforce to work with
children and their families, including:

Our Children’s Social Care Social Work practice and management standards

Our Youth Justice Service (YJS) practice and management standards

Our values and behaviours framework helps us to help create a workforce that
delivers services that are seen as “excellent” in the eyes of local people

Our practice standards make sure that:

Our services adhere to national standards set through legislation, statutory
guidance and other legal requirements

Our services follow the quality standards and guidance that are set out by NICE
(National Institute for Health and Care Excellence) for health and social care
services

Our professionals operate within the clear standards set out by their professional
regulators, such as the Health and Care Professions Council

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 70

AMBITION 3: OUR PRACTITIONERS

Page 104



Our performance management framework

Having people who use our services on our strategic and operational groups

Care Quality Commission (CQC)
HM Inspectorate of Probation
Housing Ombudsman
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO)
Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted) 
Office of Qualifications and Examinations Regulation (Ofqual) 
Youth Justice Board for England and Wales (YJB)

How we measure our services

Our leadership team regularly and proactively monitor our performance through:

Our services collaboratively engage with outside regulatory bodies, such as:

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203071

AMBITION 3: OUR PRACTITIONERS

Page 105



What will early help look like in 2030?

Our professionals, services and organisations will continuously reflect on their
practice whilst seeking external views to improve their practice, processes and
service offer.

Our professionals, services and organisations will proactively create
opportunities for children and families to share their thoughts and feelings which
are listened to, learned from and which drive improvement in services.

Our professionals, services and organisations have an approach of continuous
learning and improvement by seeking to learn from best practice from
elsewhere, new national standards and local expectations.

Our professionals, services and organisations continually operate within our
corporate values of REAL.

Our professionals, services and organisations operate within clear and
consistent pathways which provide clarity and openness in the collective support
for our children and their families.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 72

AMBITION 3: OUR PRACTITIONERS

Page 106



Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203073

AMBITION 3: OUR PRACTITIONERS

Page 107



We believe that we can have a bigger and more effective impact by investing in
supporting our families to be self-sufficient and providing the right targeted help
at the points when they need it.

Our resources are focused on providing responsive, dynamic and
holistic integrated services across health, education and social care
which identify need and provide support at the earliest opportunity to
meet needs and prevent escalation of concern

Ambition 4 

What this means

In Bromley we have a successful and highly achieving range of universal services
that are available for all our families. These are well resourced and have proven
impact for most of our families. This support will be co-ordinated across health,
education and social care agencies.

We are using our organisational intelligence and the views of our families to
provide a range of targeted services for those who have additional needs.

Where required, we are providing a sufficient and effective range of specialist
services that can step in at the right time to have the biggest impact. These
services will then seek to support our families and help them to move back
through the levels of support.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 74 Page 108



What does early help look like in 2022?

Setting our direction

Our strategic partnership working is collaborative, built on trust and creates an
environment where our partners can hold each to account.

We have strong strategic partnerships in place which underpin the delivery of our
services.

We have a strong and robust strategic framework in place which clearly
articulates our priorities for the future, and which creates a golden thread through
everything that we do.

Understanding need

We use the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) to improve our
understanding of specific communities across the borough.

We have a good understanding of the people who live in our borough.

We will use our data warehousing approach to collectively gather, analysis and
interpret our data to form a holistic understanding of the needs of our families
and the performance of our services.

Our organisations understand the people who use their services and are able to
effectively target the services at their needs.

Commissioning together 

Over the past few years, we have implemented our transformation plan for
improving our services for children who have emotional or mental health needs,
which includes the Bromley Y signpost service and the Mental Health Teams in
schools.

We are beginning to embed digitalisation in our processes and our services,
which build on our non-digital services.

We successfully joint commission several services across the borough to support
our families.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203075

AMBITION 4: OUR RESOURCES

Page 109



We are using our SEND Graduated Approach to successfully support children
who have SEND in school and other educational settings through the
combination of: Quality first teaching; SEN support; Pupil Resource Agreements;
and Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans.

We have implemented our Health Support for Schools service as part of the
Bromley 0-19 Service to provide School Health Advisors in each school.

We have a well-developed and coordinated early help offer through the Early
Intervention and Family Support (EIFS).

We have developed and embedded a multi-agency Mental Health and Wellbeing
Toolkit to provide a ‘one stop shop’ for professionals to find information, referral
pathways and support available locally.

We have launched our Mental Health and Wellbeing Leads (MHWL) network
which promotes the Anna Freud Centre 5-step framework to drive an evidence
based, whole-school approach to mental health and wellbeing.

We promote access to early years settings through the Disability Access Fund
(DAF) which supports providers to making reasonable adjustments to their
settings for children who have SEND.

We have developed a robust pathway for children and families who have
experienced domestic abuse so that they can receive interventions when the
abuse occurs.

We have established posts providing specialist and tailored information and
advice, such as the Autism Spectrum Condition (ASC) Coordinator, the SEN
Information Officer and the IASS Children and Young People Support Worker.

Targeting resources

We have designed and implemented our Integrated Therapies project to improve
access to therapy services across the borough through a 'Graduated Approach',
including the launch of the Bromley Therapy Hub website.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 76

AMBITION 4: OUR RESOURCES

Page 110

https://www.bromleysafeguarding.org/news.php?id=554


What will early help look like in 2030?

We will enhance our understanding of the people who live in our borough by
using the intelligence gathered through the 2021 Census.

We will continue to focus our resources on early help services which delay the
need for statutory intervention.

We will increasingly jointly commission services together which reward outcome
focused and strengths-based services.

We will focus on market shaping to make sure that the right services are
available across the borough for our families, whether funded by the state or
privately.

We will exploit the benefits of digitalisation in the way we deliver our services,
integrating systems and processes where it is feasible and practical.

We will develop information and knowledge sharing to enhance the intelligence
available to all organisations in planning and evaluating our services.

We will develop a system wide approach for supporting children who have
mental and emotional wellbeing difficulties where every professional feels able
to offer advice and signposting.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203077

AMBITION 4: OUR RESOURCES

Page 111



We will implement innovation in service delivery where good outcomes and
better use of resources can be achieved, including developing the digitalisation
of services where appropriate.

We will have an informed workforce who are able to appropriately signpost
families to the right service at the right time.

We will develop a communication strategy to raise staff awareness of the range
of early help support available.

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 78

AMBITION 4: OUR RESOURCES

Page 112



Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18)
and their families: Our vision for 203079

AMBITION 4: OUR RESOURCES

Page 113



Children’s
Executive

Board

Corporate Parenting
Board

- Living in Care Council
- Change for Care

Leavers
 

Special Educational
Needs and Disabilities

Governance Board
 

Youth Justice Service
Partnership Board

 
Supporting Families
Governance Board

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board

Children’s Programme Board
 

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services
Transformation Board

Bromley Safeguarding Children’s Partnership

Health and Wellbeing Board

Domestic Abuse Strategic Board
 

Domestic Abuse Operational Forum

Safer Bromley Partnership

This partnership approach will help us to achieve our vision through the collective combination
of our focus and resource. 

This strategy is produced by the Council in partnership with the
Bromley Children’s Executive Board.

Governance
and structure

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 80 Page 114



Like our children and our families, this strategy is holistic. But it does not exist in isolation, nor
can it cover every action or element of the early help system across our borough. That’s why it
influences, and is influenced by, a range of other strategies and actions that we have published.
We have provided a full list of documents that influence this strategy as part of our strategic
framework along with a selection in detail to highlight the links with this strategy:

Links with other strategies

For children and young people to grow up, thrive and have the best life chances in
families who flourish and are happy to call Bromley home
For people to make their homes in Bromley and for business, enterprise and the third
sector to prosper
For residents to live responsibly and prosper in a safe, clean and green environment
great for today and a sustainable future

Our ten-year corporate plan running from 2021. One of the five ambitions has a clear
focus on our children and families and two more have an influence on this strategy:

Making Bromley Even Better 

Targeted early intervention and good universal services
Safeguarding children and adolescents
Being the best corporate parent
Challenging disproportionality
Engaging with children, young people and families

Published in 2021, our Children’s Executive Board’s three-year plan is focused on five
priorities, four of which influence this strategy:

Children and Young People’s Plan 

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203081

GOVERNANCE AND STRUCTURE

Page 115



Embed effective engagement with parents, children and young people and all partners
as central to the delivery of better outcomes.
Children and young people receive early support through universal and targeted
provision, reducing reliance on specialist provision.
Ensure robust multi-agency decision making processes are embedded across the
SEND Partnership enabling sustainable, timely integrated support for children and
young people with more complex needs and their families.
Enable all our children and young people to transfer successfully to the next stage of
their education or into employment, and to transfer to an independent adult life in
their local community.

The SEND Strategic Vision and Priorities for 2022 to 2023 focuses on five priorities, four
of which influence this strategy:

SEND Strategic Vision and Priorities

Reducing the number of first-time entrant children in the youth justice system
Reducing reoffending by children in the youth justice system 
Improving the safety and wellbeing of children in the youth justice system 
Addressing ethnicity disproportionality and the overrepresentation of other protected
characteristics and vulnerable groups 
Protecting the public and victims strengthening our Partnership Board and workforce

The Youth Justice Partnership Board published their first three-year strategy in 2020
focused improving outcomes and life chances for children and young people in contact
with the youth justice system or at risk of becoming involved in crime and antisocial
behaviour by: 

Youth Justice Strategy

Three physical health focused, including cancer, obesity and diabetes
Two mental health focused, including adolescent and adult mental health 
Three wider health determents, including, youth violence, homelessness, and drugs
and alcohol in young people

The Health and Wellbeing Board’s four-year strategy was published in 2019. It focuses on
ten priorities:

Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 82

GOVERNANCE AND STRUCTURE

Page 116



We will promote the message that tackling domestic abuse is everyone’s and every
agency’s responsibility
We will commission effective services to support survivors of domestic abuse
We will increase and develop our existing training offer on domestic abuse to improve
local responses to survivors and their families

The Council’s first intergenerational strategy was published in 2021 covering the 
three-year period to 2024. Whilst predominantly focused on the specialist support
required for both the survivors and perpetrators of domestic abuse, it includes three clear
priorities that influence this strategy:

An Intergenerational Domestic Abuse Strategy

Knowing our problem, knowing our response
Strong leadership and partnership 
Effective recognition, assessment and support

The Bromley Safeguarding Children Partnership's strategy was first published in 2018
with the aim of promoting the welfare of children and to improve their outcomes, through
the delivery of three priorities which influence this strategy:

Multi-Agency Neglect Strategy

More homes – increasing the number of homes in Bromley
Better quality, more affordable homes
Preventing and tackling homelessness
Supporting vulnerable people

The Council’s ten-year strategy was published in 2019 focused on four priorities which
influence this strategy:

Housing Strategy

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203083

GOVERNANCE AND STRUCTURE

Page 117

https://www.bromleysafeguarding.org/


Quality and accessibility
Health, wellbeing and community
Local economy

Published in 2021, the Council’s ten-year strategy incorporates five strategy objectives,
three of which influence this strategy:

Open Spaces Strategy

Organisations and services
Community infrastructure that empowers social connections
Building a culture that encourages strong social relationships

The four-year strategy published by the Council in 2022 is focused on three priorities
which influence this strategy:

Mitigating Loneliness Strategy 

Safer neighbourhoods
Violence Against Women and Girls
Keeping young people safe
Stand together against hate crime and extremism

The Safer Bromley Partnership published their three-year strategy in 2023 focused on
four priorities which influence this strategy:

Safer Bromley Partnership Strategy

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 84

GOVERNANCE AND STRUCTURE

Page 118



This strategy does not exist in isolation. It influences and is influenced by the following
documents which collectively form our strategic framework:

Delivering our ambitions

Making Bromley Even Better 
Children and Young People’s Plan

Strategic approach 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy
NHS South East London Sustainability
and Transformation Plan
One Bromley – Integrated Care Plan
Child and Adolescent Mental Health
Services Transformation Plan

Healthy living and care

Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities Strategic Vision and
Priorities
All-Age Autism Action Plan
London and South East Education Group
Strategy

Education, learning and
qualifications 

Bromley Safeguarding Children
Partnership Pledge
Multi-Agency Neglect Strategy
An Intergenerational Domestic Abuse
Strategy
Safer Bromley Partnership Strategy
Mayor of London’s Police and Crime
Plan
Youth Justice Strategy
Housing Strategy
Homelessness Strategy
Open Spaces Strategy
Air Quality Action Plan
Net Zero Action Plan
Mitigating Loneliness Strategy

Community, care and safety 

Education, Training and Employment
Strategy
Regeneration Strategy
Economic Development Plan
Volunteering Strategy

Money, income and
employment 

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203085

GOVERNANCE AND STRUCTURE

Page 119



Autism Spectrum Condition 

Bromley Children Project 

Bromley Relationship Model 

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board

Bromley Safeguarding Children Partnership

Common Assessment Framework

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services

Children's Contact Centres 

Children and Family Centres 

Change for Care Leavers

Children Overcoming Domestic Abuse

Children and Young People’s Plan

Disability Access Fund 

Disability Living Allowance 

Duke of Edinburgh

Disabled Students’ Allowance

Education, Health and Care 

Early Intervention Foundation

Early Intervention and Family Support Service

Early Learning Goals

Acronyms 

ASC 

BCP

BRM 

BSAB 

BSCP

CAF 

CAMHS 

CCC

CFC

CfCL 

CODA 

CYPP

DAF 

DLA 

DoE 

DSA 

EHC 

EIF 

EIFS 

ELG 

EWO 

FNP 

IASS 

JSNA 

LinCC   

MASH 

MHWL 

NICE 

PIP 

REAL 

RPC 

SBP 

SEMH 

SEN 

Senco 

SEND 

STI 

YJS

YOS

Education Welfare Officers

Family Nurse Partnership

Information, Advice and Support Service 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

Living in Care Council  

Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub

Mental Health and Wellbeing Leads

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

Personal Independence Payment

Respect, Ambition, Ambition and Learning

Reducing Parental Conflict 

Safer Bromley Partnership

Social, Emotional and Mental Health

Special Educational Needs

Special Educational Needs Co-ordinator

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities

Sexually Transmitted Infections

Youth Justice Service

Youth Offending Service

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 86 Page 120



Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203087 Page 121



Burnt Ash

Community Vision

Biggin Hill

Castlecombe

Cotmandene 

Blenheim

Contact details and map

Children and Family Centres

Biggin Hill

Sunningvale Avenue
Biggin Hill
TN16 3TN

Call 01959 571 694

Blenheim

Blenheim Road
Orpington
BR6 9BH

Call 01689 831193

Burnt Ash

Rangefield Road
Bromley
BR1 4QX

Call 020 8697 4503

Castlecombe

Castlecombe Road
Mottingham
SE9 4AT

Call 020 8857 1185

Community Vision

Woodbine Grove
Penge
SE20 8UX

Call 020 8778 2970

Cotmandene 

105-107 Cotmandene Crescent
St Pauls Cray
BR5 2RB

Call 020 8300 2548

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 2030 88 Page 122

https://bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/bigginhill
https://bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/bigginhill
https://bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/bigginhill
https://bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/bigginhill
https://bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/bigginhill
https://bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/bigginhill
https://bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/bigginhill
https://bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/bigginhill
https://bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/bigginhill
https://bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/bigginhill
https://bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/bigginhill
https://bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/bigginhill
https://bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/bigginhill
https://bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/bigginhill
https://bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/bigginhill


Call 020 8461 7259
Email bcpadmin@bromley.gov.uk
Visit bromleyparentinghub.org.uk

Bromley Children Project

Call 0300 330 5777
E-mail bromh.bromley0to19@nhs.net
Visit bromley0to19.co.uk

Bromley 0 to 19 Public Health Service

Call 020 8461 7630
Email iass@bromley.gov.uk
Visit bromleyiass.org.uk

Bromley IASS

Call 020 3770 8848
Email broccg.bromleyy@nhs.net
Visit bromley-y.org

Bromley Y

Call 020 8461 7373 / 7379 / 7026 (office hours)
Call 0300 303 8671 (out of hours, weekends and public holidays)
Email mash@bromley.gov.uk

If you are concerned about a child's immediate safety, always call the police
on 999.

Children's Social Care - Are you worried about a child?

Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) 
and their families: Our vision for 203089

CONTACT DETAILS AND MAP

Page 123

mailto:bcpadmin@bromley.gov.uk
http://www.bromleyparentinghub.org.uk/
tel:03003305777
mailto:bromh.bromley0to19@nhs.net
mailto:iass@bromley.gov.uk
mailto:broccg.bromleyy@nhs.net
mailto:mash@bromley.gov.uk


Produced by:
 

Children's Services
London Borough of Bromley
Civic Centre, Stockwell Close

Bromley BR1 3UH

A product of the Strategy, Performance and Corporate Transformation Division© London Borough of Bromley, October 2022. All rights reserved. 

Page 124



 

  

1 

Report No.  
 
CEF22047 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE / INFORMATION BRIEFING 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE PDS COMMITTEE 
17th November 2022 – information only 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE PDS COMMITTEE  
22nd November 2022 – information only 

GENERAL PURPOSES & LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 
7th February 2023 

 

Decision Type:  Non-Urgent 
 

Executive  
 

Non-Key 

Title: ANNUAL COMPLAINTS REPORT & LG&SCO LETTER 2021/22 
 

Contact Officer: Mark Smeed 
Head of Service, Customer Engagement & Complaints Service 

Chief Officer: Naheed Chaudhry 
Assistant Director, Strategy, Performance and Corporate Transformation  

Ward: Borough-wide 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1 The Council produces an Annual Complaints Report each year setting out statistics on the 
complaints it receives. The 2021/22 Annual Report is presented in Appendix 1. 

1.2 The report also provides oversight of the annual Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman 
letter which summarises Ombudsman complaints/enquiries received, and the decisions made 
about, the London Borough of Bromley for the year ending 31 March 2022. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 Members of the Committee are asked to note, consider and comment on the report. 
 

Page 125

Information Item 3



 

  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: Not Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Corporate Policy 
 
1. Policy Status: Not Applicable 
 
2. BBB Priority Not Applicable:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Financial 
 
1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable 
 
2. Ongoing costs Not Applicable:  
 
3. Budget head/performance centre: Not Applicable 
 
4. Total current budget for this head: £Not Applicable 
 
5. Source of funding:  Not Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Personnel 
 
1. Number of staff (current and additional):  Not Applicable   
 
2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:  Not Applicable   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Legal 
 
1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement  
 
2. Call-in: Applicable: Executive decision. 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Procurement 
 
1. Summary of Procurement Implications: Not Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Customer Impact 
 
1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): Not Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Ward Councillor Views 
 
1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 
2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  Not Applicable 

 

Page 126



 

  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

Complaints 

3.1 The publication of annual reports on social care complaints is a statutory requirement under the 
Local Authority Social Services and National Health Service Complaints (England) Regulations 
2009 (for adult social care) and the Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) 
Regulations 2006 (for children’s social care). Whilst legislation mainly refers to social care 
complaints, the Council goes further and publishes greater detail about the Council’s performance 
across the divisions.  

3.2 The Council has an ethos of continuous improvement and is committed to using feedback from a 
variety of sources to learn, understand and take action to improve services. Our Performance 
Management Frameworks recognise customer complaints as a valuable source of qualitative 
feedback on the performance of our services. Where possible, lessons are learnt by the 
Directorates and an internal report is produced so that reflections and improvements can be made 
to services. 

3.3 The report at Appendix 1 provides an overview of complaints and all Local Government & Social 
Care Ombudsman enquiries to the Council between 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022.  

3.4 Excluding Environment & Public Protection complaints, which are not overseen nor analysed by 
the Customer Engagement & Complaints Service, the number of complaints rose by 16% year 
on year. However, only 38% of complaints were partially upheld or upheld against the Council, 
which is 6% lower than the previous year. Some 59% of complaints were responded to on time, 
which is on a par with last year but includes a significant improvement by Education. 

3.5 The financial consequences of upheld complaints amounted to £20,831.22, a significant 41% 
decrease on last year’s £35,461.57. More than half of this year’s figure arose out of Housing and 
SEN complaints. 

Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman 
 
3.6 The Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman (‘the Ombudsman’) acts as the final stage for 

complaints about local authorities, adult social care providers (including care homes and home 
care agencies) and some other organisations providing public services. When the Council 
responds to a complaint, we are required to signpost the complainant to the Ombudsman if they 
remain dissatisfied. The Ombudsman analyses each referral to determine firstly whether it meets 
their criteria and, secondly, whether it merits a full investigation.  

3.7 The number of referrals made to the Ombudsman rose by 42% this year from 86 to 122, with a 
notable rise in Planning concerns. However, of those 122 referrals, only 26 became the subject 
of an investigation by the Ombudsman, a 16% drop in proportion. 

3.8 Of those full investigations, 18 were upheld against the Council (69%). This continues Bromley’s 
performance at better than the London average. The average upheld rate across London 
boroughs was 71%, placing Bromley 13th out of the 32 boroughs. Measured by referrals per 
capita, Bromley ranked 10th, and 3rd by upheld complaints per capita, meaning that the Council’s 
figures remain competitive. 

3.9 The Council maintains thoughtful and robust engagement with the Ombudsman, challenging 
decisions where required. Last year’s covering report referred to the prospect of having to serve 
another pre-action judicial review protocol letter upon the Ombudsman. That was unfortunately 
required, but again led to the Ombudsman having to withdraw a critical public report and replace 
it with a standard decision.  

Page 127



 

  

4 

3.10 Whilst being robust in our considerations of recommendations for some cases, we have retained 
a 100% compliance rate in implementing recommendations on all cases. 

3.11 The Ombudsman’s annual review letter provides a breakdown of the upheld investigations and a 
compliance rate for implementing Ombudsman recommendations.  

3.12 This year’s letter referred to a public report that was issued in respect of the Council’s handling 
of a homelessness application. The Ombudsman acknowledged the Council’s proactive response 
to the complaint but proceeded to issue a public report at least in part because it was of significant 
topical interest. The Council has completed the agreed resulting action. 

3.13 Secondly, this year’s letter contains a concern about a delay in the implementation of the agreed 
remedial action following an upheld complaint. This refers to four specific cases, all of which were 
in fact decided in the previous financial year (2020-2021). The Council’s compliance in those 
cases was delayed variously by the long-term absence of a pivotal senior member of staff; the 
review of a service user’s complex care needs taking longer than anticipated; the availability of 
specialised training; and the need to draft a new policy with input from in-house legal advisers. 

3.14 Finally, the letter reiterates the drive led by Michael King, the Local Government & Social Care 
Ombudsman, for local authorities to recognise the valuable benefits brought by a properly 
resourced and managed complaint handling service. 

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 None for the purposes of this report. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social Services and National Health Service 
Complaints Regulations 2009 the Council is required to publish an annual complaints report.   

 
5.2  Under section 5(2) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 the Monitoring Officer is 

expected to produce a periodic report to the Council summarising the findings on all upheld 
complaints over a specific period. 

 
 
6.  Supporting Documents  
 
6.1 Appendix 1. Annual Complaints Report 2021/22 

6.2 Link below to LG&SCO annual review letter 2021/22  

https://www.lgo.org.uk/documents/councilperformance/2022/london%20borough%20of%20bro
mley.pdf    

 

Non-Applicable Sections: Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children, and Policy, 
Personnel and Procurement Implications. 

Background Documents: 

(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

 

 

Page 128

https://www.lgo.org.uk/documents/councilperformance/2022/london%20borough%20of%20bromley.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/documents/councilperformance/2022/london%20borough%20of%20bromley.pdf


 

 

 

Complaints & Compliments 

Annual Report 2021-2022 

 
Page 129



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   1 

CONTENTS 

 

CONTENTS ......................................................................................................... 1 

01 | WHY WE REPORT ON OUR COMPLAINTS ................................................. 2 

02 | LAW & PROCEDURES .................................................................................. 3 

03 | COUNCIL OVERVIEW ................................................................................... 4 

04 | ADULT SOCIAL CARE ................................................................................ 10 

05 | CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE ....................................................................... 16 

06 | HOUSING ................................................................................................... 21 

07 | PLANNING & REGENERATION .................................................................. 26 

08 | EDUCATION ............................................................................................... 30 

09 | CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DEPARTMENT ......................................................... 35 

10 | ENVIRONMENT & PUBLIC PROTECTION ................................................. 41 

11 | PUBLIC HEALTH ........................................................................................ 43 

 

 

 

  

Page 130



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   2 

01 | WHY WE REPORT ON OUR COMPLAINTS 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Section 18 of The Local Authority Social Services and National Health Service Complaints 

(England) Regulations 2009 places a duty on the Council to prepare an annual report each 

year. That legislation primarily references adult and children social care complaints but the 

London Borough of Bromley goes further and publishes greater detail about its overall 

performance. This report therefore provides an overview of complaints and our interaction 

with the Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman between 1st April 2021 and 31st 

March 2022. 

The Council has an ethos of continuous improvement and is committed to using the 

feedback it receives from a variety of sources to learn, understand and take action to 

improve services. Our Performance Management Frameworks recognise customer 

complaints as a valuable source of qualitative feedback on the performance of our 

services. We know that high-performing services use feedback to help managers and staff 

understand where they are doing well and where improvements can be made. 

We use our complaints data and analysis to:  

 Collaboratively prompt, challenge and deepen the understanding of service 

performance amongst the leadership group; this enables and promotes a shared 

understanding of the strengths and areas for development within the service 

 Inform prioritisation in service improvement plans 

 Commission improvement activities and training where appropriate 

 Encourage individual managers to take the initiative at service/team level or with 

individual staff members to address areas for development and manage local 

improvements 

 

Terminology used in this report 

A complaint is the whole of someone’s approach to the Council expressing dissatisfaction. 

One or more services or teams may be referenced in that complaint, and each of those is 

referred to as a mention. Each complaint may identify one or more individual grievances 

and each of those is referred to as an aspect. 

For instance… 

Mrs Jones raises a complaint with the Council alleging that the Council Tax department have 

both delayed processing her application for support and disclosed her personal information 

when they should not have done. She also complains that the Housing Benefit team have 

wrongly decided she is not eligible for support. 

In this example, this one complaint has given rise to three mentions (two for Council Tax 

and one for Housing Benefit) and three aspects – delay, data breach and a disputed 

decision.  

Page 131



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   3 

02 | LAW & PROCEDURES 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Legislation 

The main legislation we are governed by is the Local Authority Social Services and National 

Health Service Complaints (England) Regulations 2009. This duty is delivered through the 

Corporate Complaints Procedure. The majority of Adult Social Care complaints are 

considered on a statutory basis and are managed through the Corporate Complaints 

Procedure.  

Where the matter directly involves a child (or an authorised person on their behalf) 

complaining about the care and support provided to that child by Children’s Social Care, 

the relevant rules are found in the Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) 

Regulations 2006) and this duty is delivered through the Children’s Complaints Procedure. 

 

Timescales 

Under the Corporate Complaints Procedure, complaints should be acknowledged within 

three working days and formally responded to within 20 working days. 

Complaints are managed through the Children’s Complaints Procedure as follows :- 

 Stage 1 initial response within 10 (up to 20) working days 

 Stage 2 investigation within 25 (up to 65) working days  

 Stage 3 Review Panel within 30 working days 

Where a complaint may not be responded to within the usual timescales, for whatever 

reason, CE&CS will keep in touch with the complainant to explain the reasons for the delay 

and wherever possible provide a best estimate as to when the response will be available. 

 

The Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman 

The Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman (LG&SCO) acts as the final stage for 

complaints about local authorities, adult social care providers (including care homes and 

home care agencies) and some other organisations providing public services. When the 

Council responds to a complaint, we are required to signpost the complainant to the 

Ombudsman if they remain dissatisfied. The Ombudsman analyses each referral to 

determine whether it meets their criteria and, if so, whether it merits a full investigation. 

 

Data sources 

The Customer Engagement & Complaints Service (CE&CS) oversees complaint handling 

for the entire Council save for the Environment & Public Protection division (E&PP). All 

E&PP corporate statistics are provided by that division themselves and do not always 

follow the same taxonomy. CE&CS manage all Ombudsman interactions for the Council.  

Page 132



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   4 

03 | COUNCIL OVERVIEW 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Complaints received 

 

 

A commentary on Environment & Public Protection figures is on page 41. Excluding E&PP 

figures, the total number of complaints against the Council rose by just over 16% this year.  

 

How complaints were received  

 

94.7% of complaints were received by email or through the website, a slight drop on the 

96.1% proportion received through our digital channels the previous year.  

 

95

0

445

n/a

134.3%

25 35 40.0%

117

105

90

57 54 -5.3%

77 74 -3.9%

2020/21

Public Health 0 0

207 485

2019/20

211

38

Environment & Public Protection

Division

Planning & Regeneration -

Children's Social Care

2021/22 % change

Chief Executive's Dept. 75 80 6.7%

Total 335 387 15.5%

Housing 78 94 20.5%

Education 23 50 117.4%

Adult Social Care

 Adult Children Housing P&R Education EPP CED
Public 

Health
Total % of total

Email 37 46 68 20 31 183 49 0 434 49.8%

Form 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0%

In person 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0%

Letter 1 1 0 1 0 2 5 0 10 1.1%

Telephone 4 0 5 0 0 24 3 0 36 4.1%

Website 12 27 21 14 19 276 23 0 392 45.0%

Total 54 74 94 35 50 485 80 0 872

Page 133



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   5 

Proportion upheld 

 

 

38% of complaints were at least partially upheld, a 6% drop on the previous year. The upheld 

rate reflects our approach to acknowledge fault where appropriate and seek to put things 

right as far as can be achieved. The drop may signify a gradually growing confidence in the 

quality of the Council’s decision-making. 

 

Causes for complaint 

The most frequent cause for complaint (aspect) was quality of service (46.3%), although 

less than 10% of these complaints were upheld. Lack of action (28.5%) was the next most 

prevalent aspect, whilst complaints about service delay were the most likely to be upheld 

at 46.7%. 

Complaints about staff conduct can include staff of third-party providers contracted by the 

Council, although this year none were recorded. 

 

n/kData not  collected 92%

Upheld /

Partially Upheld % 2021/22

45 9 20%

46%

40

2020/21

56%

196

Public Health 0

Chief Executive's Dept. 102 49 48%

37%

Education 67 26

108

39%

Aspects

108 36 44%

35%

39%

49%

N/A

44%

Environment & Public Protection

Children's Social Care

Planning & Regeneration 27%

33%

39%

Adult Social Care 79 36

0 N/A

TOTAL 509

Housing

Page 134



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   6 

 

  

Responding on time 

59% of all complaints were responded to within 20 working days, maintaining last year’s 

improvement. Complaints involving contracted services can take longer to address as the 

Council is ultimately responsible for the quality of their services - this primarily affects adult 

social care complaints. 

 

 
 

  

Complaint Adult Children Housing P&R Education EPP CED
Public 

Health
Total % of total % upheld

Staff conduct 3 28 4 1 3 64 11 0 114 11.5% 8.8%

Disputed Decision 7 15 7 19 8 31 10 0 97 9.8% 5.2%

Information 13 20 8 7 3 10 11 0 72 7.2% 26.4%

Lack of Action 19 20 27 11 31 90 16 0 214 21.5% 22.4%

Quality of Service 33 25 57 5 18 290 32 0 460 46.3% 8.9%

Service Delay 1 0 5 2 4 - 3 0 15 1.5% 46.7%

Behaviour of another 0 0 0 0 0 - - - 0 0.0% 0.0%

Billing / Charging 3 - - - - - 19 - 22 2.2% 4.5%

Total 79 108 108 45 67 485 102 0 994

Division

Education

Adult Social Care

Children's Social Care

Public Health

2019/20

35%

Chief Executive's Dept.

OVERALL

Housing

Environment & Public Protection - - 98%

Planning & Regeneration

2020/21

37%

58%

72%

48%

48%

2021/22

30%

61%

60%

50%

92%

56%52%

-

59%

43%

63%

--

47% 59%

n/a

45%

54%

Page 135



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   7 

Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman cases 

 

From CE&CS’s records, the Council handled 104 Ombudsman cases overall during the year, 

a slight increase on last year’s 93. Those cases may have started before this business year, 

and generated 225 individual Ombudsman response deadlines - 13% fewer than last year - 

of which 93% were responded to within timescale, notably improved on last year’s 84.1%. 

The Council was the subject of 26 investigations by the Ombudsman during the year, down 

nearly a third on 2020-21. Of the 26 investigated complaints, 16 were upheld against the 

Council, whilst two further cases were classed as upheld without investigation, giving an 

overall upheld rate of 69%. 

Fewer complaints were upheld against the Council than the London average of 71%, 

therefore placing Bromley joint 13th out of the 32 London boroughs. 122 referrals equate 

to 0.38 referrals per 1,000 residents, placing Bromley 10th in London, whilst 18 Ombudsman 

complaints upheld equate to just 0.05 complaints upheld per 1000 residents, which places 

Bromley joint 3rd across London. 

 

2021-2022 Annual Review letter 

Every year the Ombudsman publishes an annual review letter for each Council, 

accompanied by the statistics they hold. The table below shows the Council maintaining 

its positive progress in its dealings with the Ombudsman. The number of referrals 

increased but the number of resulting investigations dropped by a far greater proportion, 

as did the number of investigations upheld. Similarly, the Council has maintained its 

position in the top half of London boroughs in respect of proportion upheld, its upheld rate 

being 2% better than the London average. 

For the year 2021-22 their figures disclose the following :- 

  

20

Public Health 0

10

17

12

7

19

15

Division 2021/22

18

Chief Executive's Dept. 19

0

93

Environment & Public Protection

OVERALL 104

2020/21

Adult Social Care 8

Children's Social Care 16

Housing 15

Education 8

Planning & Regeneration 13

Page 136



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   8 

 

 2019 - 20 2020 - 21 2021 – 22 
% 

change 

Referrals 149 103 122 +18% 

Resulting investigations 43 38 26 -32% 

Proportion investigated 29% 37% 21% -16% 

Number upheld 28 26 18 -31% 

Upheld rate 65% 69% 69% - 

London average 70% 73% 71% -2% 

London ranking Joint 7th  Joint 11th 13th -2 

 

 

Financial consequences of complaints 

 

 

Compensation figures include any cases where it was determined the Council should 

backdate support or allowances.  

The total of £20,831.22 is a significant 41% decrease on last year’s £35,461.57. It should 

be borne in mind that annual totals are often skewed by one or two specific cases, when 

the vast majority do not result in any significant financial outlay. 

  

Total £1,800.07 £1,797.40 £6,000.00 £104.40 £6,675.00 £0.00 £4,454.35 £20,831.22

£0.00 £3,404.35 £4,908.82

Expert fees £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

Time & 

trouble
£0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

£0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

S
ta

g
e

 1

Compensation

& Backdating
£50.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £3,725.00 £0.00 £300.00 £4,075.00

Written off £1,400.07 £0.00 £0.00 £104.40 £0.00

Education EPP CED TOTALS

O
m

b
u

d
s

m
a

n

Compensation

& Backdating
£350.00 £1,797.40 £6,000.00 £0.00 £2,950.00 £0.00 £750.00 £11,847.40

Written off £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00

Time & trouble

Adults Children's Housing P&R

Page 137



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   9 

Compliments 

  

Chief Executive's Dept. 12 14 17%

Children's Social Care 47 45 -4%

Housing 108 60 -44%

2020/21 2021/22 % change

Adult Social Care 33 27 -18%

Division

Planning & Regeneration 1 0 -100%

Total 282 233 -17%

Education 22 21 -5%

Environment & Public Protection 59 66 12%

Page 138



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   10 

04 | ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Under the Local Authority Social Services and National Health Service Complaints 

(England) Regulations 2009 the majority of Adult Social Care complaints are considered 

on a statutory basis and handled through the Council’s corporate complaints procedure. 

 

At a glance 

 

 

Complaints received  
 
The Adult Social Care division was the subject of 54 complaints during 2021-22. 28% of 

individual complaint aspects were responded to on time, contributing to an overall figure 

of 30% of complaint responses involving Adult Social Care being responded to in a timely 

way. 45% of complaints were fully or partially upheld, an 11% decrease on last year’s 56%. 

Those 54 complaints gave rise to 56 mentions and 79 individual aspects (please refer to 

the Terminology section). 

‘Contracted Services’ refers to those third-party providers of residential and domiciliary 

care whom the Council engages to provide care to its service users, for which the Council 

usually remains ultimately responsible. As noted on page 6, complaints involving third party 

providers can often take longer to resolve and as this year Contracted Services were 

involved in 18% of complaint aspects, this will have contributed to the timeliness figure. 

The table below sets out the individual complaint aspects for the different services and 

teams within Adult Social Care.  

New Ombudsman 

cases

Ombudsman cases 

upheld

Financial consequences

2019 - 2020

142

37%

37%

18%

15

3

£10,057.76

200%

-50%

2020 - 21

57

38%

28%

28%

1

6

£23,540.57

2021 - 22

54

30%

35%

10%

3

3

£1,800.07

-9%

8%

-18%

Percentage responded 

to on time 

Percentage fully upheld

Percentage partially 

upheld

28 33 27 -18%Compliments

% on prev. year

-5%Complaints

Page 139



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   11 

  

1 4 1 1 2 0 3

% 2% 5% 25% 25% 50% 0% 75%

4 6 3 1 2 0 1

% 7% 8% 50% 17% 33% 0% 17%

2 3 1 0 2 0 0

% 4% 4% 33% 0% 67% 0% 0%

2 3 0 0 3 0 1

% 4% 4% 0% 0% 100% 0% 33%

4 6 1 0 4 1 1

% 7% 8% 17% 0% 67% 17% 17%

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

2 3 2 0 1 0 0

% 4% 4% 67% 0% 33% 0% 0%

3 4 3 0 1 0 2

% 5% 5% 75% 0% 25% 0% 50%

9 11 3 2 6 0 1

% 16% 14% 27% 18% 55% 0% 9%

5 5 2 0 3 0 1

% 9% 6% 40% 0% 60% 0% 20%

1 1 0 0 1 0 1

% 2% 1% 0% 0% 100% 0% 100%

1 2 0 1 1 0 2

% 2% 3% 0% 50% 50% 0% 100%

7 12 5 1 6 0 4

% 13% 15% 42% 8% 50% 0% 33%

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

0 1 0 0 1 0 1

% 0% 1% 0% 0% 100% 0% 100%

4 4 2 0 2 0 1

% 7% 5% 50% 0% 50% 0% 25%

11 14 5 2 7 0 3

% 20% 18% 36% 14% 50% 0% 21%

56 79 28 8 42 1 22

35% 10% 53% 1% 28%

N
o

t 

u
p

h
e

ld

O
n

g
o

in
g

A
n

s
w

e
re

d

o
n

 t
im

e

Blue Badges

Penge & Beckenham

Hayes & Five Elms

Learning Disability

Service

M
e

n
ti

o
n

s 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

A
sp

e
c

ts
 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

F
u

lly
 

u
p

h
e

ld

P
a

rt
ia

lly
 

u
p

h
e

ld

Initial Response

Reablement & Rehab

Occupational Therapy

CMHT Oxleas

Bromley MDC

Orpington & The Crays

Integrated Team

Coordination & Review

Duty Team

Hospital Team

Safeguarding

Care Link

Contracted Services

OVERALL

DoLS

Brokerage

Page 140



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   12 

Nature of complaint and outcome 

The majority of complaints (42%) were in relation to the quality of service received, of which 

51% were at least partially upheld.  

 

 

  

3 0 1 2 0 1

% 4% 0% 33% 67% 0% 33%

7 1 1 5 0 4

% 9% 14% 14% 71% 0% 57%

13 5 0 8 0 2

% 16% 38% 0% 62% 0% 15%

19 9 0 9 1 5

% 24% 47% 0% 47% 5% 26%

33 12 5 16 0 9

% 42% 36% 15% 48% 0% 27%

1 0 1 0 0 1

% 1% 0% 100% 0% 0% 100%

3 1 0 2 0 0

% 4% 33% 0% 67% 0% 0%

0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

79 28 8 42 1 22

35% 10% 53% 1% 28%

N
o

t 
u

p
h

e
ld

O
n

g
o

in
g

A
n

s
w

e
re

d
 

o
n

 t
im

e

Subject

Staff conduct

Disputed decision

Information

A
s

p
e

c
ts

 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

F
u

ll
y

 u
p

h
e

ld

P
a

rt
ia

ll
y

 

u
p

h
e

ld

Billing & Charging

Behaviour of another 

service user

OVERALL

Lack of action

Quality of service

Service Delay

Page 141



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   13 

Compliments 

As much as we like to learn from complaints, we like to learn from compliments too. The 

following are examples of the compliments recorded this year :- 

I just wanted to say a big thank you for all that you have done in championing the case 

for my Care Plan, you did brilliant work. It has been a pleasure, not only to have worked with 

you but also to have known you and we both wish you well. 

I’m writing this email to the highest person in the adult social care office to thank J 

for the help and support she has given me and my mum over the last few months. 

Without J I would have gone crazy. She has kept me and my mum safe and sound 

through this rough patch we have had. I would like her to be recognised for her help 

and keeping us up to date with any news actions and all the communication that she 

has done for us. Thank you from the bottom of my heart. I don’t know where we 

would’ve been without you. 

J has dealt with us in a very professional manner and has made what could have been a 

very stressful experience run very smoothly. Options and implications were clearly 

explained, questions were either answered straight away, or taken away and she always 

came back to us on any outstanding questions or actions within a day. Her patient and 

supportive approach put my father at ease, which also meant that she was able to get all 

the information she required from him without him feeling pressured or rushed. 

We would like to thank everyone involved for doing a fantastic job… Basically we 

appreciate all of the help put in place from the Council. It has been a tough 3 months 

but with all the support it has made it easier. We have never used any Social Services 

before therefore we was new to all of this ! Please pass on all our thanks for everyone 

doing a great job. 

I just want to say a BIG thank you to D for her assistance with the issuance of my father-in-

law’s blue badge last week. She was most helpful, kind, considerate and caring. Brilliant 

qualities to have and a credit to your organisation. 

I cannot praise enough C, who I understand is assistant care manager. Her efficiency 

to get things done and recommendations to help my parents situation, along with 

empathy is second to none. This was exacerbated by having to care with my father 

with dementia, but C made what could have been a very stressful situation 

manageable. I think she is a credit to your team and I hope that her as she progresses 

in her career this is recognised. 

I just wanted to thank you for all your support of Dad and the rest of us this last year or so. 

Your kind non-judgemental approach won us all over and your skills navigating our 

differences cold be utilised by the United Nations! I genuinely feel that Dad is in a better 

and safer place now and that is thanks to you. I personally really appreciated your support 

and really wish I had called you in more. 

  

Page 142



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   14 

Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman cases 
 

The Ombudsman recorded 3 new Adult Social Care referrals during 2021-22. Of the 12 

decisions made during the year, three produced upheld complaints. 

 

 

  

N
F

A

N
o

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

P
re

m
a

tu
re

N
F

A

N
o

 

m
a

la
d

m
in

'n

N
F

A

M
a

la
d

m
in

 &
 

In
ju

s
ti

c
e

M
a

la
d

m
in

, 
n

o
 

in
ju

s
ti

c
e

A
lr

e
a

d
y

 

re
m

e
d

ie
d

T
O

T
A

L

O
n

g
o

in
g

0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2 2 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 7 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3 3 1 0 2 0 3 0 0 12 0

Initial Response

Contracted Services

OVERALL

CLOSED NOT UPHELD UPHELD

Ombudsman outcomes

Blue Badges

Penge & Beckenham

Hospital Team

Reablement & Rehab

Occupational Therapy

Learning Disability

CMHT Oxleas

DoLS

Safeguarding

Carelink

Brokerage

Orpington & The Crays

Integrated Team

Coordination & Review

Duty Team

Hayes & Five Elms

Bromley MDC

Page 143



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   15 

Financial consequences of complaints 

 2019 - 20 2020 – 21 2021 - 22 

Ombudsman cases  
 

 

Compensation / backdated payments £100.00 £250.00 £350.00 

Charges written off £7,922.83 £9,291.50 £0.00 

Time & trouble payments £250.00 £850.00 £0.00 

Stage 1 complaints    

Compensation / backdated payments £367.00 £4,000.00 £50.00 

Charges written off £1,417.93 £5,645.07 £1,400.07 

Time & trouble payments £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Expert fees £0.00 £3,504.00 £0.00 

TOTALS £10,057.76 £23,540.57 £1,800.07 

   

Page 144



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   16 

05 | CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

The Council’s experience is that only a small proportion of Children’s Social Care 

complaints it receives are actually from young people or those acting on their behalf, which 

therefore fall to be processed under the three-stage procedure set out in The Children Act 

1989 Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006. These are referred to as 

statutory complaints, the timescales for which are :- 

 Stage 1 : Initial response within 10 (up to 20) working days 

 Stage 2 : Investigation within 25 (up to 65) working days  

 Stage 3 : Review Panel within 30 working days 

All other complaints from parents, family or friends raising issues that do not directly relate 

to the quality of the care and support the child in question receives are managed through 

the corporate complaints procedure. We carefully consider each complaint on its own 

merits and determine through which procedure it should be processed. 

Children and young people making a complaint have a legal entitlement to advocacy 

services to support them in making a complaint or expressing their views. Where the child 

involved has not already been referred, CE&CS will refer complaints made by or on behalf 

of children in relation to Children Social Care to the independently commissioned Advocacy 

service.  

At a glance 

   

Statutory complaints 6 5 6 20%

2019 - 2020 2020 - 21 2021 - 22 % on prev. year

Complaints 99 74 68 -8%

Ombudsman cases 

upheld
2 5 5 0%

Financial consequences £11,171.52 £1,000.00 £1,797.40

Percentage partially 

upheld
17% 25% 18% -7%

New Ombudsman 

cases
22 10 18 80%

Percentage responded 

to on time 
45% 65% 61% -4%

Percentage fully upheld 27% 19% 16% -3%

Compliments 48 47 45 -4%

Page 145



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   17 

Complaints under the 1989 Representations Procedure 

The numbers of statutory complaints remained largely static. 

Complaints under the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure 

 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

23 28 6 6 16 0 12

% 27% 26% 21% 21% 57% 0% 43%

17 28 6 4 18 0 26

% 20% 26% 21% 14% 64% 0% 93%

14 18 3 3 12 0 13

% 16% 17% 17% 17% 67% 0% 72%

5 6 1 1 4 0 4

% 6% 6% 17% 17% 67% 0% 67%

15 5 0 1 4 0 1

% 17% 5% 0% 20% 80% 0% 20%

11 13 1 3 9 0 5

% 13% 12% 8% 23% 69% 0% 38%

6 9 0 1 8 0 5

% 7% 8% 0% 11% 89% 0% 56%

1 1 0 0 1 0 1

% 1% 1% 0% 0% 100% 0% 100%

86 108 17 19 72 0 67

16% 18% 67% 0% 62%

N
o

t 
u

p
h

e
ld

O
n

g
o

in
g

A
n

sw
e

re
d

 

o
n

 t
im

e

Early Intervention & 

Family Support

Referral & Assessment, 

incl. MASH, Atlas & ECT

SG&CP East

incl. Court Team

Service

M
e

n
ti

o
n

s 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

A
sp

e
ct

s 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

F
u

lly
 u

p
h

e
ld

P
a

rt
ia

lly
 

u
p

h
e

ld

SG&CP West

Children Looked After 

and Care Leavers

Fostering, Adoption and 

Resources

Youth Justice Service

OVERALL

Quality Assurance

Disabled Children's 

Team

 2019 - 20 2020 - 21 2021 – 22 

Stage 1 6 3 6 

Stage 2 1 2 2 

Stage 3 0 0 0 

Total 7 5 7 

Page 146



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   18 

The table above sets out the individual complaint aspects for the different services and 

teams within Children’s Social Care.  

It confirms that the Children’s Social Care division was the subject of 68 corporate 

complaints during 2021-22. 62% of individual complaint aspects were responded to on 

time, contributing to an overall figure of 61% of complaint responses involving Children’s 

Social Care being responded to in a timely way. 34% of complaints were fully or partially 

upheld, a 12% decrease on last year’s 46%. 

Those 74 complaints gave rise to 86 mentions and 108 individual aspects (please refer to 

the Terminology section). 

 

Nature of complaint and outcome 

The most prevalent complaints were in relation to staff conduct issues (26%) of which 25% 

were at least partly upheld.  

 

 

  

28 2 5 21 0 20

% 26% 7% 18% 75% 0% 71%

15 0 2 13 0 7

% 14% 0% 13% 87% 0% 47%

20 5 1 14 0 13

% 19% 25% 5% 70% 0% 65%

20 5 6 9 0 14

% 19% 25% 30% 45% 0% 70%

25 5 5 15 0 13

% 23% 20% 20% 60% 0% 52%

0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

108 17 19 72 0 67

16% 18% 67% 0% 62%

A
s

p
e

c
ts

 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

F
u

ll
y

 u
p

h
e

ld

P
a

rt
ia

ll
y

 

u
p

h
e

ld

N
o

t 
u

p
h

e
ld

O
n

g
o

in
g

A
n

s
w

e
re

d
 

o
n

 t
im

e

Subject

Lack of action

Quality of service

Service Delay

Staff conduct

Disputed decision

Information

Behaviour of another 

service user

OVERALL

Page 147



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   19 

Compliments 

As much as we like to learn from complaints we like to learn from compliments too. The 

following are examples of those received this year :-  

Thank you for all you have done for R and J since taking over the case. Thanks for being 

approachable to R and being a person that he feels he can trust …Thank you for spending 

the time and your patience in understanding J and seeing both her past and present…We 

appreciate all that you’ve done and how you have listened to us and our opinion so thank 

you so much for that. 

Throughout the case we felt that A supported our children - and us as well - 

with the goal to reunite the family and to put in place conditions that would allow a 

return to normal life in our family. She showed an ability to quickly understand the 

situation and also to make the right decisions in key moments. We feel strongly 

that  she showed care for our children and always had their best interest in her heart 

and actions. During difficult times,  A managed the situation in a way that allowed our 

children to remain together and to reduce their emotional suffering. She also 

developed a strategy to gain their trust which was essential to make them feel listened 

to and to navigate the time we were apart. A also listened to us and gave us good 

advice in important moments…Overall, we think A was amazing. Given the 

circumstances, we consider our family to have been lucky to be handled by  a 

professional like A and wish her and you all the best. 

I cannot thank N enough or your team for actually recognising that {we} need our own 

space away from each other and the fact I can now breathe and step away from the chaos, 

to actually parent in a calmer environment is not too short of amazing…I would recommend 

N to everyone that needed him if that’s how the system worked, more social workers should 

be like him…All I can say is thank you so much for creating a much better and happier living 

space for us, I’m glad and impressed to have come across N and your team! 

I just wanted to say thank you so so much for everything, you were really a fabulous 

social worker for us all to have in our lives and are an incredible woman. Having 

watched my parents foster for so long, I could really see the difference you made in 

their current experience of fostering and what an amazing support you were to them 

and how much they valued you…Thanks so much for being a huge support and great 

contact to me to throughout everything and when I looked after the kids too :) 

I am writing regarding M’s social worker C…From the first time that she met M she was 

able to connect with her in a way that not many professionals have, this is for one reason, 

because she genuinely cared about her. M was so amazed that she talked to her like an 

intelligent young person with hopes and dreams of her own. She has been incredibly 

professional with extensive knowledge of all of the support that M is entitled to access due 

to her Autism and Epilepsy. She has worked with me while at the same time being able to 

encourage M to do things independently where this is possible. This building of a 

relationship with me as M’s Mum and carer has been key to M gaining her trust and working 

with her. C was outstanding because she had extensive knowledge which she used to help 

M and endless kindness. 

  

Page 148



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   20 

Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman cases 

 

The Ombudsman recorded 11 new Children’s Social Care referrals during 2021-22. Of the 

16 decisions made during this business year, five were upheld. 

 

 

  

Financial consequences of complaints 

 

 2019 - 20 2020 - 21 2021 - 22 

Ombudsman cases    

Compensation / backdated payments £16,907.52 £800.00 £1,797.40 

Charges written off - £0.00 £0.00 

Time & trouble payments - £200.00 £0.00 

Stage 1 complaints    

Compensation / backdated payments - £0.00 £0.00 

Charges written off - £0.00 £0.00 

Time & trouble payments - £0.00 £0.00 

TOTALS 16,907.52 £1,000.00 £1,797.40 

 

  

N
F

A

N
o

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

P
re

m
a

tu
re

N
F

A

N
o

 

m
a

la
d

m
in

'n

N
F

A

M
a

la
d

m
in

 &
 

In
ju

s
ti

c
e

M
a

la
d

m
in

, 
n

o
 

in
ju

s
ti

c
e

A
lr

e
a

d
y

 

re
m

e
d

ie
d

T
O

T
A

L

O
n

g
o

in
g

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 5 1

0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0

2 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 5 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 1

4 4 1 0 2 0 4 0 1 16 3

NOT UPHELD

Early Intervention & 

Family Support

Referral & Assessment

Safeguarding & Care 

Planning East

Safeguarding & Care 

Planning West

CLOSED

Children Looked After & 

Care Leavers

Fostering Adoption & 

Resources

Quality Assurance

Disabled Children's 

Team

OVERALL

UPHELD

Ombudsman outcomes

Page 149



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   21 

06 | HOUSING 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Complaints in relation to Housing are managed through the corporate complaints 

procedure. 

 

Housing at a glance 

 

  

Ombudsman cases 

upheld
3 4 2 -50%

Financial consequences £8,000.00 £6,500.00 £6,000.00

Percentage partially 

upheld
11% 12% 8% -4%

New Ombudsman 

cases
7 6 10 67%

Percentage responded 

to on time 
65% 72% 60% -12%

Percentage fully upheld 18% 24% 29% 5%

2019 - 2020 2020 - 21 2021 - 22 % on prev. year

Complaints 90 78 94 21%

Compliments 284 108 60 -44%

Page 150



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   22 

Housing Complaints under the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure 

 
The Housing division was the subject of 94 corporate complaints during 2021-22. 60% of 

individual complaint aspects were responded to on time, contributing to an overall figure 

of 60% of complaint responses involving Housing being responded to in a timely way. 37% 

of complaints were fully or partially upheld, a 1% increase on last year’s 36%. 

Those 78 complaints gave rise to 96 mentions and 108 individual aspects (please refer to 

the Terminology section). 

The table below sets out the individual complaint aspects for the different services within 

Housing.  

 

 

 

  

47 54 14 7 33 0 30

% 49% 50% 26% 13% 61% 0% 56%

25 27 14 1 12 0 21

% 26% 25% 52% 4% 44% 0% 78%

4 5 1 0 4 0 2

% 4% 5% 20% 0% 80% 0% 40%

4 4 0 0 3 1 2

% 4% 4% 0% 0% 75% 25% 50%

11 12 1 1 10 0 7

% 11% 11% 8% 8% 83% 0% 58%

5 6 1 0 5 0 3

5% 6% 17% 0% 83% 0% 50%

96 108 31 9 67 1 65

29% 8% 62% 1% 60%

F
u

ll
y

 u
p

h
e

ld

P
a

rt
ia

ll
y

 

u
p

h
e

ld

N
o

t 
u

p
h

e
ld

Management & 

Acquisitions

Support & Resettlement

OVERALL

O
n

g
o

in
g

A
n

s
w

e
re

d
 

o
n

 t
im

e

Housing Allocations

Housing Options

Housing Register

Compliance & 

Development

Service

M
e

n
ti

o
n

s
 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

A
s

p
e

c
ts

 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

Page 151



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   23 

Nature of complaint 

 
The largest proportion of complaints (28%) were concerns about quality of service, of 

which 26% were fully or partially upheld, followed jointly by issues with temporary 

accommodation and lack of action (both 25%). 

 

 

 

  

4 1 1 2 0 4

% 4% 25% 25% 50% 0% 100%

7 0 0 7 0 5

% 6% 0% 0% 100% 0% 71%

8 6 0 2 0 6

% 7% 75% 0% 25% 0% 75%

27 12 2 13 0 16

% 25% 44% 7% 48% 0% 59%

30 4 4 21 1 18

% 28% 13% 13% 70% 3% 60%

5 3 0 2 0 4

% 5% 60% 0% 40% 0% 80%

27 5 2 20 0 12

% 25% 19% 7% 74% 0% 44%

0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

108 31 9 67 1 65

29% 8% 62% 1% 60%

P
a

rt
ia

ll
y

 

u
p

h
e

ld

N
o

t 
u

p
h

e
ld

O
n

g
o

in
g

A
n

s
w

e
re

d
 

o
n

 t
im

e

Staff conduct

Subject

A
s

p
e

c
ts

 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

F
u

ll
y

 u
p

h
e

ld

Quality of service

Service Delay

Temporary 

accommodation

Disputed decision

Information

Lack of action

Behaviour of another 

service user

OVERALL

Page 152



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   24 

Compliments 

As much as we like to learn from complaints we like to learn from compliments too. The 

following are examples of the compliments received by Housing this year :- 

Please can it be documented how well M has handled me with this case. I completely broke 

down on the phone to her earlier and was inconsolable which was understandable given 

the devastating news I received. She handled me with such empathy whilst also 

maintaining professionalism which I know can be a difficult task to do in her role. 

I must thank you once again and especially for having C visit the property on 

Saturday... It was my second time meeting him as he visited the property back in 

November of 2019 and he was just as polite as he was when we first met, lovely 

person and representative of the borough.  

Since speaking with you, you have been nothing short of amazing. You have been honest 

with me about my expectations, realistic and informative. Despite the initial wait, you have 

had this whole process wrapped up in a matter of days which I can't even describe to you 

how it has alleviated my stress and worry levels and for that, I'd like to thank you.  

I simply wanted to personally thank you, again for your referral to supported 

accommodation ... without your perceptive decision the outcome could have been 

different on many levels, and I am truly grateful. 

I would like to say a big thank you and share my gratitude for your help, my family and I will 

forever remain grateful for all your kindness and assistance. I know you will say you were 

doing your job but your attitude towards your job is exemplary! I wish you well further in 

your career.  

I find Bromley the best Local Authority to work with, I wish all others followed 

suit...The communications are on point, and the bookings are so easy, it's just 

seamless and I love working with you...we always get the best support and 

intervention... 100% excellent service all round. 

Thank you so much! You have no idea how much relief even your help is giving me. I have 

been going around in circles trying to help my mum for so long 

You have a kind, patient but passionate way and what you have done for me regarding 

my rent situation is literally life changing .  

Just to say thanks for all your help J you have done above and beyond to help me it makes 

all the difference when someone listens takes your needs into consideration and actually 

gets things done .I am very appreciate of all your help and am now settled and happy in my 

new home thanks so much for all your help and wish you all the best for your future good 

luck      

  

Page 153



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   25 

Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman cases 

The Ombudsman recorded 10 new Housing referrals during 2021-22. Of the 9 decisions 

made during the year, 2 were upheld. 

 

 

The Ombudsman also issued a public report in respect of a Housing case during this 

business year. The case concerned the Council’s handling of a homelessness approach 

and was made the subject of a report due to the issues it raised and the subject being a 

significant topical issue for the Ombudsman. 

 

Financial consequences of complaints 

 

 2019 - 20 2020 - 21 2021 - 22 

Ombudsman cases    

Compensation / backdated payments £5,850.00 £6,250.00 £6,000.00 

Charges written off - - - 

Time & trouble payments £250.00 - - 

Stage 1 complaints    

Compensation / backdated payments £1300.00 £250.00 - 

Charges written off - - - 

Time & trouble payments - - - 

TOTALS £7,400.00 £6,500.00 £6,000.00 

  

N
F

A

N
o

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

P
re

m
a

tu
re

N
F

A

N
o

 

m
a

la
d

m
in

'n

N
F

A

M
a

la
d

m
in

 &
 

In
ju

s
ti

c
e

M
a

la
d

m
in

, 
n

o
 

in
ju

s
ti

c
e

A
lr

e
a

d
y

 

re
m

e
d

ie
d

T
O

T
A

L

O
n

g
o

in
g

3 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 5 3

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0

1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5 1 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 9 4OVERALL

Housing Allocations

Housing Options

Housing Register

Housing Compliance & 

Strategy

Housing Management 

& Acquisitions

Housing Support & 

Resettlement

CLOSED NOT UPHELD UPHELD

Ombudsman outcomes

Page 154



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   26 

07 | PLANNING & REGENERATION 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Complaints in relation to Planning & Regeneration are managed through the corporate 

complaints procedure. This is the first year that the Customer Engagement & Complaints 

Service have overseen Planning and Regeneration corporate complaints so no year-on-year 

comparison data is available. 

 

Planning & Regeneration at a glance 

 

 

 

Complaints under the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure 

 
Planning & Regeneration services were the subject of 35 corporate complaints during 

2021-22. 58% of individual complaint aspects were responded to on time, contributing to 

an overall figure of 50% of complaint responses involving Planning & Regeneration being 

responded to in a timely way. 20% of complaints were fully or partially upheld. 

Those 35 complaints gave rise to 36 mentions and 45 individual aspects (please refer to 

the Terminology section). The table below sets out the individual complaint aspects for the 

different services within Planning & Regeneration.  

 

Compliments - 0 0 n/a

2019 - 2020 2020 - 21 2021 - 22 % on prev. year

Complaints - 25 35 40%

Percentage responded to 

on time 
- 55% 58% 3%

Percentage fully upheld - 15% 16% 1%

Percentage partially 

upheld
- 12% 4% -8%

New Ombudsman cases - 11 7 -36%

Ombudsman cases upheld - 1 1 0%

Financial consequences - £0.00 £0.00

Page 155



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   27 

  

22 25 4 1 19 1 13

% 61% 56% 16% 4% 76% 4% 52%

1 1 0 0 1 0 0

% 3% 2% 0% 0% 100% 0% 0%

10 13 1 0 12 0 9

% 28% 29% 8% 0% 92% 0% 69%

1 2 0 0 0 2 0

% 3% 4% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0%

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

1 3 1 1 1 0 3

% 3% 7% 33% 33% 33% 0% 100%

1 1 1 0 0 0 1

% 3% 2% 100% 0% 0% 0% 100%

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

36 45 7 2 33 3 26

16% 4% 73% 7% 58%

Town Centre Renewal

Regeneration

OVERALL

Property

Energy

Libraries

O
n

g
o

in
g

A
n

s
w

e
re

d
 

o
n

 t
im

e

Development 

Management

Planning Policy & Strategy

Building Control

Facilities & Support

Service

M
e

n
ti

o
n

s
 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

A
s

p
e

c
ts

 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

F
u

ll
y

 u
p

h
e

ld

P
a

rt
ia

ll
y

 

u
p

h
e

ld

N
o

t 
u

p
h

e
ld

Planning Development & 

Support

Page 156



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   28 

Nature of complaint 

 
The largest proportion of complaints (42%) related to disputed decisions, none of which 

were upheld. 

 

 

 

Compliments 

No compliments were recorded by CE&CS for Planning & Regeneration services this year. 

 

  

1 1 0 0 0 1

% 2% 100% 0% 0% 0% 100%

19 0 0 19 0 12

% 42% 0% 0% 100% 0% 63%

7 2 0 5 0 4

% 16% 29% 0% 71% 0% 57%

11 3 0 5 3 4

% 24% 27% 0% 45% 27% 36%

5 0 1 4 0 3

% 11% 0% 20% 80% 0% 60%

2 1 1 0 0 2

% 4% 50% 50% 0% 0% 100%

0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

45 7 2 33 3 26

16% 4% 73% 7% 58%

Behaviour of another 

service user

OVERALL

Lack of action

Quality of service

A
n

s
w

e
re

d
 

o
n

 t
im

e

Staff conduct

Disputed decision

Information

Subject

A
s

p
e

c
ts

 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

F
u

ll
y

 u
p

h
e

ld

P
a

rt
ia

ll
y

 

u
p

h
e

ld

N
o

t 
u

p
h

e
ld

O
n

g
o

in
g

Service Delay

Page 157



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   29 

Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman cases 

The Ombudsman recorded 7 new Planning & Regeneration referrals during 2021-22.  Of the 

19 decisions made during the year, one was upheld.  

 

 

Financial consequences of complaints 

 

 2019 - 20 2020 - 21 2021 - 22 

Ombudsman cases    

Compensation / backdated payments £300.00 - - 

Charges written off - - - 

Time & trouble payments £300.00 - - 

Stage 1 complaints    

Compensation / backdated payments N/K - - 

Charges written off N/K - £104.40 

Time & trouble payments N/K - - 

TOTALS 600.00 0.00 £104.40 

 

  

N
F

A

N
o

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

P
re

m
a

tu
re

N
F

A

N
o

 

m
a

la
d

m
in

'n

N
F

A

M
a

la
d

m
in

 &
 

In
ju

s
ti

c
e

M
a

la
d

m
in

, 
n

o
 

in
ju

s
ti

c
e

A
lr

e
a

d
y

 

re
m

e
d

ie
d

T
O

T
A

L

O
n

g
o

in
g

3 5 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 11 1

0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0

4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 0

7 6 1 0 4 0 0 1 0 19 1OVERALL

Building Control

Facilities & Support

Property

Energy

Libraries

Town Centre 

Renewal

Regeneration

CLOSED NOT UPHELD UPHELD

Ombudsman outcomes

Development 

Management

Planning Policy & 

Strategy

Page 158



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   30 

08 | EDUCATION 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Complaints in relation to Education services are managed through the corporate 

complaints procedure. 

 

At a glance 

 

 
  

Ombudsman cases 

upheld
4 3 3 0%

Financial consequences £10,604.60 £4,300.00 £6,675.00

Percentage partially 

upheld
35% 24% 15% -9%

New Ombudsman 

cases
8 8 5 -38%

Percentage responded 

to on time 
51% 48% 92% 44%

Percentage fully upheld 23% 15% 24% 9%

2019 - 2020 2020 - 21 2021 - 22 % on prev. year

Complaints 38 23 50 117%

Compliments 38 23 21 -9%

Page 159



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   31 

Complaints under the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure 

 
The Education division was the subject of 50 corporate complaints during 2021-22. 93% of 

individual complaint aspects were responded to on time, contributing to an overall figure 

of 92% of complaint responses involving Education being responded to in a timely way. 

39% of complaints were fully or partially upheld, level with last year. 

Those 50 complaints gave rise to 50 mentions and 67 individual aspects (please refer to 

the Terminology section). 

The table below sets out the individual complaint aspects for the different services within 

Education.  

 

 

 

  

9 12 0 0 12 0 11

% 18% 18% 0% 0% 100% 0% 92%

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

1 1 0 0 1 0 0

% 2% 1% 0% 0% 100% 0% 0%

1 1 0 0 1 0 1

% 2% 1% 0% 0% 100% 0% 100%

29 41 12 6 23 0 38

% 58% 61% 29% 15% 56% 0% 93%

10 12 4 4 4 0 12

% 20% 18% 33% 33% 33% 0% 100%

50 67 16 10 41 0 62

24% 15% 61% 0% 93%

School Standards Team

Education Welfare

O
n

g
o

in
g

A
n

s
w

e
re

d
 

o
n

 t
im

e

Admissions

SEN Transport

OVERALL

Service

M
e

n
ti

o
n

s
 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

A
s

p
e

c
ts

 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

F
u

ll
y

 u
p

h
e

ld

P
a

rt
ia

ll
y

 

u
p

h
e

ld

N
o

t 
u

p
h

e
ld

SEN

Early Years

Page 160



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   32 

Nature of complaint 

 
The most prevalent complaints (46%) were in relation to a lack of action,  of which 45% 

were either fully or partially upheld. 

 

 
 

  

3 0 0 3 0 2

% 4% 0% 0% 100% 0% 67%

8 1 0 7 0 7

% 12% 13% 0% 88% 0% 88%

3 1 1 1 0 3

% 4% 33% 33% 33% 0% 100%

31 8 6 17 0 30

% 46% 26% 19% 55% 0% 97%

18 4 2 12 0 16

% 27% 22% 11% 67% 0% 89%

4 2 1 1 0 4

% 6% 50% 25% 25% 0% 100%

0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

67 16 10 41 0 62

24% 15% 61% 0% 93%

O
n

g
o

in
g

A
n

s
w

e
re

d
 

o
n

 t
im

e

Staff conduct

Disputed decision

Subject

A
s

p
e

c
ts

 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

F
u

ll
y

 u
p

h
e

ld

P
a

rt
ia

ll
y

 

u
p

h
e

ld

N
o

t 
u

p
h

e
ld

Service Delay

Behaviour of another 

service user

OVERALL

Information

Lack of action

Quality of service

Page 161



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   33 

Compliments 

As much as we like to learn from complaints we like to learn from compliments too. The 

following are examples of the compliments received by Education this year :- 

I am ever so grateful for everything you have done with the plan and getting H into the 

school most suitable for his needs. I honestly appreciate the time and effort you have put 

in and I cannot thank you enough. You are very good at what you do and we are lucky to 

have had you involve in his assessment, thank you so much and take care. 

You have been amazing to work with on getting C's new provision in place and EHCP 

support updated, so efficient and responsive, you have really helped in getting us 

through this complex and lengthy process and to such an amazing result. I'm sure you 

know this already, but the work you and your team do really does help change 

children's lives for the better.  

Just a quick note of thanks... very rarely do partner organisations and agencies work to 

reduce unnecessary workload for schools. The automatic allocation of PP+ funding is in 

the best interests of the children, as less paperwork equates to greater capacity for direct 

work with them. Thank you very very much! 

We started our service on Friday - the people we support came in using a taxi 

company. I would just like to say that I was very impressed by the service by the 

company and the timings and organisation of the service. Thank you for all your 

efforts to make our first day smooth. 

I just wanted to write to say just how brilliant N has been in working on my son’s EHC 

plan...N was such a fantastic support throughout and diligently chased those she needed 

information from. She was reassuring and positive all the way and I was so impressed with 

the EHC process. It was very interesting experiencing the process as a parent this time and 

I felt thoroughly supported all the way by N. 

I think the whole SEN Transport Team deserves recognition for successfully 

completing the massive and very complex undertaking to provide a very important 

service to a vulnerable group, factoring in available resources, safety, quality etc. I am 

extremely grateful for everything the team has done, in this and previous years, to 

make this a really positive experience for me as the parent and for my son as a service 

user. Your team's work makes a real difference in your community - you are an 

amazing team!  

  

Page 162



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   34 

Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman cases 

The Ombudsman recorded 2 new Education referrals during 2021-22. Of the 6 decisions 

made during the business year, 3 were upheld. 

 

 

 

Financial consequences of complaints 

 

 2019 - 20 2020 - 21 2021 - 22 

Ombudsman cases    

Compensation / backdated payments £5,632.00 £1,400.00 £2,950.00 

Charges written off - - £0.00 

Time & trouble payments £300.00 £200.00 £0.00 

Stage 1 complaints    

Compensation / backdated payments - £2,700.00 £3,725.00 

Charges written off - - £0.00 

Time & trouble payments - - £0.00 

TOTALS £5,932.00 £4,300.00 £6,675.00 

  

N
F

A

N
o

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

P
re

m
a

tu
re

N
F

A

N
o

 

m
a

la
d

m
in

'n

N
F

A

M
a

la
d

m
in

 &
 

In
ju

s
ti

c
e

M
a

la
d

m
in

, 
n

o
 

in
ju

s
ti

c
e

A
lr

e
a

d
y

 

re
m

e
d

ie
d

T
O

T
A

L

O
n

g
o

in
g

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1 1 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 5 3

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

2 1 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 6 3

School Standards 

Team

UPHELD

Ombudsman outcomes

Admissions

Early Years

OVERALL

SEN

SEN Transport

Education Welfare

CLOSED NOT UPHELD

Page 163



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   35 

09 | CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DEPARTMENT  

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Complaints in relation to the Chief Executive’s Department are managed through the 

corporate complaints procedure. This division covers areas such as Finance, Legal, 

Electoral and Registrar services. 

 
 

At a glance 

 

 
 

Complaints under the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure 

The Chief Executive’s Department was the subject of 80 complaints during 2021-22. 68% 

of individual complaint aspects were responded to on time, contributing to an overall figure 

of 56% of complaint responses involving the department being responded to in a timely 

way. 48% of complaints were fully or partially upheld, a 1% decrease on last year. 

Those 80 complaints gave rise to 82 mentions and 102 individual aspects (please refer to 

the Terminology section ). 

The table below sets out the individual complaint aspects for the different services within 

the Chief Executive’s Department.  

Ombudsman cases 

upheld
3 2 2 0%

Financial consequences £1,454.39 £121.00 £0.00

Percentage partially 

upheld
17% 10% 20% 10%

New Ombudsman 

cases
20 9 16 78%

Percentage responded 

to on time 
59% 52% 68% 16%

Percentage fully upheld 25% 39% 28% -11%

2019 - 2020 2020 - 21 2021 - 22 % on prev. year

Complaints 95 75 80 7%

Compliments 0 12 14 17%

Page 164



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   36 
 

3 3 0 1 2 0 3

% 4% 3% 0% 33% 67% 0% 100%

8 8 2 2 4 0 8

% 10% 8% 25% 25% 50% 0% 100%

1 1 0 0 1 0 0

% 1% 1% 0% 0% 100% 0% 0%

5 5 2 1 2 0 3

% 6% 5% 40% 20% 40% 0% 60%

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

2 2 1 1 0 0 0

% 2% 2% 50% 50% 0% 0% 0%

2 2 1 0 0 1 0

% 2% 2% 50% 0% 0% 50% 0%

7 8 3 2 1 0 5

% 9% 8% 38% 25% 13% 0% 63%

11 14 1 5 7 1 10

% 13% 14% 7% 36% 50% 7% 71%

3 3 0 0 3 0 2

% 4% 3% 0% 0% 100% 0% 67%

18 26 7 3 15 1 14

% 22% 25% 27% 12% 58% 4% 54%

10 14 7 2 5 0 13

% 12% 14% 50% 14% 36% 0% 93%

8 10 5 1 4 0 6

% 10% 10% 50% 10% 40% 0% 60%

2 4 0 1 3 0 4

% 2% 4% 0% 25% 75% 0% 100%

2 2 0 1 1 0 1

% 2% 2% 0% 50% 50% 0% 50%

82 102 29 20 48 3 69

28% 20% 47% 3% 68%

Communications

O
ng

oi
ng

A
ns

w
er

ed
 

on
 ti

m
e

Council Tax

Direct Payments

Domiciliary Care fees

Housing Benefit

Service

M
en

tio
ns

 

th
is

 y
ea

r

A
sp

ec
ts

 

th
is

 y
ea

r

Fu
lly

 u
ph

el
d

P
ar

tia
lly

 

up
he

ld

N
ot

 u
ph

el
d

Dermocratic Services

Appointeeship

Bue Badges

Income & Recovery

Legal

OVERALL

Freedom Pass

Electoral Services

Registrar Services

Customer Services

Business Rates

Care Home Fees

Information 

Management

Page 165



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   37 

Nature of complaint 

 
The majority of complaints were in relation to quality of service issues (31%), of which 63% 
were either fully or partially upheld.  
 

 
  

11 4 2 5 0 9

% 11% 36% 18% 45% 0% 82%

10 0 2 8 0 7

% 10% 0% 20% 80% 0% 70%

11 2 2 7 0 6

% 11% 18% 18% 64% 0% 55%

16 9 0 4 2 10

% 16% 56% 0% 25% 13% 63%

32 7 13 12 0 25

% 31% 22% 41% 38% 0% 78%

3 1 0 1 1 1

% 3% 33% 0% 33% 33% 33%

19 6 1 11 0 13

% 19% 32% 5% 58% 0% 68%

102 29 20 48 3 71

28% 20% 47% 3% 70%

Disputed decision

Information

Lack of action

Billing & Charging

OVERALL
A

n
s

w
e

re
d

 

o
n

 t
im

e

Staff conduct

Subject

A
s

p
e

c
ts

 

th
is

 y
e

a
r

F
u

ll
y

 

u
p

h
e

ld

P
a

rt
ia

ll
y

 

u
p

h
e

ld

N
o

t 
u

p
h

e
ld

O
n

g
o

in
g

Quality of service

Service Delay

Page 166



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   38 

Compliments 

 

As much as we like to learn from complaints, we like to learn from compliments too. The 

following are examples of those received this year :- 

I would like to praise and compliment Bromley Council for the way they have handled the 

coronavirus situation. I cannot put in to words the way they have helped me and my 

business with the grants and the ease with which the payment and process is 

administered. It is so helpful to make one application and the way the other help is 

calculated and given automatically. For people who are not very computer efficient this is 

a great help. Thank you very much to everyone. 

Absolutely outstanding service and the speedy process of being able to get married 

to my sick husband. My whole ceremony was amazing and no improvement could 

have made it any better. 

We just wanted to thank you so much for all of your help over the past year towards our 

wedding. You have been so supportive during our number of cancellations and really 

helped us in staying positive and looking forward to our eventual wedding day. We had a 

lovely day, we're so happy that it finally happened (5th time lucky) and would like to thank 

you all for making our day special. 

Thank you very much for the email informing me that my Blue Badge renewal has 

been successful…I am amazed at the speed the matter has been dealt with. My thanks 

to all concerned. 

After what I can only describe as a distressing afternoon, I received a phone call from M in 

response to an email I sent. M resolved the issue for me and immediately put me at ease. 

He was professional and extremely helpful. It’s reassuring to know that you have someone 

like him on your team.  

Can I just say what a wonderful team you have at the registrar’s office. I cannot 

express how grateful I am to {them} for making an onerous process seamless. I 

wanted to book a date for a marriage registration for my son. I was received with 

courtesy,  patience and an abundance of enthusiasm by them both. Their knowledge 

base astounded me, and they ensured that I felt comfortable at every stage of the 

process, going that extra mile, ringing me back as and when needed; never 

experienced such customer satisfaction from a Council Borough before. 

The first time we spoke, I was about to give up my search. I had been struggling to find two 

certificates and you found one, right away, in your archives and then directed me where to 

go for the second because you recognised the description of the format. Your knowledge, 

expertise and patience made all the difference! The second time we spoke, once again, you 

provided excellent service, and reassured me, when you informed me that a further two 

certificates were in your archives. I have just received them. My gratitude for your time, 

attention to detail and kind, efficient help. 

  

Page 167



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   39 

Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman cases 

The Ombudsman recorded 16 new referrals concerning the Chief Executive’s Department 

during 2021-22. Of the 14 decisions made during the year, 2 were upheld. 

 

 

 

  

N
F

A

N
o

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

P
re

m
a

tu
re

N
F

A

N
o

 

m
a

la
d

m
in

'n

N
F

A

M
a

la
d

m
in

 &
 

In
ju

s
ti

c
e

M
a

la
d

m
in

, 

n
o

 i
n

ju
s

ti
c

e

A
lr

e
a

d
y

 

re
m

e
d

ie
d

T
O

T
A

L

O
n

g
o

in
g

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0

0 1 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 5 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5 2 3 1 1 0 2 0 0 14 0

Communications

Democratic Services

Appointeeship

Appointeeship

CLOSED NOT UPHELD

Ombudsman outcomes

Business Rates

Care Home Fees

Council Tax

Direct Payments

Registrar Services

Customer Services

Housing Benefit

OVERALL

Domiciliary Care fees

Electoral Services

Information 

Management

UPHELD

Freedom Pass

Legal

Page 168



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   40 

Financial consequences of complaints 

 

 2019 - 20 2020 - 21 2021 - 22 

Ombudsman cases    

Compensation / backdated payments £600.00 - £750.00 

Charges written off £281.39 - £0.00 

Time & trouble payments £250.00 - £0.00 

Stage 1 complaints    

Compensation / backdated payments £100.00 £121.00 £300.00 

Charges written off £223.00 - £3,404.35 

Time & trouble payments - - £0.00 

TOTALS £1,454.39 £121.00 £4,454.35 

  

Page 169



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   41 

10 | ENVIRONMENT & PUBLIC PROTECTION 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Complaints under the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure 

Environment & Public Protection maintain their own complaints statistics and supply them 

to CE&CS for the purposes of this report. They recorded 485 cases as having been handled 

as corporate complaints during 2021-22, a significant increase on the previous year. This 

is understood to be as a result of a policy adopted following an internal restructure, 

meaning that all Neighbourhood Management approaches received through the Council 

website are recorded as formal complaints. 

Service 2019 - 20 2020 – 21 2021 – 22 %age 

Highways & 
Transport 

22 19 16 -16% 

Neighbourhood 
Management 

134 158 444 181% 

Public Protection 21 10 9 -10% 

Traffic, Road Safety 
& Parking 

34 26 16 -38% 

OVERALL 211 207 485 134% 

 
 
Nature of complaint 

Environment & Public Protection currently allocate their complaints to one of four 
categories. 
 

Service 
On 

time 
Information 

Lack of 
action 

Operational 
Staff 

conduct 
Policy TOTAL 2020-21 

Highways & 
Transport 

100% 0 5 6 0 5 16 19 

Neighbourhood 
Management 

100% 8 73 276 64 23 444 152 

Public 
Protection 

100% 0 5 2 0 2 9 10 

Traffic, Road 
Safety & 
Parking 

93% 2 7 6 0 1 16 26 

OVERALL 98% 10 90 290 64 31 485 207 

  Page 170



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   42 

Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman cases 

 

The Ombudsman recorded 9 referrals during 2021-22. Of the 13 decisions made during the 

year, none was upheld. 

 

 

 

 

Financial consequences of complaints 

 

 2019 - 20 2020 - 21 2021 - 22 

Ombudsman cases    

Compensation / backdated payments £300.00 - - 

Charges written off - - - 

Time & trouble payments £180.00 - - 

Stage 1 complaints    

Compensation / backdated payments N/K - - 

Charges written off N/K - - 

Time & trouble payments N/K - - 

TOTALS £480.00 0.00 0.00 

 

  

N
F

A

N
o

ju
ri

s
d

ic
ti

o
n

P
re

m
a

tu
re

N
F

A

N
o

 

m
a

la
d

m
in

'n

N
F

A

M
a

la
d

m
in

 &
 

In
ju

s
ti

c
e

M
a

la
d

m
in

, 
n

o
 

in
ju

s
ti

c
e

A
lr

e
a

d
y

 

re
m

e
d

ie
d

T
O

T
A

L

O
n

g
o

in
g

2 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0

6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 1

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2

2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1

11 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 4

CLOSED NOT UPHELD UPHELD

Ombudsman outcomes

Highways

Traffic & Parking

Environment

Public Protection

OVERALL

Page 171



 

London Borough of Bromley, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, Kent BR1 3UH  |  (020) 8464 3333  |  www.bromley.gov.uk   43 

11 | PUBLIC HEALTH 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

The Council received no complaints relating to its Public Health responsibilities this year.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 172



 

 

 

Page 173



This page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
CEF22053 A 
 

 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: CHILDREN, EDUCATION AND FAMILIES POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT AND SCUTINY COMMITTEE 

Date:  
17th November 2022 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent Non-Executive  Non-Key  

Title: CONTRACT REGISTER PART 1 (PUBLIC) 
 

Contact Officer: Colin Lusted, Head of Complex & Long-Term Commissioning – Education, 

Care and Health Services. Email: Colin.Lusted@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Richard Baldwin, Director of Children’s Services 

Ward: All Wards 

 

1. Reason for report 

1.1 This report presents an extract from September 2022’s Contracts Register of contracts with a 
whole life value of £50k or higher, for detailed scrutiny by PDS Committee – all PDS committees 
will receive a similar report each contract reporting cycle, based on data as at 31 August 2022 

and presented to ER&C PDS on 14 September 2022.  
 

1.2 The Contracts Register contained in ‘Part 2’ of this agenda includes a commentary on each 
contract to inform Members of any issues or developments. A covering report will also be 
included where additional commentary is required. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Children, Education and Families PDS Committee: 

2.1 Reviews and comments on the Contracts Register as at 31st August 2022. 

2.2 Note that in Part 2 of this agenda the Contracts Register contains additional, potentially 

commercially sensitive, information in its commentary. 

Page 175

Information Item 4

mailto:Colin.Lusted@bromley.gov.uk


  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

1. Summary of Impact: The appended Contracts Register covers services which may be universal 
or targeted. Addressing the impact of service provision on vulnerable adults and children is a 
matter for the relevant procurement strategies, contracts award and monitoring reports, and 

service delivery rather than this report. 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:   
 

2. MBEB Priority: Excellent Council:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: - N/A 
 

2. Ongoing costs: - N/A 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Children, Education and Families Portfolio 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: - £49,077,000 
 

5. Source of funding: - Existing Relevant Budget 2022/23 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):   -  N/A 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:   -  N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement:  
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable:  No Executive decision. 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: Improves the Council’s approach to contract 
management 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments?  N/A  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 
 

Page 176



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

Contracts Register Background 

3.1 The Contracts Database is fully utilised by all Contract Managers across the Council as part of 
their Contract Management responsibilities, which includes updating the information recorded 
on the database. The Register is generated from the Contracts Database which is administered 

by Corporate Procurement and populated by the relevant service managers (Contract Owners) 
and approved by their managers (Contract Approvers). 

3.2 As a Commissioning Council, this information is vital to facilitate a full understanding of the 
Council’s procurement activity and the Contracts Register is a key tool used by Contract 
Managers as part of their daily contract responsibilities. The Contract Registers are reviewed by 

the Procurement Board, Chief Officers and the Corporate Leadership Team. 

3.3 The Contracts Register is produced four times a year for members– though the CDB itself is 

always ‘live’.  

3.4 The reports have been updated, upon request from Members, to show additional commentary in 
the Part 2 report to indicate the inflation mechanism for each contract.  This has been 

completed as far as possible; any gaps are expected to be completed in subsequent reports.  
Any gaps are either because the inflation mechanism is not relevant (the contract is expected to 

end or be retendered) or because further information needs to be obtained from the Contract 
Owner. 

3.5 Similary, a column has been added so that the information in both Part 1 and Part 2 Registers 

shows not only the original Annual Value of each contract but also the current estimated Annual 
Value for the current contract year (this may differ from the usual financial year).  Collection of 
this information is reliant upon Contract Owner input and there are gaps in this first round of 

reporting.  These will reduce in future reports. 

3.6 Each PDS committee is expected to undertake detailed scrutiny of its contracts – including 

scrutinising suppliers – and hold the Portfolio Holder to account on service quality and 
procurement arrangements. 

Contract Register Summary 

3.7 The Council has 236 active contracts across all Portfolios as of 31 August 2022 for the 
September 2022 reporting cycle as set out in Appendix 1. 

3.8  The summary for the Children, Education and Families Portfolio is as follows: 

Item Category 
February 

2022 
May 2022 

September 

2022 
Total Contracts £50k+ 37 34 41 

Concern Flag Concern Flag 2 1 0 

  

Risk Index 
Higher Risk 8 5 7 

Lower Risk 29 29 34 

  

 Procurement Status for 
Contracts approaching 

end date 

Red 2 1 0 

Amber 7 3 3 

Green 8 9 12 

Neutra l  20 21 26 

 

Page 177



  

4 

 
4. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS & CHILDREN 

4.1 The Corporate Contracts Register covers all Council services: both those used universally by 
residents and those specifically directed towards vulnerable adults and children. Addressing the 
impact of service provision on the vulnerable is a matter for the relevant procurement strategies, 

contracts, and delivery of specific services rather than this summary register. 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Council’s renewed ambition is set out in Making Bromley Even Better 2021 - 2031 and the 
Contracts Database (and Contract Registers) help in delivering the aims (especially in delivering 
Ambition Five – Resources & Efficiencies). For Ambition Five, this activity specifically helps by 

supporting ‘robust and active contract management’. 

6. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 Most of the Council’s (£50k plus) procurement spend is now captured by the Contracts 
Database. The database will help in ensuring that procurement activity is undertaken in a timely 
manner, that Contract Procedure Rules are followed and that Members are able to scrutinise 

procurement activity in a regular and systematic manner. 

7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 The Contracts Database and Contract Registers are not primarily financial tools – the Council 
has other systems and reports for this purpose such as the Budget Monitoring reports. 
However, the CDB and Registers do contain financial information both in terms of contract 

dates and values and also budgets and spend for the current year. 

8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 There are no direct personnel implications but the Contracts Database is useful in identifying 

those officers directly involved in manging the Council’s contracts. 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 There are no direct legal implications but the Contracts Database does identify those contracts 
which have a statutory basis and also those laws which should be complied with in delivering 
the contracted services. 

9.2 A list of the Council’s active contracts may be found on Bromley.gov.uk to aid transparency (this 
data is updated after each ER&C PDS meeting). 

Non-Applicable 

Sections: 
None 

Background 
Documents: 

(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

 Appendix 1 – Key Data (All Portfolios) 

 Appendix 2 - Contracts Database Background 

information 

 Appendix 3 – Contracts Database Extract PART 1  

Page 178

http://cdslbb/documents/s50092313/Exec%20220921%20MBEB%20Document.pdf
http://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/200110/council_budgets_and_spending/311/payments_to_suppliers/3


  

5 

Appendix 1 Key Data (All Portfolios) 
 

Item Category 
February 

2022 
May 2022 

September 
2022 

Contracts (>£50k TCV) All Portfolios 206 214 236 

Flagged as a concern All Portfolios 8 1 0 

  

Portfolio 

Executive, Resources and 

Contracts  

60 63 79 

Adult Care and Health 50 49 49 

Environment and 
Community Services 

17 17 20 

Chi ldren, Education and 

Families   

37 34 41 

Renewal and Recreation 

and Housing 

37 44 41 

Publ ic Protection and 
Enforcement 

5 7 6 

  

Risk Index 
Higher Risk 69 71 73 

Lower Risk 137 143 163 

  

 Procurement Status for 
Contracts approaching 

end date 

Red 8 1 0 

Amber 16 18 23 

Green 65 60 72 

Neutra l  117 135 141 

 

Page 179



  

6 

Appendix 2 - Contracts Register Key and Background Information 

 
Contract Register Key 

1.1    A key to understanding the Corporate Contracts Register is set out in the table below. 

Register 
Category 

Explanation 

Risk Index Colour-Ranking system reflecting eight automatically scored and weighted criteria 
providing a score (out of 100) reflecting the contract’s intrinsic risk – reported as 
either Higher Risk or Lower Risk 

Contract ID Unique reference used in contract authorisations  
Owner Manager/commissioner with day-to-day budgetary / service provision responsibility   
Approver Contract Owner’s manager, responsible for approving data quality 
Contract Title Commonly used or formal title of service / contract 
Supplier Main contractor or supplier responsible for service provision  
Portfolio Relevant Portfolio for receiving procurement strategy, contract award, contract 

monitoring and budget monitoring reports   
Total Contract 
Value 

The contract’s value from commencement to expiry of formally approved period 
(excludes any extensions yet to be formally approved) 

Original Annual 
Value 

Value of the contract its first year (which may be difference from the annual value 
in subsequent years, due to start-up costs etc.) 

Procurement 
Status 

For all contracts automatically ranked by the Database as approaching their end 
date, a manual RAG rating is assigned by the Assistant Director Governance & 
Contracts to reflect the status  of the contract.  The RAG ratings are as follows: 
 
Red – there are potential issues with the contract or the timescales are tight and it 
requires close monitoring. 
 
Amber – appropriate procurement action is either in progress or should be 

commencing shortly. 
 
Green – appropriate procurement action has been successfully taken or there is 

still sufficient time to commence and complete a procurement action. 
 

Start & End 
Dates 

Approved contract start date and end date (excluding any extension which has yet 
to be authorised) 

Months duration Contract term in months 
Attention   Red flag or Red RAG indicates that there are potential issues, or that the 

timescales are tight and it requires close monitoring. Further commentary may be 

provided in th Part 2 report.   
Commentary Contract Owners provide a comment –where contracts approach their end date.  

Corporate Procurement may add an additional comment for Members’ 
consideration 
The Commentary only appears in the ‘Part 2’ Contracts Register 

Capital Most of the Council’s contracts are revenue-funded. Capital-funded contracts are 
separately identified (and listed at the foot of the Contracts Register) because 
different reporting / accounting rules apply 

 

  Contract Register Order 

1.2 The Contracts Register is ordered by Procurement Status, Portfolio, and finally Contract Value. 
Capital contracts appear at the foot of the Register and ‘contracts of concern’ (to Corporate 

Procurement) are flagged at the top. 

 

Page 180



  

7 

Risk Index 

1.3 The Risk Index is designed to focus attention on contracts presenting the most significant risks 

to the Council. Risk needs to be controlled to an acceptable level (our risk appetite) rather than 
entirely eliminated and so the issue is how best to assess and mitigate contract risk. Contract 
risk is assessed (in the CDB) according to eight separate factors and scored and weighted to 

produce a Risk Index figure (out of 100).  The Risk Index is reported as either ‘Higher Risk’ or 
‘Lower Risk’. 

 
 

Procurement Status 

1.4 The Database will highlight contracts approaching their end date through a combination of the 
Total Contract Value and number of months to expiry .  For all contracts highlighted by the 

Database as potentially requiring action soon, a commentary is provided on the status of the 
contract and a manual RAG rating is assigned. 

 

Page 181



This page is left intentionally blank



Risk 

Index
Contract ID Owner Approver Contract Title Supplier Name Portfolio Total Value

Original Annual 

Value

Current Annual 

Value 

(Estimated)

Proc 

Status
Start Date End Date

Months 

Duration
Attention Capital

Lower 

Risk
6253 Debi Christie Jared Nehra

Education, Care and Health Plan Electronic Statutory Case 

Recording System
Idox UK

Children, Education and 

Families  
205,000 115,000 g 01/08/2018 20/10/2022 50

Lower 

Risk
6273 Wenifred Marshall Vicky West Cornerstone Virtual Reality Cornerstone Virtual Reality

Children, Education and 

Families  
100,000 25,000 g 28/02/2019 31/03/2023 49

Lower 

Risk
4943 David Dare Richard Baldwin Dynamic Purchasing System for Education and Children

Adam HTT Ltd (formerly Matrix 

SCM Ltd)

Children, Education and 

Families  
60,000 20,000 g 03/03/2020 02/03/2023 36

Lower 

Risk
3701 Karen Fitzgibbon Vicky West

The Provision of Holiday and Saturday Group Based Short 

Break Service For Disabled Children and Young People
Riverside School

Children, Education and 

Families  
968,753 192,213 211,930 g 01/04/2018 31/03/2023 60

Higher 

Risk 
4947 Joanne Cozens Rachel Dunley

Domestic Violence Against Women and Girls Service - 

VAWG
Bromley & Croydon Women’s Aid

Children, Education and 

Families  
599,058 179,000 220,879 g 01/04/2020 31/03/2023 36

Higher 

Risk 
4888 Shakeela Shourie Charles Obazuaye Step Up To Social Work Cohort 7

Royal Holloway, University of 

London

Children, Education and 

Families  
593,124 78,000 g 10/06/2019 27/04/2023 46

Lower 

Risk
4854 Aneesa Kaprie David Dare Family Group Conferencing Service

Daybreak Family Group 

Conferences

Children, Education and 

Families  
554,000 90,000 95,000 g 01/04/2019 31/03/2024 60

Higher 

Risk 
6259 Debi Christie Jared Nehra ** Now Live **    Educational Psychology Advice Services Sanctuary Personnel Limited

Children, Education and 

Families  
332,790 332,790 g 01/07/2022 31/12/2022 6

Lower 

Risk
3712 Linda King Betty McDonald Post 16 Learner Tracker

Royal Borough of Kingston upon 

Thames

Children, Education and 

Families  
210,000 42,000 g 01/04/2018 31/03/2023 60

Lower 

Risk
6274 Wenifred Marshall Vicky West Kinship Care Kinship 

Children, Education and 

Families  
180,000 45,000 g 28/02/2019 31/03/2023 49

Lower 

Risk
1433 Rachel Dunley Vicky West Children's - Mosaic Customer Segmentation Tool Experian

Children, Education and 

Families  
88,242 25,414 g 01/10/2016 30/09/2022 72

Lower 

Risk
5071 Eric Ayoola Naheed Chaudhry

Business Objects Licences, Support and Maintenance 

Contract Children's, Adults & Finance LL Case Management 

System 

D S Callards Limited
Children, Education and 

Families  
84,458 13,680 8,849 g 30/03/2021 31/12/2025 57

Lower 

Risk
3793 Sally Jolliffe Jared Nehra

Habilitation Services For Children and Young People With 

Vision Impairment

Guide Dogs For the Blind 

Association

Children, Education and 

Families  
77,220 15,444 14,256 g 01/05/2018 30/04/2023 60

Higher 

Risk 
5018

Simon Harrington-

Whitnall
Jared Nehra Passenger Transport Services Framework Contracts  Multiple Suppliers

Children, Education and 

Families  
49,000,000 7,000,000 19/09/2020 31/08/2025 59

Higher 

Risk 
5035 Kelly Sylvester Richard Baldwin

Bromley Children and Young People’s Mental Health and 

Emotional Wellbeing Service. 
Bromley Y

Children, Education and 

Families  
4,520,000 904,000 904,000 01/04/2021 31/03/2026 60

Higher 

Risk 
4945 Vicky West Richard Baldwin Provision of Adoption Services CORAM VOICE

Children, Education and 

Families  
2,316,000 386,000 01/06/2019 30/05/2025 72

Lower 

Risk
4946 Philip White David Dare

Participation in West London Alliance for Children’s Care and 

Support Services
West London Alliance

Children, Education and 

Families  
484,500 117,000 99,750 01/11/2019 30/04/2024 54

Lower 

Risk
4957 Scott Bagshaw Jared Nehra

ICT - Capita ONE Integrated Management Information 

System
Capita Business Services Ltd

Children, Education and 

Families  
450,000 90,000 117,500 01/04/2020 31/03/2025 60

Lower 

Risk
4905 Rachel Dunley Vicky West

Cleaning Services to Children and Family Centres and 

Nurseries
 Chequers 

Children, Education and 

Families  
447,865 83,394 89,789 01/08/2019 30/09/2024 62

Lower 

Risk
5171 Carol Whiting Richard Baldwin Family Drug and Alcohol Court (FDAC) Service 

The Tavistock and Portman NHS 

Foundation Trust 

Children, Education and 

Families  
330,000 165,000 165,000 01/01/2022 31/12/2024 36

Lower 

Risk
179

Simon Harrington-

Whitnall
Jared Nehra

Education - Co-ordination of admissions between 32 London 

boroughs
London Grid For Learning Trust

Children, Education and 

Families  
268,863 14,000 20,473 01/04/2004 03/06/2026 266

Lower 

Risk
5135 Karen Fitzgibbon Wenifred Marshall Individual Short Breaks Service Bromley Mencap

Children, Education and 

Families  
224,998 75,000 01/10/2021 30/09/2024 36

Lower 

Risk
6241 Betty McDonald Richard Baldwin Appropriate Adult Service Appropriate Adults UK Limited 

Children, Education and 

Families  
175,500 58,500 01/04/2022 31/03/2025 36

Lower 

Risk
4911 Carol Arnfield Carol Arnfield Digital Solution for the Early Years Funding Process Sentinel Partners Limited

Children, Education and 

Families  
144,980 30,860 34,700 31/07/2019 30/07/2024 60

Lower 

Risk
5047 Cathy Lloyd williams David Dare Independent Visitors CORAM VOICE

Children, Education and 

Families  
129,000 43,000 01/03/2021 29/02/2024 36

Lower 

Risk
5091 Debi Christie Debi Christie

Family Support Services for CYP with Social and 

Communication Needs
Bromley Mencap

Children, Education and 

Families  
115,500 38,500 01/10/2021 30/09/2024 36

Lower 

Risk
4912 Rachel Dunley Vicky West

ICT - Management Information system for Children and 

Family Centres
Servelec Group plc

Children, Education and 

Families  
101,358 12,798 01/04/2020 31/03/2027 84

Lower 

Risk
3786 Elena Diaconescu Carol Arnfield Adult Education MIS West March Systems Ltd 

Children, Education and 

Families  
95,050 21,490 18,390 05/11/2018 04/11/2023 60

Lower 

Risk
5037 Debi Christie Debi Christie Mediation and Dispute Resolution Services Global Mediation Ltd

Children, Education and 

Families  
84,000 28,000 01/01/2021 31/12/2023 36

Lower 

Risk
4987 Betty McDonald Vicky West Youth Offending Service Management information system CACI Ltd

Children, Education and 

Families  
80,000 16,000 5,000 01/04/2020 31/03/2025 60

Lower 

Risk
4993 Debi Christie Jared Nehra SEND Parent Participation

Your Voice in Health and Social 

Care

Children, Education and 

Families  
80,000 20,000 01/06/2020 31/05/2024 48

Lower 

Risk
3823 Mary King Antoinette Thorne Hiring of external facilitIes for various venues Various Suppliers

Children, Education and 

Families  
80,000 36,000 01/04/2018 31/03/2024 72

Lower 

Risk
6275 Sally Kelly David Dare

** Now Live **    Bromley Children Looked After (CLA) School 

Attendance and Attainment Data Collection 
Welfare Call (LAC) Ltd

Children, Education and 

Families  
77,712 23,904 01/09/2022 31/08/2025 36

Lower 

Risk
5190 Stephanie Withers Debi Christie Phoenix Centre IT Support Service 

Structured Network Solutions UK 

Ltd

Children, Education and 

Families  
65,650 13,130 13,130 01/02/2022 31/01/2027 60

Lower 

Risk
5026 Robert Bollen Jared Nehra Contract for SEN modelling services Mastodon C Limited

Children, Education and 

Families  
65,400 24,800 25/06/2020 31/05/2023 35

Contract Terms

Contract Register Report  -  £50k Portfolio Filtered - Children, Education and Families  
September 2022

Main Contract Data Finance Data

P
age 183

http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=6253&name=Education,%20Care%20and%20Health%20Plan%20Electronic%20Statutory%20Case%20Recording%20System
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=6253&name=Education,%20Care%20and%20Health%20Plan%20Electronic%20Statutory%20Case%20Recording%20System
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=6273&name=Cornerstone%20Virtual%20Reality
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4943&name=Dynamic%20Purchasing%20System%20for%20Education%20and%20Children
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=3701&name=The%20Provision%20of%20Holiday%20and%20Saturday%20Group%20Based%20Short%20Break%20Service%20For%20Disabled%20Children%20and%20Young%20People
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=3701&name=The%20Provision%20of%20Holiday%20and%20Saturday%20Group%20Based%20Short%20Break%20Service%20For%20Disabled%20Children%20and%20Young%20People
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4947&name=Domestic%20Violence%20Against%20Women%20and%20Girls%20Service%20-%20VAWG
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4947&name=Domestic%20Violence%20Against%20Women%20and%20Girls%20Service%20-%20VAWG
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4888&name=Step%20Up%20To%20Social%20Work%20Cohort%207
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4854&name=Family%20Group%20Conferencing%20Service
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=6259&name=Educational%20Psychology%20Advice%20Services
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=3712&name=Post%2016%20Learner%20Tracker
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=6274&name=Kinship%20Care
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=1433&name=Children's%20-%20Mosaic%20Customer%20Segmentation%20Tool
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5071&name=Business%20Objects%20Licences,%20Support%20and%20Maintenance%20Contract%20Children's,%20Adults%20&%20Finance%20LL%20Case%20Management%20System
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5071&name=Business%20Objects%20Licences,%20Support%20and%20Maintenance%20Contract%20Children's,%20Adults%20&%20Finance%20LL%20Case%20Management%20System
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5071&name=Business%20Objects%20Licences,%20Support%20and%20Maintenance%20Contract%20Children's,%20Adults%20&%20Finance%20LL%20Case%20Management%20System
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=3793&name=Habilitation%20Services%20For%20Children%20and%20Young%20People%20With%20Vision%20Impairment
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=3793&name=Habilitation%20Services%20For%20Children%20and%20Young%20People%20With%20Vision%20Impairment
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5018&name=Passenger%20Transport%20Services%20Framework%20Contracts
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5035&name=Bromley%20Children%20and%20Young%20People%E2%80%99s%20Mental%20Health%20and%20Emotional%20Wellbeing%20Service.
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5035&name=Bromley%20Children%20and%20Young%20People%E2%80%99s%20Mental%20Health%20and%20Emotional%20Wellbeing%20Service.
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4945&name=Provision%20of%20Adoption%20Services
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4946&name=Participation%20in%20West%20London%20Alliance%20for%20Children%E2%80%99s%20Care%20and%20Support%20Services
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4946&name=Participation%20in%20West%20London%20Alliance%20for%20Children%E2%80%99s%20Care%20and%20Support%20Services
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4957&name=ICT%20-%20Capita%20ONE%20Integrated%20Management%20Information%20System
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4957&name=ICT%20-%20Capita%20ONE%20Integrated%20Management%20Information%20System
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4905&name=Cleaning%20Services%20to%20Children%20and%20Family%20Centres%20and%20Nurseries
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4905&name=Cleaning%20Services%20to%20Children%20and%20Family%20Centres%20and%20Nurseries
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5171&name=Family%20Drug%20and%20Alcohol%20Court%20(FDAC)%20Service
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=179&name=Education%20-%20Co-ordination%20of%20admissions%20between%2032%20London%20boroughs
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=179&name=Education%20-%20Co-ordination%20of%20admissions%20between%2032%20London%20boroughs
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5135&name=Individual%20Short%20Breaks%20Service
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=6241&name=Appropriate%20Adult%20Service
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4911&name=Digital%20Solution%20for%20the%20Early%20Years%20Funding%20Process
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5047&name=Independent%20Visitors
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5091&name=Family%20Support%20Services%20for%20CYP%20with%20Social%20and%20Communication%20Needs
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5091&name=Family%20Support%20Services%20for%20CYP%20with%20Social%20and%20Communication%20Needs
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4912&name=ICT%20-%20Management%20Information%20system%20for%20Children%20and%20Family%20Centres
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4912&name=ICT%20-%20Management%20Information%20system%20for%20Children%20and%20Family%20Centres
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=3786&name=Adult%20Education%20MIS
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5037&name=Mediation%20and%20Dispute%20Resolution%20Services
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4987&name=Youth%20Offending%20Service%20Management%20information%20system
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=4993&name=SEND%20Parent%20Participation
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=3823&name=Hiring%20of%20external%20facilitIes%20for%20various%20venues
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=6275&name=Bromley%20Children%20Looked%20After%20(CLA)%20School%20Attendance%20and%20Attainment%20Data%20Collection
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=6275&name=Bromley%20Children%20Looked%20After%20(CLA)%20School%20Attendance%20and%20Attainment%20Data%20Collection
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5190&name=Phoenix%20Centre%20IT%20Support%20Service
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5026&name=Contract%20for%20SEN%20modelling%20services


Lower 

Risk
1509 Linda King Betty McDonald ICT - Software Licence - Line of business EduFocus Ltd

Children, Education and 

Families  
60,987 4,999 4,999 01/04/2012 31/03/2024 144

Lower 

Risk
1535 Sally Jolliffe Jared Nehra

Education - Caretaking - Griffins Offices, Lovibonds Avenue, 

Orpington
Lodestar Cleaning Contracts Ltd

Children, Education and 

Families  
54,249 6,943 7,868 01/02/2017 30/09/2024 92

Lower 

Risk
6233 Robert Bollen Jared Nehra

** Now Live **    Chislehurst School for Girls - Permanent 

Hygiene Suite and Ramp 
Woodside Contract Services 

Children, Education and 

Families  
118,541 118,541 13/06/2022 22/08/2023 14 Capital

Lower 

Risk
5209 Robert Bollen Jared Nehra

Replacement of Heating System at Southborough Primary 

School
Pinnacle ESP Holdings Ltd

Children, Education and 

Families  
69,750 23,250 01/03/2022 31/03/2025 37 Capital

Higher 

Risk 
6255 Rachel Dunley Richard Baldwin

** Now Live **    Adaptation and Refurbishment Works to two 

Children & Family Centres (CFC's) at Cotmandene CFC and 

Blenheim CF

Diamond Build PLC
Children, Education and 

Families  
979,690 979,690 g 23/05/2022 31/07/2023 14 Capital

Lower 

Risk
5029 Rachel Dunley Richard Baldwin Capital Bids for Childrens and Family Centres Bailey Partnership

Children, Education and 

Families  
97,576 97,576 g 01/11/2020 30/11/2022 24 Capital

P
age 184

http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=1509&name=ICT%20-%20Software%20Licence%20-%20Line%20of%20business
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=1535&name=Education%20-%20Caretaking%20-%20Griffins%20Offices,%20Lovibonds%20Avenue,%20Orpington
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=1535&name=Education%20-%20Caretaking%20-%20Griffins%20Offices,%20Lovibonds%20Avenue,%20Orpington
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=6233&name=Chislehurst%20School%20for%20Girls%20-%20Permanent%20Hygiene%20Suite%20and%20Ramp
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=6233&name=Chislehurst%20School%20for%20Girls%20-%20Permanent%20Hygiene%20Suite%20and%20Ramp
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5209&name=Replacement%20of%20Heating%20System%20at%20Southborough%20Primary%20School
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5209&name=Replacement%20of%20Heating%20System%20at%20Southborough%20Primary%20School
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=6255&name=Adaptation%20and%20Refurbishment%20Works%20to%20two%20Children%20&%20Family%20Centres%20(CFC's)%20at%20Cotmandene%20CFC%20and%20Blenheim%20CF
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=6255&name=Adaptation%20and%20Refurbishment%20Works%20to%20two%20Children%20&%20Family%20Centres%20(CFC's)%20at%20Cotmandene%20CFC%20and%20Blenheim%20CF
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=6255&name=Adaptation%20and%20Refurbishment%20Works%20to%20two%20Children%20&%20Family%20Centres%20(CFC's)%20at%20Cotmandene%20CFC%20and%20Blenheim%20CF
http://lbb2k12s049:7002/Home/editContractDetails?cid=5029&name=Capital%20Bids%20for%20Childrens%20and%20Family%20Centres

	Agenda
	1 Children's Looked After Placement Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2022-24
	App. - Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy 2022-24
	Executive Summary
	During 2021-22

	Vision and approach
	Looked After Placement Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy Vision
	Demand Management Analysis – Children Looked After and Placement forecasts
	Indigenous children long-term forecasting

	Achieving placement sufficiency
	Use of placement types and duration, by age 2021-22
	During 2021-22
	Placement Types by Age
	Total numbers of Placement during by Type by Age (2021-22)
	Total weeks of Placement procured Types, by Age (2021-22)
	Fostering
	In-House Foster Carers ‘network’
	Independent Fostering Agencies
	Pan London Commissioning Arrangement
	Spot Purchasing
	External Residential Children’s Homes
	Semi Independent

	Specialist placements
	Mother and Baby Foster Placements
	Residential Parenting Assessment Centres
	Secure Placements

	Care Leavers

	Actions


	2 Early Help Strategy for Children (aged from birth to 18) and their families.  Our vision for 2030
	App. 1 - Early Help Strategy

	3 Annual Complaints Report and Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Letter 2021/22
	App. - Complaints & Compliments Annual Report 2021-22

	4 Contracts Register Part 1 (Public) Report
	App. - Contract Register Part 1 (Public)




